Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: December 21, 2022 REVISED: February 13, 2023 ACCEPTED: May 10, 2023 PUBLISHED: June 5, 2023

The Analytic Wavefunction

Santiago Agüí Salcedo, Mang Hei Gordon Lee, Scott Melville and Enrico Pajer

Department of Applied Mathematics and Theoretical Physics, University of Cambridge, Wilberforce Road, Cambridge, CB3 0WA, U.K. E-mail: santiago.agui@protonmail.com, mhgl2@cam.ac.uk, scott.melville@damtp.cam.ac.uk, enrico.pajer@gmail.com

ABSTRACT: The wavefunction in quantum field theory is an invaluable tool for tackling a variety of problems, including probing the interior of Minkowski spacetime and modelling boundary observables in de Sitter spacetime. Here we study the analytic structure of wavefunction coefficients in Minkowski as a function of their kinematics. We introduce an off-shell wavefunction in terms of amputated time-ordered correlation functions and show that it is analytic in the complex energy plane except for possible singularities on the negative real axis. These singularities are determined to all loop orders by a simple energy-conservation condition. We confirm this picture by developing a Landau analysis of wavefunction loop integrals and corroborate our findings with several explicit calculations in scalar field theories. This analytic structure allows us to derive new UV/IR sum rules for the wavefunction that fix the coefficients in its low-energy expansion in terms of integrals of discontinuities in the corresponding UV-completion. In contrast to the analogous sum rules for scattering amplitudes, the wavefunction sum rules can also constrain total-derivative interactions. We explicitly verify these new relations at one-loop order in simple UV models of a light and a heavy scalar. Our results, which apply to both Lorentz invariant and boost-breaking theories, pave the way towards deriving wavefunction positivity bounds in flat and cosmological spacetimes.

KEYWORDS: Effective Field Theories, Boundary Quantum Field Theory, Scattering Amplitudes

ARXIV EPRINT: 2212.08009



Contents

-	Introduction	1
	1.1 Summary of main results	5
2	The analytic structure of the wavefunction	
	2.1 A review of recursion relations for the Minkowski wavefunction	8
	2.2 Off-shell wavefunction coefficients	12
	2.3 On the location of poles and branch points	16
	2.4 Examples	22
	2.4.1 Tree-level examples	22
	2.4.2 One-loop examples	24
	2.5 Landau analysis for the wavefunction coefficients	27
3	UV/IR sum rules	36
	3.1 The effective field theory wavefunction	37
	3.2 A wavefunction dispersion relation	38
	3.3 Example: a light scalar	40
	3.4 Comparison with amplitude sum rules	42
4	Example UV completions	
	4.1 UV-completion: a tree-level example	43
	4.2 UV-completion: a one-loop example	47
5	Conclusions	49
5 A	Conclusions One-loop computations	49 53
5 A	Conclusions One-loop computations A.1 Classifying complexity	49 53 53
5 A	Conclusions One-loop computations A.1 Classifying complexity A.2 One internal edge	49 53 58
5 A	Conclusions One-loop computations A.1 Classifying complexity A.2 One internal edge A.3 Two internal edges	49 53 53 58 59
5 A	Conclusions One-loop computations A.1 Classifying complexity A.2 One internal edge A.3 Two internal edges A.3.1 Generalities	49 53 58 59 60
5 A	Conclusions One-loop computations A.1 Classifying complexity A.2 One internal edge A.3 Two internal edges A.3.1 Generalities A.3.2 Equal masses	 49 53 53 58 59 60 63
5 A	Conclusions One-loop computations A.1 Classifying complexity A.2 One internal edge A.3 Two internal edges A.3.1 Generalities A.3.2 Equal masses A.3.3 Massless limit	 49 53 53 58 59 60 63 68
5 A	Conclusions One-loop computations A.1 Classifying complexity A.2 One internal edge A.3 Two internal edges A.3.1 Generalities A.3.2 Equal masses A.3.3 Massless limit A.3.4 Soft limit	 49 53 53 58 59 60 63 68 70
5 A	Conclusions One-loop computations A.1 Classifying complexity A.2 One internal edge A.3 Two internal edges A.3.1 Generalities A.3.2 Equal masses A.3.3 Massless limit A.3.4 Soft limit A.3.5 Amplitude limit	 49 53 53 58 59 60 63 68 70 70
5 A	ConclusionsOne-loop computationsA.1 Classifying complexityA.2 One internal edgeA.3 Two internal edgesA.3.1 GeneralitiesA.3.2 Equal massesA.3.3 Massless limitA.3.4 Soft limitA.3.5 Amplitude limitA.3.6 In $d = 1$ dimensions	 49 53 53 58 59 60 63 68 70 70 70 71
5 A	ConclusionsOne-loop computationsA.1 Classifying complexityA.2 One internal edgeA.3 Two internal edgesA.3.1 GeneralitiesA.3.2 Equal massesA.3.3 Massless limitA.3.4 Soft limitA.3.5 Amplitude limitA.3.6 In $d = 1$ dimensionsA.4 Three internal edges	 49 53 53 58 59 60 63 68 70 70 70 71 71
5 A	Conclusions One-loop computations A.1 Classifying complexity A.2 One internal edge A.3 Two internal edges A.3.1 Generalities A.3.2 Equal masses A.3.3 Massless limit A.3.4 Soft limit A.3.5 Amplitude limit A.3.6 In $d = 1$ dimensions A.4 Three internal edges A.4.1 Generalities	 49 53 53 58 59 60 63 68 70 70 70 71 71 72
5 A	Conclusions One-loop computations A.1 Classifying complexity A.2 One internal edge A.3 Two internal edges A.3.1 Generalities A.3.2 Equal masses A.3.3 Massless limit A.3.4 Soft limit A.3.5 Amplitude limit A.3.6 In $d = 1$ dimensions A.4 Three internal edges A.4.1 Generalities A.4.2 Reducing the complexity	 49 53 53 58 59 60 63 68 70 70 70 71 71 72 73
5 A	Conclusions One-loop computations A.1 Classifying complexity A.2 One internal edge A.3 Two internal edges A.3.1 Generalities A.3.2 Equal masses A.3.2 Equal masses A.3.3 Massless limit A.3.4 Soft limit A.3.5 Amplitude limit A.3.6 In $d = 1$ dimensions A.4 Three internal edges A.4.1 Generalities A.4.2 Reducing the complexity A.4.3 Soft limit	 49 53 53 58 59 60 63 68 70 70 70 71 71 72 73 75
5 A B	ConclusionsOne-loop computationsA.1 Classifying complexityA.2 One internal edgeA.3 Two internal edgesA.3.1 GeneralitiesA.3.2 Equal massesA.3.3 Massless limitA.3.4 Soft limitA.3.5 Amplitude limitA.3.6 In $d = 1$ dimensionsA.4 Three internal edgesA.4.1 GeneralitiesA.4.2 Reducing the complexityA.4.3 Soft limit	 49 53 53 58 59 60 63 68 70 70 70 71 71 72 73 75 76

1 Introduction

Complexification often leads to simplification. While physical observables are always real, their extension to the complex plane can reveal strikingly simple structures that encode a variety of physical features. This is because quantities that vary smoothly along the real axis (such as most observables) can be extended to functions that are *analytic* almost everywhere in the complex plane. Such functions feature a rigid structure and are completely specified by their singularities. Once these singularities are connected to physical properties of the system, the picture that emerges in the complex plane is both physically transparent and mathematically simple.

The analytic *S*-matrix. The importance of the complex plane is perhaps greatest in particle physics, where the probability amplitude to scatter between different asymptotic states can be analytically continued to complex values of the particle momenta. This analyticity, which is deeply rooted into causality, was the cornerstone of the *S*-matrix programme of the 60's and 70's [1, 2], and now underpins most modern amplitude methods [3-5]. Analyticity has led to two particularly important results:

- (i) a straightforward map between physical properties of states (e.g. their mass and spin) and the analytic structure of off-shell scattering amplitudes extended to the complex plane (e.g. their pole residues and branch cut discontinuities),
- (ii) a variety of sum rules that connect low-energy observables to particular integrals over the underlying high-energy theory, providing a concrete connection between Effective Field Theory (EFT) Wilson coefficients and its ultraviolet (UV) completion.

In practice, (i) is what allows us to empirically determine the properties of the particles that make up our Universe — for instance, the mass of the Higgs boson is measured by determining the location of a pole in the complex energy plane, via the Breit-Wigner formula [6–8]. Increasingly, (ii) is the most promising way to search for new physics at the precision frontier — for instance by using an accurate determination of the low-energy coefficients in the Standard Model EFT [9] to place constraints on physics beyond the Standard Model [10–22]. The sum rules that follow from analyticity can also be combined with fundamental properties such as unitarity and locality [23–25], which has led to the recent explosion of different "positivity bounds" on low-energy EFTs [26–43].

The analytic wavefunction. In this work, our goal is to develop an equivalent understanding of analyticity for the field-theoretic wavefunction.¹ Unlike scattering amplitudes, which are defined in terms of asymptotic states in the far past/future, the wavefunction is instead defined at a fixed time in the bulk. Because the choice of a time hypersurface obscures Lorentz invariance, the field-theoretic wavefunction has received relatively little attention. However it is a particularly useful object since it allows one to capture a wide variety of phenomena that cannot be probed by amplitudes, for instance finite-time effects.

 $^{^{1}}$ While the wavefunction is not a standard topic in QFT textbooks, see [44–46] for several useful pedagogical references.

Since it does not rely on having well-defined particle eigenstates in the past/future, the wavefunction also generalises more readily to the curved spacetime backgrounds relevant for cosmology. In cosmological models, Lorentz invariance is always broken by the gravitational background and so using the wavefunction does not obscure any relevant symmetry. Already starting with [47–59], the wavefunction has therefore played a prominent role in theoretical cosmology, where it can describe the quantum fluctuations produced in the early inflationary Universe. This has driven much recent progress in importing amplitude techniques to the wavefunction [60–79] and to the calculation of cosmological correlators [80–105].

Here, we develop the crucial ingredient of analyticity for the wavefunction. Guided by the analogous results for amplitudes, we establish:

- (o) an analytic *off-shell wavefunction* using a particular analytic continuation of the wavefunction coefficients to the complex energy plane,
- (i) relations between its singularities (pole/branch cuts) and the properties of the underlying fields exchanged in perturbation theory,
- (ii) UV/IR sum rules which relate the coefficients in the finite-time EFT action to its underlying UV completion.

We focus throughout on scalar fields interacting on a fixed Minkowski spacetime background, a setting in which we are able to completely characterise all possible non-analyticities that can arise in the wavefunction in perturbation theory. This lays down a framework for future applications of the wavefunction, e.g. to cosmological perturbations on quasi-de Sitter spacetimes.

Causality and analyticity. Analyticity in the energy domain is closely connected with causality in the time domain. If the application of a localised source only alters the future, then the Fourier transform of the response function is analytic in the lower-half of the complex energy/frequency plane (a mathematical result known as Titchmarsh's theorem). This is the analyticity used by Kramers and Kronig in their seminal work [106, 107], which derived relations between the real and imaginary part of the refractive index as a consequence of causality. Scattering amplitudes respect a stronger causality condition, namely *microcausality*, which requires that all local operators commute at space-like separations. Together with crossing symmetry, this implies the analyticity of the amplitude in the complex *s*-plane in several cases.²

The analyticity that we exploit in this work is the basic non-relativistic version of causality. Concretely, the wavefunction $\Psi_{t=0}[\phi]$ that we consider is defined by evolving the vacuum in the far past until some later time t = 0 using an interacting Hamiltonian $\mathcal{H}(t)$, and then projecting onto the field eigenstate at that time. Causality in this picture corresponds to the condition that $\Psi_{t=0}$ is insensitive to any interactions that take place at times t > 0, i.e. the wavefunction at time t = 0 is determined only by its past. This means that $\mathcal{H}(t)$ could be replaced with $\mathcal{H}(t)\Theta(t)$, turning all interactions off after t = 0, and the

 $^{^{2}}$ Rigorous proofs of analyticity from causality assumptions are mostly restricted to the scattering of real scalar fields, and usually require additional assumptions such as the adiabatic hypothesis [108–111].

wavefunction $\Psi_{t=0}$ would be unchanged. The wavefunction can therefore be viewed as the response to the interactions that turn off after a fixed time. This is the intuitive reason why we find a simple analytic structure: the Fourier transform of such a causal response is generally analytic in (at least) half of the complex frequency plane (the lower half in our Fourier conventions). Our sum rules for the wavefunction are therefore the analogue of the Kramers-Kronig relations. Pioneering ideas and results on the analytic structure of wavefunction coefficients can be found in [66] and [73, 75].

Outline. Below we provide a summary of our conventions and a technical statement of our main results ((o), (i) and (ii) above). The remainder of the paper then demonstrates these results as follows:

- (o) In section 2.1 we review the recursion relations of [66] for the Minkowski wavefunction, which allow us to express arbitrary Feynman-Witten diagrams in terms of a rational integrand. By extending this recursion relation to complex values of the energy, we define a new off-shell wavefunction in section 2.2.
- (i) Based on this rational integral representation, in section 2.3 we provide a simple physical criterion for determining the singular points of any given diagram, and we show in section 2.4 that this criterion indeed produces a complete list of all singular points in a number of examples. In section 2.5 we develop systematic Landau conditions for determining the singular points of any given wavefunction integral.
- (ii) In section 3 we use analyticity to derive UV/IR sum rules, and apply them to a simple scalar EFT with interactions up to mass-dimension-8. In section 4, we consider two different explicit UV completions and confirm that they satisfy the sum rules.

We then conclude in section 5 with a discussion of future directions. In appendix A we describe in detail how to set up and perform loop integrals for the wavefunction coefficients. In appendix B we briefly review the standard Feynman rules for computing Feynman-Witten diagrams for the wavefunction. Throughout the main text we focus on the analytic structure of the off-shell wavefunction in perturbation theory, and in appendix C describe how this generalises to a fully non-perturbative object.

Conventions. Our Fourier conventions are

$$f(\mathbf{x}) = \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} e^{i\mathbf{k}\mathbf{x}} f(\mathbf{k}) \equiv \int_{\mathbf{k}} e^{i\mathbf{k}\mathbf{x}} f(\mathbf{k}), \quad f(\mathbf{k}) = \int d^3x \, e^{-i\mathbf{k}\mathbf{x}} f(\mathbf{x}) \equiv \int_{\mathbf{x}} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\mathbf{x}} f(\mathbf{x}). \quad (1.1)$$

To avoid cluttering our equations with factors of $(2\pi)^3$ from Fourier transform we employ the notation

$$\tilde{\delta}_D^{(3)}(\mathbf{k}) \equiv (2\pi)^3 \delta_D^{(3)}(\mathbf{k}) \ . \tag{1.2}$$

In our convention the wavefunction is parameterized as

$$\Psi[\phi;t] = \exp\left[+\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\mathbf{k}_1,\dots,\mathbf{k}_n} \tilde{\delta}_D^{(3)}\left(\sum_{a=1}^{n} \mathbf{k}_a\right) \psi_n(\{\mathbf{k}\};t)\phi(\mathbf{k}_1)\dots\phi(\mathbf{k}_n)\right],\qquad(1.3)$$

where $\{\mathbf{k}\}$ is shorthand for the set of external momenta, $\{\mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2, \ldots, \mathbf{k}_n\}$. This is the same as for example in [47, 72, 112], but it is the opposite of that used in [69, 73], where $\Psi \sim e^{-\psi_n \phi^n}$ was chosen. Because of time-translation invariance, the wavefunction coefficients have a very simple time dependence:

$$\psi_n(\{\mathbf{k}\}, t) = \psi_n(\{\mathbf{k}\}, 0). \tag{1.4}$$

Therefore, we simply focus on t = 0, without loss of generality, and omit specifying the time dependence.

We work perturbatively and adopt a power-counting in which ψ_n starts at $\mathcal{O}(g_*^{n-2})$ for some small expansion parameter g_* . Expanding a given ψ_n in powers of this coupling corresponds to a diagrammatic expansion in the number of loops,

$$\psi_n = \psi_n^{\text{tree}} + \psi_n^{1\text{-loop}} + \psi_n^{2\text{-loop}} + \mathcal{O}\left(g_*^{n+1}\right) \,, \tag{1.5}$$

where $\psi_n^{L\text{-loop}} \sim \mathcal{O}\left(g_*^{n-2+L}\right)$. It will often be convenient to work with the loop integrand, which we write as,

$$\psi_n^{L\text{-loop}}(\{\mathbf{k}\}) = \int_{\mathbf{p}_1,\dots,\mathbf{p}_L} \mathcal{I}_n^{L\text{-loop}}(\{\mathbf{k}\},\{\mathbf{p}\}) \,. \tag{1.6}$$

Momenta of external legs are denoted by \mathbf{k}_a (where *a* runs over the number of external lines) and loop momenta are denoted by \mathbf{p}_a (where *a* runs over the number of loops). The momenta of internal lines are denoted by \mathbf{q}_a , and can always be fixed by momentum conservation in terms of the external momenta and the loop momenta. When discussing 4-point coefficients, we denote the total 3-momentum in each of the channels as

$$\mathbf{k}_{s} = \mathbf{k}_{1} + \mathbf{k}_{2}, \qquad \mathbf{k}_{t} = \mathbf{k}_{1} + \mathbf{k}_{3}, \qquad \mathbf{k}_{u} = \mathbf{k}_{2} + \mathbf{k}_{3}.$$
(1.7)

We use $\Omega_{\mathbf{k}}$ to denote the "on-shell" value of the energy when the spatial momentum is \mathbf{k} (and $k = |\mathbf{k}|$ is its magnitude). For each field of mass m in the theory, this is given by

$$\Omega_k = \sqrt{k^2 + m^2} \,. \tag{1.8}$$

Our main object of study will be "off-shell" wavefunction coefficients (defined in section 2.2). These depend on additional variables ω_a representing the off-shell energy of each external leg, which is independent of the mass and momentum of the field. It is only when we want to evaluate a wavefunction coefficient on-shell that we impose $\omega_a \stackrel{!}{=} \Omega_{k_a}$. In the context of 4-point coefficients we sometimes use:

$$\omega_s = \omega_1 + \omega_2, \qquad \qquad \omega_t = \omega_1 + \omega_3, \qquad \qquad \omega_u = \omega_2 + \omega_3. \tag{1.9}$$

The total energy flowing into a diagram will be denoted by $\omega_T = \sum_a \omega_a$. Off-shell wavefunction coefficients will be denoted with the same symbol ψ_n as their on-shell cousins, but depend on n additional variables:

Off-shell:
$$\psi_n^{L-\text{loop}}(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) = \int_{\mathbf{p}_1, \dots, \mathbf{p}_L} \mathcal{I}_n^{L-\text{loop}}(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}, \{\mathbf{p}\}).$$
 (1.10)

1.1 Summary of main results

For the convenience of the busy reader, we summarize here our main findings.

Introducing the off-shell wavefunction. The central object that we study in this work is a new off-shell extension of the wavefunction coefficients at t = 0. They can be defined as the following half-interval Fourier transform,

$$\psi_n\left(\{\omega\},\{\mathbf{k}\}\right) = \left[\prod_{j=1}^n \int_{-\infty}^0 dt_j \, e^{i\omega_j t_j}\right] \, G^{\text{amp.,con.}}_{\mathbf{k}_1\dots\mathbf{k}_{n-1}}(t_1,\dots,t_n) \,, \tag{1.11}$$

where $G_{\mathbf{k}_1...\mathbf{k}_{n-1}}^{\text{amp.,con.}}(t_1,\ldots,t_n)$ is the amputated, connected part of the time-ordered Green's function (descussed in detail in appendix C),

$$\langle \phi(0) = 0 | T \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_1}(t_1) \dots \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_n}(t_n) | \Omega_{\mathrm{in}} \rangle = G_{\mathbf{k}_1 \dots \mathbf{k}_{n-1}}(t_1, \dots, t_n) \, \tilde{\delta}_D^{(3)}\left(\sum_a^n \mathbf{k}_a\right), \qquad (1.12)$$

where $|\Omega_{\rm in}\rangle$ is the vacuum in the far past and $|\phi(0) = 0\rangle$ is the field eigenstate $\hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(0)|\phi(0) = 0\rangle = 0$ at time t = 0. These off-shell coefficients coincide with the usual wavefunction coefficients (the $\psi_n(\{\mathbf{k}\})$ appearing in (1.3)) in the limit $\omega \to \sqrt{k^2 + m^2}$, which we refer to as "going on-shell". In perturbation theory, the off-shell $\psi_n(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\})$ can be represented as a series of Feynman-Witten diagrams in which n external edges are each labelled by an energy and a spatial momentum, and each vertex is labelled by a bulk time which is integrated from $-\infty$ to 0. Internal lines carry spatial momenta only, which are partially fixed by imposing momentum conservation at each vertex (any undetermined internal momenta due to loops are integrated over). The Feynman rules for evaluating each diagram are:

- An external edge with energy ω connected to a bulk vertex at time t gives an off-shell bulk-boundary propagator, $K_{\omega}(t) = e^{i\omega t}$,
- An internal edge carrying momentum **k** between vertices at times t_1 and t_2 gives a bulk-bulk propagator, namely the two-point $G_{\mathbf{k}}(t_1, t_2)$ associated with the field being exchanged,
- Each *n*-point vertex gives a factor of $i\delta^n S[\Phi; 0]/\delta\Phi^n|_{\Phi=0}$, where $S[\Phi; 0]$ is the action from $t = -\infty$ to t = 0. Note that each temporal (or spatial) derivative becomes a factor of $i\omega$ (or $i\mathbf{k}$) when acting on an external line.

We give a number of explicit examples throughout.

Signatures of new heavy physics. With these definitions, the analytic structure of any particular Feynman diagrams is completely determined by the properties of the virtual fields being exchanged. This is familiar in the context of scattering amplitudes, where for instance the s-channel $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering amplitude at one-loop receives contributions from

the following diagrams (where ω_s and \mathbf{k}_s are the total ingoing energy and momentum),

$$\mathcal{A}_{2\to2}^{(s)} = \begin{split} & \underset{\mathbf{k}_s}{\boldsymbol{\omega}_s} \left[\underbrace{\mathbf{w}_s}_{-\mathbf{k}_s} \right]^{-\boldsymbol{\omega}_s} + \underbrace{\mathbf{w}_s}_{\mathbf{k}_s} \left[\underbrace{\mathbf{w}_s}_{-\mathbf{k}_s} \right]^{-\boldsymbol{\omega}_s}_{-\mathbf{k}_s} + \cdots \\ & \sim \underbrace{\frac{1}{M^2 - s}}_{-\mathbf{k}_s} + \underbrace{\sqrt{(M_1 + M_2)^2 - s}}_{-\mathbf{k}_s} + \cdots \end{split}$$
(1.13)

and, as a result, develops poles and branch cuts at particular thresholds which are determined by the masses of the heavy internal fields (in this case at $s = M^2$ and $s = (M_1 + M_2)^2$, where $s = \omega_s^2 - k_s^2$ is the usual Mandelstam invariant).

Bringing this perspective to the wavefunction, we show that the location of similar thresholds in ψ_n are tied to the masses of the heavy internal fields. For instance, the one-loop four-point wavefunction coefficient receives contributions from the following diagrams, where ω_1 and ω_2 are the total energies flowing into each interaction vertex,

$$\psi_{4}^{(s)} = \underbrace{\begin{array}{cccc} \omega_{1}, k & \omega_{2}, -k \\ & & & \\ & &$$

and, consequently, develops analogous poles and branch cuts at thresholds determined by the heavy internal fields (in this case at $\omega_1 = -\sqrt{k^2 + M^2}$ and $\omega_1 = -\sqrt{k^2 + (M_1 + M_2)^2}$).

However, since energy is no longer conserved in the wavefunction, there can be additional non-analyticities that have no amplitude counterpart. For instance, the one-loop diagram,

produces a branch point at $\omega_1 = -\omega_2 - 2M$ which depends on the value of the other particle's energies. These additional non-analyticities necessarily do not appear in the energy-conserving limit $\omega_T \to 0$ (in this example when $\omega_1 + \omega_2 \to 0$ is fixed), since in that limit the wavefunction coefficient $\omega_T \psi_n$ coincides with the *n*-particle scattering amplitude.

We show that a given diagram will develop singular points whenever the external energies are such that one or more of the bulk vertices become energy-conserving. This energy-conservation condition can be applied at both tree and at loop level, and we have verified in a variety of examples that the resulting list of singular points is exhaustive. In (1.14) above, for instance, the thresholds in ω_1 can be recognised as the values at which the left-most vertex can carry zero energy (in the case of the loop diagram, a branch cut develops because for every $\omega_1 < -\sqrt{k^2 + (M_1 + M_2)^2}$ there is at least one value of the loop momentum at which the left-most vertex carries zero energy).



(a) A(s,t) in complex s-plane for a fixed t < 0. The pole at M_L^2 corresponds to the lightest tree-level exchange in the s-channel.



(b) $\psi_n(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\})$ in the complex ω_1 -plane for fixed $\omega_{a\neq 1} > 0$ and real \mathbf{k}_a . All tree-level poles/loop-level branch cuts lie on the negative real axis.

Figure 1. Analytic structure of Minkowski scattering amplitude (left) and wavefunction coefficients (right).

New UV/IR sum rules. At low centre-of-mass energies, the $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering amplitude between four scalar particles can be expanded,³

$$\mathcal{A}(s,t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} s^n c_n(t), \qquad (1.16)$$

where the EFT coefficients c_n can be straightforwardly related to the couplings which appear in the EFT action. Exploiting the analytic structure of the amplitude in the complex s plane at fixed t leads to UV/IR sum rules,

$$c_n(t) = \int_{M_L^2}^{\infty} \frac{ds}{2\pi i} \frac{\operatorname{disc}_s \mathcal{A}(s,t)}{s^{n+1}} + \int_{M_L^2}^{\infty} \frac{du}{2\pi i} \frac{\operatorname{disc}_u \mathcal{A}(s,t)}{s^{n+1}} + \mathcal{C}_{\infty}\left[\mathcal{A}\right], \quad (1.17)$$

where M_L represents the mass of the lightest particle which couples to the external fields, $s(u) = 4m^2 - t - u$ in the second term (where *m* is the mass of the external fields), and $\operatorname{disc}_z f(z) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} [f(z + i\epsilon) - f(z - i\epsilon)]$ is the usual discontinuity of a complex function. \mathcal{C}_{∞} is a particular contour integral at asymptotically large values of *s*. See [1, 2] for a standard textbook presentation of these ideas, or any of the more recent literature on the *S*-matrix bootstrap [113–115].

The off-shell wavefunction coefficients can similarly be expanded at low energies,

$$\omega_T \psi_n(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \omega_1^n \, \alpha_n(\{\omega_{a\neq 1}\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}), \qquad (1.18)$$

where the factor of $\omega_T = \sum_{a=1}^n \omega_a$ is included for convenience. The EFT coefficients α_n can be related to the couplings which appear in the finite-time action $S[\Phi; 0]$. Utilising their

³In theories without a mass gap, there can also be non-analytic contributions to (1.16) generated by loops of massless particles. In this case, we must additionally assume a weak coupling which allows these loop diagrams to be computed perturbatively (to some fixed order in the coupling) and subtracted from (1.17).

analytic structure, we are able to derive an analogous UV/IR sum rule,

$$\alpha_n(\{\omega_{a\neq 1}\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) = \int_{-\infty}^{-M_L} \frac{d\omega_1}{2\pi i} \frac{\operatorname{disc}_{\omega_1} \left[\omega_T \psi_n\left(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}\right)\right]}{\omega_1^{n+1}} + \mathcal{C}_{\infty} \left[\omega_T \psi_n\right], \quad (1.19)$$

where the $\{\mathbf{k}\}\$ and $\{\omega_{a\neq 1}\}\$ are held fixed at positive real values. This can be used to connect each EFT Wilson coefficients to a particular integral over the discontinuity of the wavefunction in the underlying UV theory.

2 The analytic structure of the wavefunction

In this section we describe the analytic structure of the coefficients of the field-theoretic wavefunction in Minkowski spacetime. We begin with a brief review of the useful recursion relations for the wavefunction coefficients derived in [112]. Then we present a conjecture for the location of all poles and branch points in perturbation theory. We substantiate this conjecture with a series of tree-level and one-loop calculations. Finally, we conclude with a more formal Landau-like analysis of the singularities of wavefunction coefficients from their integral representation.

2.1 A review of recursion relations for the Minkowski wavefunction

The Minkowski wavefunction Ψ is a functional of all the fields in theory that describes the pure quantum state of a system. It can be thought of as the projection of an abstract state vector $|\Psi\rangle$ onto the set $\{|\phi;t\rangle\}$ of eigenstates of the field operators $\hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t)$. For example, in Fourier space the basis obeys $\hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t) |\phi;t\rangle = \phi_{\mathbf{k}} |\phi;t\rangle$, where we take ϕ to represent the set of all possible fields in a theory with Lorentz indices omitted. The wavefunction is formally defined by the following (3 + 1)-dimensional path integral

$$\Psi[\phi;t] = \int_{\text{BD}}^{\Phi(t)=\phi} [d\Phi] e^{iS[\Phi;t]}, \qquad (2.1)$$

where BD refers to the Bunch-Davies initial state in the infinite past and S is the action functional of a given theory. It is often convenient to parameterize the wavefunction as⁴

$$\Psi[\phi;t] = \exp\left[+\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\mathbf{k}_1,\dots,\mathbf{k}_n} \tilde{\delta}^{(3)}\left(\sum_{a=1}^{n} \mathbf{k}_a\right) \psi_n(\{\mathbf{k}\};t)\phi(\mathbf{k}_1)\dots\phi(\mathbf{k}_n)\right],\qquad(2.2)$$

where ψ_n are momentum- and time-dependent *wavefunction coefficients*. These can be computed in perturbation theory to any desired order from a set of diagrammatic rules analogous to Feynman diagrams. We briefly review these rules in appendix B. For amplitude Feynman diagrams, the integrals over the time at which an interaction can happen become delta functions in frequency space and are readily accounted for by imposing energy conservation at each vertex. Conversely, since the wavefunction $\Psi[\phi; t]$ singles out a particular time t, which we will choose to be t = 0, the invariance under time translations

⁴This parameterization is not the most general but it is sufficient for perturbation theory and for certain classes of non-perturbative toy models.

(and Lorentz boosts) enjoyed by Minkowski amplitudes is spontaneously broken and the wavefunction Feynman rules now involve a number V of nested time integrals for a diagram with V interactions. While each integral is straightforward to evaluate, calculations become rather lengthy for all but the simplest diagrams.

Fortunately, a purely algebraic set of recursion relations can be derived for timetranslation invariant theories that involve polynomial interactions⁵ [112]. The solutions in turn admit an elegant representation in terms of canonical forms of polytopes. The relations work diagram by diagram. More in detail, take a diagram contributing to a given wavefunction coefficient ψ_n , as discussed in appendix B, and remove all external lines. This give a "skeleton" diagram with V vertices and I internal lines. Associate to each vertex a total vertex energy x_A , with $A = 1, \ldots, V$. Also, to each internal line associate an energy y_m , with $m = 1, \ldots, I$. For tree diagrams all y_m 's are fixed in terms of external spatial momenta by momentum conservation at each vertex, but at loop level this is not the case. The dependence of wavefunction coefficients on vertex energies x and internal-line energies y can now be written as

$$\psi_n = \psi_n(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_V; y_1, y_2, \dots, y_I).$$
(2.3)

This dependence can be determined by the following recursion relation

$$\left(\sum_{A}^{V} x_{A}\right)\psi_{n}(\{x_{A}\}) = \sum_{m}^{I} \operatorname{Cut}_{m}\psi_{n}(\dots, x_{B} + y_{m}, \dots, x_{B'} + y_{m}, \dots), \qquad (2.4)$$

where the operation Cut_m means that one should remove the *m*-th internal line and add its energy y_m to each of the vertex energies that line connected. If after the line is cut the diagram becomes disconnected one should interpret $\operatorname{Cut}_m \psi_n$ as the product of the wavefunction coefficients shifted by y_m of the disconnected parts, $\psi_{n'} \times \psi_{n-n'}$ with n' < n. Notice that in the recursion relation all coupling constants are omitted, but can be easily re-inserted if desired. The recursion relation can be represented graphically as

$$\left(\sum_{A} x_{A}\right) \quad \left(\psi_{n}\right) = \sum_{m} \quad \left(\psi_{n'}\right)_{+y_{m}} + y_{m} \left(\psi_{n-n'}\right) + \left(\psi_{n}\right)_{+y_{m}} + y_{m} \left(\psi_{n-n'}\right)_{+y_{m}} + \left(\psi_{n-n'}\right)_{+y_{m}} + \left(\psi_{n}\right)_{+y_{m}} + \left(\psi_{n-n'}\right)_{+y_{m}} + \left(\psi_$$

Using this relation over and over again, one can reduce any diagram to a diagram with one vertex and no internal lines, for which the initial condition of the recursion is

$$\psi_1^{\text{tree}}(x) = \bullet_x = \frac{1}{x}.$$
(2.6)

Note that (2.5) is the perturbative version of the Hamilton-Jacobi equation which determines the time evolution of the wavefunction, and (2.6) corresponds to a Bunch-Davies initial condition (see [70] for a recent review of this Schrödinger picture⁶).

 $^{{}^{5}}$ This can be extended to derivative interactions by "dressing" the interaction vertices along the lines of [116].

 $^{^{6}}$ In particular, compare (2.5) with figure 2 of [70].

Sometimes an example is worth a thousand words. Tree-level examples of the two- and three-site chains are

$$\psi_2^{\text{tree}}(x_1, x_2; y) = \frac{\psi_1^{\text{tree}}(x_1 + y)\psi_1^{\text{tree}}(x_2 + y)}{x_T} = \frac{1}{(x_1 + x_2)(x_1 + y)(x_2 + y)},$$
(2.7)

$$\psi_{3}^{\text{tree}}(x_{1}, x_{2}, x_{3}; y_{1}, y_{2}) = \frac{\psi_{2}^{\text{tree}}(x_{1}, x_{2} + y_{2})\psi_{1}^{\text{tree}}(x_{3} + y_{2}) + \psi_{1}^{\text{tree}}(x_{1} + y_{1})\psi_{2}^{\text{tree}}(x_{2} + y_{1}, x_{3})}{\sum_{A}^{3} x_{A}} = \frac{\left(\frac{1}{x_{1} + x_{2} + y_{2}} + \frac{1}{x_{2} + x_{3} + y_{1}}\right)}{(x_{1} + x_{2} + x_{3})(x_{1} + y_{1})(x_{2} + y_{1} + y_{2})(x_{3} + y_{2})}.$$
(2.8)

For loop diagrams, the recursion relation produce the loop *integrand*, as opposed to the integral. To make the distinction clear, we introduce the following notation

$$\psi_n^{L\text{-loop}}(\{\mathbf{k}\}) = \int_{\mathbf{p}_1,\dots,\mathbf{p}_L} \mathcal{I}_n^{L\text{-loop}}(\{\mathbf{k}\},\{\mathbf{p}\})\,, \tag{2.9}$$

where the set of external momenta $\{\mathbf{k}\}$ and internal momenta $\{\mathbf{p}\}$ will be connected to the recursion relations shortly. Examples of a one-loop diagram with one or two vertices are

$$\mathcal{I}_{1}^{1-\text{loop}}(x;y) = \frac{1}{x} \psi_{1}^{\text{tree}}(x+2y) = \frac{1}{x(x+2y)}, \qquad (2.10)$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{2}^{1-\text{loop}}(x_{1}, x_{2}; y_{1}, y_{2}) = \frac{1}{x_{1} + x_{2}} \left[\psi_{2}^{\text{tree}}(x_{1} + y_{1}, x_{2} + y_{1}) + \psi_{2}^{\text{tree}}(x_{1} + y_{2}, x_{2} + y_{2}) \right]$$
(2.11)

=

$$\frac{1}{(x_1+x_2)(x_1+y_1+y_2)(x_2+y_1+y_2)} \left[\frac{1}{(x_1+x_2+2y_2)} + \frac{1}{(x_1+x_2+2y_1)} \right]$$

Notice that, loosely speaking, the recursion relation is giving us the result of the integrand expanded in partial fractions.

With the solution of this recursion relations one can easily write down any desired wavefunction coefficient. We will write that the standard wavefunction coefficients are "on-shell" to emphasize the difference from an off-shell generalization to be introduced shortly. On-shell wavefunction coefficients are obtained from the solution of the recursion relations by performing the following identification:

On-shell
$$\psi_n$$
: $x_A = \sum_{a \in A} \Omega_{k_a} = \sum_{a \in A} \sqrt{k_a^2 + m_a^2}, \quad y_m = \Omega_{q_m} = \sqrt{q_m^2 + m_m^2}, \quad (2.12)$

where \mathbf{k}_a are the momenta of the external fields connected to the vertex A by a bulkboundary propagator (an external leg) and \mathbf{q}_m are the momenta of the internal lines, which might or might not be integrated over. The label on the mass reminds us that these results are valid for fields with arbitrary unequal masses. On-shell wavefunction coefficients depend on the external momenta \mathbf{k}_a , subject to the constraint of momentum conservation, i.e. $\sum_a \mathbf{k}_a = 0$ and rotational invariance,

On-shell:
$$\psi_n(\{\mathbf{k}\}) = \psi_n(\mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2, \dots, \mathbf{k}_n) = \int_{\mathbf{p}_1, \dots, \mathbf{p}_L} \mathcal{I}_n^{L-\text{loop}}(\{\mathbf{k}\}, \{\mathbf{p}\}).$$
 (2.13)

For example, the tree-level contact contribution to ψ_n is found to be⁷

$$\psi_n^{\text{contact}}(\mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2, \dots, \mathbf{k}_n) = \psi_1^{\text{tree}}(\sum \Omega_{k_a}) = \frac{1}{\sum_a \Omega_{k_a}}, \qquad (2.14)$$

up to an overall coupling constant. Similarly, the quartic wavefunction from particle exchange in the s-channel is

$$\psi_4(\mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2, \mathbf{k}_3, \mathbf{k}_4) = \underbrace{\bigvee_{\Omega_4}^{\Omega_{k_1} \Omega_{k_2} \Omega_{k_3} \Omega_{k_4}}}_{= \frac{1}{(\Omega_{k_1} + \Omega_{k_2} + \Omega_{k_3} + \Omega_{k_4})(\Omega_{k_1} + \Omega_{k_2} + \Omega_{q_s})(\Omega_{k_3} + \Omega_{k_4} + \Omega_{q_s})}, \quad (2.15)$$

where $q_s = |\mathbf{q}_s|$ and $\mathbf{q}_s = \mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2$ is the momentum of the exchanged field.

Distributional terms and the $i\epsilon$ prescription. There is a technical but important point to be made about the singularities appearing in the wavefunction coefficients when the sum of energies Ω_k of a given subdiagram (a.k.a. partial energies) vanish: the poles should be shifted into the upper-half complex plane by an infinitesimal amount. To understand this better, let's consider the simplest example of a contact interaction, whose wavefunction coefficient is given in (2.14). When computing this term from the Feynman-Witten rules (reviewed in appendix B), one finds the following "bulk time integral" representation

$$\psi_n^{\text{contact}} = i \int_{-\infty(1-i\epsilon)}^0 dt \, e^{i\Omega_T t} \,, \tag{2.16}$$

where we introduced the total energy, $\Omega_T \equiv \sum_a \Omega_{k_a}$. Notice that the lower boundary of integration is shifted into the complex plane by an infinitesimal amount $i\epsilon$, which should be taken to zero at the end of the calculation. At the mathematical level, this makes the integral well defined. At the physical level this projects the wavefunction in the infinite past onto the Fock vacuum of the free theory. This is the wavefunction $i\epsilon$ prescription. A more colorful way to state the same fact is that the $i\epsilon$ deformation of the time contour turns the oscillatory mode functions into an exponential damping that turns off all interactions in the asymptotic past, effectively turning the interacting theory into a free one. An alternative way to achieve the same result, which was heavily used in [69], is to shift Ω_T by a small imaginary part,

$$\Omega_T \to \Omega_T - i\epsilon \,. \tag{2.17}$$

For positive and infinitesimal ϵ , the integral converges to

$$\psi_n^{\text{contact}} = i \int_{-\infty}^0 dt \, e^{i(\Omega_T - i\epsilon)t} = \frac{1}{\Omega_T - i\epsilon} \,. \tag{2.18}$$

⁷Here we are abusing our notation. The function $\psi_n(\{x\}, \{y\})$ produced by the recursion relations is not exactly the same as the wavefunction coefficients $\psi_n(\{k\}, \{p\})$ we want to compute. In particular the label n on the former refers to the number of vertices, while on the latter it refers to the number of external legs, which for a given diagram can be larger if more than one external leg is connected to a vertex. We chose to keep our notation simple and tolerate this nuisance.

Notice that the pole has been pushed into the upper-half complex plane by an infinitesimal amount. For non-vanishing Ω_T , this is again $1/\Omega_T$, as before. However, for vanishing Ω_T we discover an additional delta function (e.g. by integrating this against a test function)

$$\frac{1}{\Omega_T - i\epsilon} = \frac{1}{\Omega_T} + i\pi\delta(\Omega_T) \,. \tag{2.19}$$

The wavefunction coefficient has acquired a (distributional) imaginary part. Analogues of this distributional terms appear in wavefunction coefficients to all orders, an in general one should think that all total and partial energy poles, such as those in (2.15), are shifted by an appropriate $-i\epsilon$, where in principle there is a different ϵ for each partial energy singularity. We will not study these distributional terms in detail here, but we would like to make a few remarks. First, it might not have escaped the attentive reader that the distributional imaginary term in (2.19) is very similar to the one found when taking the imaginary part of the Feynman propagator. In that context, the imaginary part appears only when an off-shell "virtual" particle goes on-shell and becomes a real particle. These terms are particularly important when studying unitarity and are responsible for ensuring that the optical theorem is satisfied order by order, in the form of Cutkosky cutting rules [117] (see e.g. [118–120]). Indeed, the analog for the exchange four-point function of the delta function in (2.19) is essential to ensure that the cosmological optical theorem of [69] reproduces the standard amplitude optical theorem.⁸ Second, the presence of delta functions might seem at odds with analyticity, since they are invisible to any contour integral on the complex plane as appearing for example in Cauchy's theorem. Conversely, an imaginary shift in the poles is a convenient way to maintain some analytical properties as well as an effective prescription to handle singularities on the real axis. Finally, notice that the location of the singularities of wavefunction coefficients depends crucially on the choice of initial state. Starting from the Minkowski vacuum we only encounter singularities that cannot be reached for real, physical momenta. However, for modified initial states delta functions appear at the boundary of the physical kinematical region, for example on folded triangles in the bispectrum.

2.2 Off-shell wavefunction coefficients

In this subsection, we will define the main object of our study: "off-shell" wavefunction coefficients.

It has long been known that scattering amplitudes enjoy analytic properties in the kinematical variables as a consequence of causality [1]. Such a connection has proven challenging to establish in full generality and much work has been devoted to deducing the analytic structure by studying the result of explicit perturbative calculations. One might hope that something similar happens for the wavefunction and the goal of this work is to make a first step in this direction. The very first question that we have to ask when tackling this problem is: analyticity in what variable(s)? A first guess might be that the right variable is the energy Ω_{k_a} of an external field or the associated norm of the momentum $k^2 = \Omega_k^2 - m^2$. However, already from the tree-level expression in (2.15) one can see that the dependence on this variable will feature branch points and cuts in the complex plane.

⁸We are aware of progress in this direction, which will appear soon [121].

The reason is that the internal energies Ω_q , which appear analytically in these expressions, are themselves non-analytic functions of the external energies Ω_{k_a} because of momentum conservation. For example, for the four-point exchange diagram, the internal energy is

$$\Omega_{q_s} = \sqrt{|\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2|^2 + m^2} = \sqrt{k_1^2 + k_2^2 + 2\mathbf{k}_1 \cdot \mathbf{k}_2 + m^2}$$

= $\sqrt{\Omega_{k_1}^2 - m_1^2 + 2\mathbf{k}_1 \cdot \mathbf{k}_2 + \Omega_{k_2}^2 - m_2^2 + m^2},$ (2.20)

where m here is the mass of the exchanged particle. This function has branch points both in the upper and lower complex plane and the location depends on m and hence on the spectrum of the theory. At loop order and in the presence of many particles it quickly becomes hard to keep track of all the associated discontinuities. Another conceptual issue of studying analyticity in Ω_{k_a} is that the connection to causality is obscured since this variable is not obviously related to time by a Fourier transform. While it might be possible to make progress in this direction, here we choose a different path.

Let's define a new set of objects, which we will call *off-shell wavefunction coefficients*. There are many equivalent ways to think about these objects, as we will now discuss. The first way is to consider the solution of the recursion relations reviewed in the last subsection, but where the energies of external legs are new variables that are not a priori related in any way to the external three-momenta. This is obtained by performing the following identification

Off-shell
$$\psi_n$$
: $x_A = \sum_{a \in A} \omega_a$, $y_m = \Omega_{q_m} = \sqrt{q_m^2 + m_m^2}$. (2.21)

Contrasting these expressions with (2.12) we see that the only difference is that now energies of external particles are parameterized by ω_a and are not fixed by the corresponding k_a . Conversely, internal energies are still on-shell and are defined as before. Therefore, off-shell wavefunction coefficients for n fields now depend on n more variables as compared to their on-shell cousins. We will denote off-shell wavefunction coefficient with the same symbol ψ_n as the on-shell ones, but with additional dependence on the ω_a 's

Off-shell:
$$\psi_n(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) = \psi_n(\omega_1, \omega_2, \dots, \omega_n; \mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2, \dots, \mathbf{k}_n) = \int_{\mathbf{p}_1, \dots, \mathbf{p}_L} \mathcal{I}_n^{L-\text{loop}}(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}, \{\mathbf{p}\}).$$

(2.22)

Since the rest of this paper discusses exclusively off-shell coefficients this should not lead to confusion. Moreover, an off-shell wavefunction coefficient can always be put on-shell simply by specifying

$$\psi_n(\mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2, \dots, \mathbf{k}_n) = \psi_n(\Omega_{k_1}, \Omega_{k_2}, \dots, \Omega_{k_n}; \mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2, \dots, \mathbf{k}_n).$$
(2.23)

There is an equivalent and closely related way to define off-shell wavefunction coefficients. Recall that the wavefunction coefficients are determined to all orders in perturbation theory by diagrammatic Feynman-Witten-like rules. In particular, all perturbative contributions to the on-shell wavefunction coefficient can be written as (for $V \ge 1$)

On-shell:
$$\psi_n(\mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2, \dots, \mathbf{k}_n) = i \int_{\mathbf{p}_1, \dots, \mathbf{p}_L} \int d^V t \left[\prod_{a=1}^n K(\Omega_{k_a}) \right] \left[\prod_m^I G(\Omega_{p_m}) \right],$$
 (2.24)

where K and G are bulk-boundary and bulk-bulk propagators

$$K(\omega, t) = e^{i\omega t} \,. \tag{2.25}$$

$$G(\omega, t, t') = iP(\omega) \left[\theta(t - t')K^*(\omega, t)K(\omega, t') + \theta(t' - t)K^*(\omega, t')K(\omega, t) - K(\omega, t)K(\omega, t') \right]$$

$$= \frac{i}{2\omega} \left[e^{-i\omega(t - t')}\theta(t - t') + e^{-i\omega(t' - t)}\theta(t' - t) - e^{i\omega(t + t')} \right], \qquad (2.26)$$

and for simplicity we have assumed only polynomial interactions and omitted the coupling constants. The off-shell wavefunction coefficients are defined using the same propagators (for $V \geq 1$) as follows:

Off-shell:
$$\psi_n(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) = i \int_{\mathbf{p}_1, \dots, \mathbf{p}_L} \int d^V t \left[\prod_{a=1}^n K(\omega_a)\right] \left[\prod_m^I G(\Omega_{p_m})\right],$$
 (2.27)

where the ω_a 's are independent variables.

There are two more ways to define off-shell wavefunction coefficients, which are also valid beyond perturbation theory and highlight a different perspective. We briefly quote here these results because they might help familiarizing oneself with these new objects, but we will not make use of these formulae in the rest of this paper. First, as we show in appendix C, the off-shell extension $\psi_n(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\})$ of the equal-time wavefunction coefficients can be thought of as amputated in-out Green's functions in frequency space. More concretely, the following relation holds¹⁰

$$\left[\prod_{j=1}^{n} \int_{-\infty}^{0} dt_{j} e^{i\omega_{j}t_{j}} \mathcal{E}_{j}\right] \langle \phi(0) = 0 | T \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}(t_{1}) \dots \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_{n}}(t_{n}) | \Omega_{\mathrm{in}} \rangle_{c} = \psi_{n} \left(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}\right) \tilde{\delta}_{D}^{(3)} \left(\sum_{a}^{n} \mathbf{k}_{a}\right),$$

$$(2.28)$$

where,

- |Ω_{in}⟩ is the state in the interacting theory that asymptotes to the vacuum in the far past (t → -∞), and the label c reminds us to only consider connected contributions (i.e. featuring a single momentum-conserving delta function),
- $|\phi(0) = 0\rangle$ is the field eigenstate annihilated by $\hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t)$ at t = 0,
- T represents time-ordering of the subsequent operators,
- $\mathcal{E}_j \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_j}(t_j) = i \left(\partial_{t_j}^2 + k_j^2 + m^2 \right) \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_j}(t_j)$ is the free equation of motion acting on the $\hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_j}(t_j)$ operator,
- $\int_{-\infty}^{0} dt \, e^{i\omega t}$ is the half-interval Fourier transform from the time domain to the frequency domain.

⁹There is a single zero-vertex contribution (V = 0), which appears already in the free theory. The on-shell result is $\psi_2(\mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2) = -\Omega_k$, while off-shell this becomes $\psi_2(\omega_1, \omega_2) = -(\omega_1 + \omega_2)/2$.

¹⁰Note that when $t_0 \neq 0$, the integral transform $\int_{-\infty}^{t_0} dt_j e^{i\omega_j(t_j-t_0)} \mathcal{E}_j$ should be used.

Note that the use of the half-interval Fourier transform in (2.28) shows that the off-shell wavefunction coefficients are analytic in half of the complex ω -plane. This is because (2.28) provides a convergent representation of ψ_n for any Im $\omega < 0$ (for which $e^{i\omega t} \rightarrow 0$ at $t \rightarrow -\infty$), providing the correlator does not grow exponentially in the far past. An equivalent argument, which is closer to the non-relativistic Kramers-Kronig dispersion relation, is to write this time integral as a two-sided Fourier transform at the expense of introducing a step function in time,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{0} dt \, e^{i\omega t} \, \mathcal{E}\hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \, \Theta(-t) \, e^{i\omega t} \, \mathcal{E}\hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t) \,. \tag{2.29}$$

This definition of ψ_n then takes the form of a response to sources which are only turned on the past, and such a response is analytic in (half of) the complex frequency domain. The fact that the amputated in-out Green's function in (2.28) reduce to the on-shell wavefunction coefficients when we take $\omega_a = \Omega_{k_a}$ can be thought of as the wavefunction analog of the Lehmann-Symanzik-Zimmermann (LSZ) reduction for amplitudes.¹¹

The last representation of off-shell wavefunction coefficients highlights the relation between analyticity and causality by re-interpreting ψ_n as a response to an appropriate classical external source. Define the off-shell wavefunction by the following path integral,

$$\Psi^{\text{off-shell}}[\Phi_{\text{ex}};t_0] = e^{iS_{\partial}[\Phi_{\text{ex}};t_0]} \int_{\text{BD}}^{\delta\Phi(t_0)=0} [d\delta\Phi] e^{iS_2[\delta\Phi;t_0]+S_{\text{int}}[\delta\Phi+\Phi_{\text{ex}};t_0]}, \qquad (2.30)$$

where $\delta \Phi$ is the integration variable, $\Phi_{\text{ex}} = \Phi_{\text{ex}}(t, \mathbf{k})$ is a spacetime-dependent classical external source and the boundary term is

$$iS_{\partial}[\Phi_{\rm ex}; t_0] = i \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbf{k}} \Phi_{\rm ex}(t_0, \mathbf{k}) \dot{\Phi}_{\rm ex}(t_0, -\mathbf{k}) \,.$$
 (2.31)

 $S_2 + S_{\text{int}}$ is the usual split of the classical action into free (quadratic) and interacting (non-linear) parts. Then the coefficients of the expansion of log $\Psi^{\text{off-shell}}$ in powers of $\Phi_{\text{ex}}(\omega)$ are the desired off-shell wavefunction coefficients

$$\Psi_n^{\text{off-shell}}(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) \equiv \prod_{a=1}^n \frac{\delta}{\delta \Phi_{\text{ex}}(\omega_a, \mathbf{k}_a)} \log \Psi^{\text{off-shell}}[\Phi_{\text{ex}}]\Big|_{\Phi_{\text{ex}}=0}.$$
 (2.32)

From this point of view, analyticity in ω is rooted in the causal response of $\Psi^{\text{off-shell}}$ to the external source Φ_{ex} .

To conclude, we notice that so far we have discussed only polynomial interactions of the form $\lambda \Phi^n/n!$ when setting up the recursion relation for $\psi_n(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\})$. For derivative interactions it suffices to decorate each vertex with an appropriate vertex factor, accounting for permutations. This leads to the schematic structure

$$\psi_n(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) = \int_{\mathbf{p}_1 \dots \mathbf{p}_L} F\left(\{\mathbf{k}\}, \{\mathbf{p}\}\right) \mathcal{I}_n\left(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}, \{\mathbf{p}\}\right) , \qquad (2.33)$$

¹¹The connection between wavefunction coefficients, time-ordered correlators and the LSZ procedure for extracting S-matrix elements will be discussed in more detail in the upcoming [122].

where F is determined by the Feynman rules for each vertex in the diagram (which can include both time and spatial derivatives), and \mathcal{I}_n is given by the recursion relation above. For example, each spatial derivative leads to a factor of $i\mathbf{k}$. When time derivatives act on one or more bulk-bulk propagator the form of F can be more complicated (see [116] for a dedicated discussion). However, our study of the singularities of the wavefunction relies on the structure of the denominator and so still applies, albeit with the possible non-generic cancellation of some singularity.

2.3 On the location of poles and branch points

We are now in a position to state the central claim of this paper:

The off-shell wavefunction coefficient $\psi_n(\omega_a, \mathbf{k}_a)$ at any order in perturbation theory is <u>analytic</u> in the complex ω_1 -plane at fixed real, positive values of $(\omega_{a\neq 1}, \mathbf{k}_a)$, <u>except</u> for singularities along the negative real axis, $\omega_1 \leq 0$. The location of singularities corresponds to the vanishing of the partial energy of a connected sub-diagram (the energy-conservation condition).

Note that a trivial relabelling of the arguments implies that $\psi_n(\omega_a, \mathbf{k}_a)$ is also analytic in the other ω_b planes (at fixed $\omega_{a\neq b} > 0$ and $\mathbf{k}_a > 0$) with singularities at $\omega_b \leq 0$. As for amplitudes, these non-analyticities have a natural interpretation in terms of the external kinematics crossing various *thresholds* at which new internal processes become important. We will first describe these thresholds at a heuristic level (which captures the relevant physics), then in subsection 2.4 we present various explicit computations of ψ_n that indeed contain the corresponding singularities, and finally in subsection 2.5 we describe a more formal derivation of the analytic structure in terms of Landau conditions.

The physical picture. In perturbation theory, $\psi_n(\omega_a, \mathbf{k}_a)$ can be represented as a sum over Feynman-Witten diagrams in which each interaction vertex represent an integral of the schematic form

$$\int_{-\infty}^{0} dt \ f_{\omega_1}^*(t) \dots f_{\omega_n}^*(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{0} dt \ e^{+i\omega_T t} \,, \tag{2.34}$$

where $\omega_T = \sum_{j=1}^n \omega_j$ is the total energy flowing into the vertex from its *n* legs. Evaluating these integrals requires a prescription to handle the limit $t \to -\infty$. This comes from imposing that the infinite past the system is in the Minkowski ground state. This ensures that the effect of interactions become small in the far past and the integral converges. This is the precise analog of the choice of the Bunch-Davies initial state in accelerating FLRW spacetimes. In practice, this physical picture is achieved by deforming the integration contour in the far past to $t \to -\infty(1 - i\epsilon)$, such that $e^{i\omega_T t}$ provides an exponential suppression for each interaction vertex in the infinite past. However, as already recognized in [66], if there is an *energy-conserving* vertex at which $\omega_T = 0$, then this exponential suppression is removed and such an infinitely long-lived interactions can produce singularities in the Bunch-Davies wavefunction.



Figure 2. The analytic structure in the complex ω_1 -plane for the off-shell wavefunction coefficients, (ψ_1, ψ_2, ψ_3) , in a theory with massless particles. In all cases we analytically continue ω_1 with the other ω_j and k_j held fixed at real positive values, and to provide a concrete order for the singularities we assume that $\omega_j \geq k_j$ and $\omega_j > \omega_{j'}$ if j > j'. Red crosses/lines indicate poles/branch cuts, and for each the diagram responsible is shown. Solid/dashed lines denote on/off-shell legs.

This is precisely analogous to a long-lived (on-shell) internal state producing divergences in a scattering amplitude. In the amplitude context, the tree-level exchange of a single on-shell line produces a simple pole and the loop-level exchange of multiple on-shell lines produces a branch cut. For the wavefunction, the integral representation introduced above makes it clear that tree-level wavefunction coefficients also possess simple poles, while branch cuts are produced only at loop level. The conceptual difference is that, rather than being determined by where intermediate lines go on-shell, the non-analyticities in the wavefunction are determined by where interaction vertices become energy-conserving and hence the factors in the denominators of (2.7)-(2.8) or (2.10)-(2.11) vanish.

This heuristic argument is illustrated in figure 2, where we summarise our conjectured analytic structure for the off-shell ψ_1, ψ_2 and ψ_3 by considering the values of ω_1 for which there exists a diagram with an energy-conserving vertex. Before attempting to prove that this simple rule indeed captures all of the non-analyticities in the perturbative wavefunction coefficients, we will show how it can be used to systematically generate a list of singular points for any off-shell ψ_n .

Tree-level poles. The simplest way to enumerate all possible poles in the perturbative wavefunction is to proceed inductively, beginning with the off-shell $\psi_{n=1}$ with a single external leg and then adding further external legs one at a time. This is useful because an off-shell diagram with n external legs entering the same bulk vertex with energies $(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_n)$ and momenta $(\mathbf{k}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{k}_n)$ is identical to the same off-shell diagram with a single external leg entering that vertex with energy $\sum_{a=1}^{n} \omega_a$ and momenta $\sum_{a=1}^{n} \mathbf{k}_a$, and therefore will give poles that are analogous to those of a lower-point diagram. Because of

this we find it convenient to also include quadratic vertices in our analysis, corresponding to perturbative correction from the linear mixing of fields. So for the first three wavefunction coefficients,

 ψ_1 : The only tree-level diagram for a single (off-shell) external line carrying energy ω_1 is:

$$\overset{\omega_1}{\bullet} \tag{2.35}$$

For an interaction with no derivatives, the corresponding wavefunction coefficient is simply $\psi_1 \propto 1/\omega_1$ and contains a simple pole at $\omega_1 = 0$. Adding derivatives only produces positive powers of ω_1 or \mathbf{k}_1 , and so cannot lead to any additional singularities.

 ψ_2 : When two lines carry energies (ω_1, ω_2) and momenta $(\mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2 = -\mathbf{k}_1)$ into the bulk, there are now two possibilities. Either (a) the two lines both terminate on the same interaction vertex,

$$\underbrace{\overset{\omega_2 \quad \omega_1}{\checkmark}}_{\bullet} \tag{2.36}$$

in which case we find the same result as for ψ_1 (with $\omega_1 \rightarrow \omega_1 + \omega_2$), or (b) the two lines end on different vertices,

where we have used a solid internal line to denote that this is on-shell (i.e. carries an energy $\Omega_{\mathbf{k}_1} = \sqrt{k_1^2 + m^2}$, where *m* is the mass of the field being exchanged). The black vertex carries zero energy when $\omega_1 = -\Omega_{k_1}$, and this is a qualitatively new threshold that develops when there is more than one external line. We have used hatched blob to indicate that the details of the ω_2 coupling are unimportant for this threshold — of course one could relabel the external arguments and similarly conclude that there is a pole at $\omega_2 = -\Omega_{k_2}$ independently of the coupling to the ω_1 external line. So up to this permutation, there are 2 simple poles which can appear in ψ_2 , at

$$\omega_1 + \omega_2 = 0,$$

 $\omega_1 + \Omega_{k_1} = 0.$
(2.38)

 ψ_3 : With three lines carrying energy and momentum into the bulk, there are now three options. The first possibility is that all of the external lines terminate on the same vertex,

$$\omega_3 \overset{\omega_2}{\checkmark} \omega_1$$
 (2.39)

which produces a simple pole at $\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \omega_3 = 0$ just like in ψ_1 above (with $\omega_1 \rightarrow \omega_1 + \omega_2 + \omega_3$). The second possibility is that just two of the external lines terminate on the same vertex: this can happen *either* as,

$$\overset{\omega_3 \quad \omega_2 \quad \omega_1}{\bigodot} \tag{2.40}$$

which produces a simple pole at $\omega_1 = -\Omega_{k_1}$ just like in ψ_2 above, or as,

$$\overset{\omega_3}{\textcircled{}} \overset{\omega_1}{\swarrow} \overset{\omega_2}{\swarrow}$$
(2.41)

which produces a simple pole at $\omega_1 + \omega_2 = -\Omega_{k_3}$, again like in ψ_2 above (with $\omega_1 \rightarrow \omega_1 + \omega_2$ and $\mathbf{k}_1 \rightarrow \mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2$) and up to permutations of the external legs. Finally, there is a qualitatively new threshold which corresponds to the three external legs terminating on different vertices,

which produces a simple pole at $\omega_1 = -\Omega_{k_2} - \Omega_{k_3}$. Again, permuting the labels of the external energies implies analogous poles also in ω_2 and ω_3 . Overall, up to this permutation of the external leg labels, ψ_3 can therefore have simple poles at 4 locations:

$$\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \omega_3 = 0,$$

 $\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \Omega_{k_3} = 0,$
(2.43)

$$\omega_1 + \Omega_{k_2} + \Omega_{k_3} = 0, \omega_1 + \Omega_{k_1} = 0.$$
(2.44)

Based on this recursive pattern, we see that each time n is increased a qualitatively new kind of threshold appears (in addition to the thresholds which exist for all lower-point coefficients). A simple algorithm for explicitly listing all of these poles in a given ψ_n at tree level is the following,

Energy-conservation condition (at tree-level):

For each partition of the n external legs into q subsets, each with a total energy ω_a and total momentum \mathbf{k}_a (for a = 1, ..., q), there can be a pole in ψ_n whenever,

$$\omega_1 + \sum_{a=2}^{q} \sqrt{|\mathbf{k}_a|^2 + m_a^2} = 0 \tag{2.45}$$

where m_a is the mass of any field that can couple to the external legs in subset a.

As an illustration, consider the off-shell four-point coefficient, ψ_4 . Up to permutations of the particle labels, this algorithm produces a list of 7 possible poles for every set of masses m_i which the exchanged fields may have:

Partition	Pole conditions	
$\{1, 2, 3, 4\}$	$\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \omega_3 + \omega_4 = 0$	
$\{1, 2, 3\}, \{4\}$	$\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \omega_3 + \Omega_{k_4} = 0$	
$\{1,2\},\{3,4\}$	$\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \Omega_{ \mathbf{k}_3 + \mathbf{k}_4 } = 0$	(2.46)
$\{1\}, \{2, 3, 4\}$	$\omega_1 + \Omega_{ \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3 + \mathbf{k}_4 } = 0$	(2.40)
$\{1,2\},\{3\},\{4\}$	$\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \Omega_{k_3} + \Omega_{k_4} = 0$	
$\{1\},\{2\},\{3,4\}$	$\omega_1 + \Omega_{k_2} + \Omega_{ \mathbf{k}_3 + \mathbf{k}_4 } = 0$	
$\{1\},\{2\},\{3\},\{4\}$	$\omega_1 + \Omega_{k_2} + \Omega_{k_3} + \Omega_{k_4} = 0$	

where $\Omega_{k_a} = \sqrt{k_a^2 + m_a^2}$ is the energy associated with any of the massive fields that can be exchanged in that channel. This list is indeed exhaustive of all of the poles we will find in explicit examples below.

Loop-level branch cuts. Beyond tree level, the wavefunction is no longer a rational function and can develop branch cuts in the complex ω -planes. These cuts can be viewed as a continuum of poles which arise from integrating a rational integrand (determined by the recursion relations reviewed in section 2.1) over continuous loop momenta. To systematically enumerate all possible branch points that can be generated by loops, it is again useful to proceed inductively starting from $\psi_{n=1}$,

 ψ_1 : When a single line carries energy ω_1 and momentum $\mathbf{k}_1 = 0$ into the bulk, it must terminate on an interaction vertex. At loop level, this vertex may also be connect to internal lines, each of which carries a momentum \mathbf{q}_a which is related to the momenta flowing in the loop (and hence integrated over). For instance, in the diagram,

the black vertex conserves energy when,

$$\omega_1 = -\Omega_{q_1} - \Omega_{q_2},\tag{2.48}$$

where $\Omega_{q_a} = \sqrt{q_a^2 + m_a^2}$ is the energy of the internal lines (which have masses m_a). Note that momentum-conservation requires $\mathbf{q}_1 + \mathbf{q}_2 = 0$. Integrating over all values of \mathbf{q}_1 therefore creates a continuum of poles on the negative ω_1 axis, which begins at the value,

$$-\min_{\substack{\mathbf{q}_1\\(\mathbf{q}_1+\mathbf{q}_2=0)}} (\Omega_{q_1} + \Omega_{q_2}) = -m_1 - m_2.$$
(2.49)

In general, allowing for an arbitrary number I of internal lines to be connected to the black interaction vertex, there will be a continuum of poles on the negative real axis beginning at,

$$\omega_1 = -\min_{\substack{\mathbf{q}_a\\(\sum_{a=1}^I \mathbf{q}_a = 0)}} \left(\sum_{a=1}^I \Omega_{q_a}\right) = -\sum_{a=1}^I m_a, \tag{2.50}$$

where the m_a are the masses of the internal lines. Note that when the theory includes massless particles this branch cut threshold coincides with the tree-level pole, but for gapped theories these non-analyticities are separated.

 ψ_2 : With two external lines, there are again two possibilities. The first is that the two lines both terminate on the same interaction vertex, e.g.

$$\overset{\omega_2 \quad \omega_1}{\bigodot} \tag{2.51}$$

in which case we have a branch cut (i.e. a continuum of poles) on the negative real axis which begins at $\omega_1 + \omega_2 = -\sum_{a=1}^{I} m_a$, just as for ψ_1 (with $\omega_1 \to \omega_1 + \omega_2$). The qualitatively new threshold is when the two lines end on different vertices,

$$\overset{\omega_2 \quad \omega_1}{\checkmark} \tag{2.52}$$

in which case the internal momenta are now constrained as $\sum_{a=1}^{I} \mathbf{q}_a = \mathbf{k}_1$ by momentum conservation. Consequently, the branch cuts from diagrams of this kind begin at

$$\omega_{1} = -\min_{\substack{\mathbf{q}_{a} \\ (\sum_{a=1}^{I} \mathbf{q}_{a} = \mathbf{k}_{1})}} \left(\sum_{a=1}^{I} \Omega_{q_{a}}\right) = -\sqrt{k_{1}^{2} + \left(\sum_{a=1}^{I} m_{a}\right)^{2}}.$$
 (2.53)

Note that when all of the internal lines carry the same mass, the minimum is achieved at $\mathbf{q}_a = \mathbf{k}_1/I$ for every *a* and this threshold is simply $\omega_1 = -\sqrt{k_1^2 + (Im)^2}$, and again would coincide with the tree-level pole in any theory which contains massless exchange. This threshold is analogous to the *I*-particle threshold for scattering amplitudes, which comes about because with relativistic energy $\omega_1^2 - |\mathbf{k}_1|^2 = (Im)^2$ the off-shell particle 1 can decay into I on-shell particles of mass m. As usual, the freedom to relabel the external leg arguments implies an analogous branch cut in ω_2 .

 ψ_3 : With three external legs, there are again three possibilities. They could all terminate on the same vertex,

$$\overset{\omega_3}{\bigotimes}\overset{\omega_2}{\swarrow} \overset{\omega_1}{\bigstar}$$
(2.54)

which reproduces the same $\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \omega_3 = -\sum_{a=1}^{I} m_a$ branch cuts as in ψ_1 above (with $\omega_1 \to \omega_1 + \omega_2 + \omega_3$). Two could terminate on the same vertex, either as

$$\underbrace{\overset{\omega_3}{\checkmark}}_{(2.55)}^{\omega_2}$$

which reproduces the same $\omega_1 = -\sqrt{k_1^2 + (Im)^2}$ type branch cuts as in ψ_2 above, or as,

$$\underbrace{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_3}{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_1}{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_2}}{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_2}{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_2}{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_2}{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_2}{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_2}{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_2}{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_2}{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_2}{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_2}}{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_2}}{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_2}{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_2}{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_2}}{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_2$$

which produces a branch cut with threshold $\omega_1 + \omega_2 = -\sqrt{k_3^2 + (Im)^2}$ following the same ψ_2 argument (with $\omega_1 \to \omega_1 + \omega_2$ and $\mathbf{k}_1 \to \mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 = -\mathbf{k}_3$). The third possibility is that all three legs terminate on different vertices,

$$\underbrace{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_3}{\bullet}}_{\bullet} \underbrace{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_1}{\bullet}}_{\bullet} \underbrace{\overset{\boldsymbol{\omega}_2}{\bullet}}_{\bullet} \underbrace{(2.57)}$$

υ

This produces a qualitatively new threshold due to the different momentum conservation conditions for the \mathbf{q}_a . For instance, for I = 2 internal lines connected to the black vertex and considering a single loop momentum \mathbf{p} , this threshold occurs at

$$\omega_1 = -\min_{\mathbf{p}} \left(\Omega_{|\mathbf{k}_3 + \mathbf{p}|} + \Omega_{|\mathbf{k}_2 - \mathbf{p}|} \right) \,. \tag{2.58}$$

The precise value of this minimum depends on the relative size of \mathbf{k}_3 and \mathbf{k}_2 , but again we note that in the limit of massless internal lines the branch cut extends all the way to the tree-level pole (which corresponds to $\mathbf{p} = 0$).

We see that for every tree-level diagram leading to a simple pole there is a corresponding series of loop-level diagrams (labelled by I) that create a branch cut at related thresholds. When the exchanged fields are massless all thresholds approach the location of a corresponding tree-level pole. The general conclusion is therefore:

Energy-conservation condition (at loop level):

When loops of massless fields are included, every pole in ψ_n becomes a branch point. In massive theories, for each pole there is an infinite series of branch points at successively lower negative values of ω_1 (with a separation determined by the mass gap).

This closely parallels the analytic structure of scattering amplitudes, for which each tree-level channel produces a corresponding pole at the single-particle threshold (e.g. $s = m^2$), and then loops in each of these channels produce branch cuts at the multi-particle thresholds (e.g. $s = 4m^2, 9m^2, \ldots$).

Altogether, we have shown how a simple heuristic argument that links singularities in the wavefunction to long-lived interactions in the bulk (i.e. those that have vanishing total energy) can be used to generate a systematic list of where we expect to find poles and branch cuts in the complex ω -planes. Next, we will confirm that these lists are indeed an exhaustive classification of the singularities in some concrete wavefunction coefficients computed in perturbation theory.

2.4 Examples

In this subsection, we present examples of tree-level and one-loop wavefunction coefficients with up to three external legs and confirm the location of singularities predicted by our general argument in the previous section. We focus on the singularities in the complexified ω_1 variable, but similar results apply to the other off-shell energies ω_a .

2.4.1 Tree-level examples

Since the Minkowski wavefunction coefficients are particularly simple at tree-level (they are given directly by the recursion relation of section 2.1), for the following examples we allow for arbitrary interaction vertices.

One vertex. Let's start by considering tree-level diagrams with a single vertex. These are all related to the starting solution of the recursion relation $\psi_1^{\text{tree}}(x) = 1/x$. For one, two and three external legs respectively these are given by

$$\psi_1(\omega_1) = \stackrel{\omega_1}{\bullet} = \frac{F_1(\omega_1)}{\omega_1}, \qquad (2.59)$$

$$\psi_2(\omega_1,\omega_2;\mathbf{k}_1) = \underbrace{\overset{\omega_2 \quad \omega_1}{\checkmark}}_{\omega_1} = \frac{F_2(\omega_1,\omega_2,\mathbf{k}_1)}{\omega_1 + \omega_2}, \qquad (2.60)$$

$$\psi_3(\omega_1,\omega_2,\omega_3;\mathbf{k}_1,\mathbf{k}_2) = \underbrace{\overset{\omega_3 \ \omega_2 \ \omega_1}{\bullet}}_{\omega_1 \ \omega_2} = \frac{F_3(\omega_1,\omega_2,\omega_3;\mathbf{k}_1,\mathbf{k}_2)}{\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \omega_3}, \qquad (2.61)$$

where F_1 , F_2 and F_3 are vertex factors. We find poles at $\omega_1 = 0$, $\omega_1 = -\omega_2$ and $\omega_1 = -\omega_2 - \omega_3$, in agreement with the energy-conservation condition of the previous section.

Two vertices. Diagrams with two vertices are a bit more interesting. They are all related to the second term in the recursion relation, $\psi_2(x_1, x_2; y)$ in (2.7), and they only appear for two or more external legs. For ψ_2 with 2 vertices, we find

$$\psi_2(\omega_1,\omega_2;\mathbf{k}) = \stackrel{\omega_1 \quad \omega_2}{\longleftarrow} = \frac{F_L(\omega_1;\mathbf{k})F_R(\omega_2;\mathbf{k})}{(\omega_1 + \Omega_k)(\omega_2 + \Omega_k)(\omega_1 + \omega_2)}.$$
(2.62)

There are poles at $\omega_1 = -\omega_2$, as well as $\omega_1 = -\Omega_k$, which are predicted by the energyconservation condition. For ψ_3 with 2 vertices, there are two possibilities. We can have ω_1 alone on one of the vertices, which gives:

$$\psi_3 = \underbrace{\tilde{F}_L(\omega_2, \omega_3; \mathbf{k}_1) \tilde{F}_R(\omega_1; \mathbf{k}_1)}_{(\omega_1 + \Omega_{k_1})(\omega_2 + \omega_3 + \Omega_{k_1})(\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \omega_3)}, \qquad (2.63)$$

and so we find poles at $\omega_1 = -\omega_2 - \omega_3$ and $\omega_1 = -\Omega_{k_1}$. We can also have ω_1 and another external leg on the same vertex, which gives:

$$\psi_{3} = \bigvee_{(\omega_{3} + \Omega_{k_{3}})}^{(\omega_{1} + \omega_{2})} + (2 \leftrightarrow 3)$$

$$= \frac{\tilde{F}_{L}(\omega_{1}, \omega_{2}; \mathbf{k}_{3})\tilde{F}_{R}(\omega_{3}; \mathbf{k}_{3})}{(\omega_{3} + \Omega_{k_{3}})(\omega_{1} + \omega_{2} + \Omega_{k_{3}})(\omega_{1} + \omega_{2} + \omega_{3})} + (2 \leftrightarrow 3).$$
(2.64)

In addition to $\omega_1 = -\omega_2 - \omega_3$ we also find $\omega_1 = -\omega_2 - \Omega_{k_3}$ and $\omega_1 = -\Omega_{k_2} - \omega_3$.

Three vertices. For ψ_3 with three vertices there are 3 different permutations for the location of external leg. If ω_1 is attached to the vertex on the side we have:

$$\psi_{3} = \underbrace{\downarrow}_{(\omega_{1}; \mathbf{k}_{1})}^{\omega_{1} \ \omega_{2} \ \omega_{3}} + (2 \leftrightarrow 3) \\ = \frac{F_{A}(\omega_{1}; \mathbf{k}_{1})F_{B}(\omega_{2}; \mathbf{k}_{1}, \mathbf{k}_{2})F_{C}(\omega_{3}; \mathbf{k}_{3})\left(\frac{1}{\omega_{1} + \omega_{2} + \Omega_{k_{3}}} + \frac{1}{\omega_{2} + \omega_{3} + \Omega_{k_{1}}}\right)}{(\omega_{1} + \omega_{2} + \omega_{3})(\omega_{1} + \Omega_{k_{1}})(\omega_{2} + \Omega_{k_{1}} + \Omega_{k_{3}})(\omega_{3} + \Omega_{k_{3}})} + (2 \leftrightarrow 3).$$
(2.65)

Poles are located at $\omega_1 = -\omega_2 - \omega_3$, $\omega_1 = -\Omega_{k_1}$, $\omega_1 = -\omega_2 - \Omega_{k_3}$ and $\omega_1 = -\Omega_{k_2} - \omega_3$.

If ω_1 is attached to the middle vertex we have:

$$\psi_{3} = \underbrace{\downarrow}_{(\omega_{2}; \mathbf{k}_{2})}^{\omega_{2} \ \omega_{3}} = \frac{F_{A}(\omega_{2}; \mathbf{k}_{2})F_{B}(\omega_{1}; \mathbf{k}_{1}, \mathbf{k}_{2})F_{C}(\omega_{3}; \mathbf{k}_{3})\left(\frac{1}{\omega_{1} + \omega_{3} + \Omega_{k_{2}}} + \frac{1}{\omega_{1} + \omega_{2} + \Omega_{k_{3}}}\right)}{(\omega_{1} + \omega_{2} + \omega_{3})(\omega_{3} + \Omega_{k_{3}})(\omega_{1} + \Omega_{k_{2}} + \Omega_{k_{3}})(\omega_{3} + \Omega_{k_{3}})}.$$
(2.66)

Here we find a pole at $\omega_1 = -\Omega_{k_2} - \Omega_{k_3}$ as well as $\omega_1 = -\omega_2 - \omega_3$, $\omega_1 = -\omega_2 - \Omega_{k_3}$ and $\omega_1 = -\Omega_{k_2} - \omega_3$.

All these poles correspond precisely to the list of tree-level singularities predicted by the energy-conservation condition for ψ_n with n = 1, 2 and 3. Now we move on to consider loop diagrams.

2.4.2 One-loop examples

At one-loop, the computation of wavefunction coefficients becomes more involved due to the integration over the loop momentum. To streamline our presentation, we will therefore now focus on polynomial interactions. We also give only the final results here in the main text, and describe the technical details of the computations in appendix A.

One vertex. Consider the following diagram:



in which all external legs are to be attached to the single vertex. Define ω_1 to be the total energy entering the vertex. Since there is only one vertex, the energy-conservation condition predicts a branch point at the threshold,

$$\omega_1 = -\min_{\mathbf{p}} \left(2\Omega_p \right) = -2M,\tag{2.68}$$

where M is the mass of the internal line forming the loop. This diagram corresponds to the integral,

$$\omega_1 \psi_1^{1-\text{loop}} = \int_{\mathbf{p}} \frac{1}{\omega_1 + 2\Omega_p} \,, \tag{2.69}$$

and is evaluated explicitly in appendix A.2. The result is,

$$\omega_1 \psi_1^{1-\text{loop}} = \frac{2\omega_1}{16\pi^2} \sqrt{4M^2 - \omega_1^2} \operatorname{arcsin}\left(\sqrt{\frac{2M - \omega_1}{4M}}\right) + \text{analytic}, \quad (2.70)$$

see (A.15). Note that the UV divergence is analytic in ω_1 (and can therefore be absorbed into local counter-terms). There is a branch point at $\omega_1 = -2M$ due to the argument of the arcsin exceeding unity, but otherwise $\omega_1 \psi_1^{1-\text{loop}}$ is analytic in the complex ω_1 plane. If the internal field is massless, the branch point is located at $\omega_1 = 0$, so the branch cut starts at the location of the tree-level pole. Indeed, taking the massless limit of (2.70) gives,

$$\psi_1^{1-\text{loop}} = -\frac{\omega_1}{16\pi^2} \log\left(\omega_1\right) + \text{analytic}, \qquad (2.71)$$

which has a logarithmic branch point at $\omega_1 = 0$ (with the conventional branch cut running along the negative real axis, $\omega_1 < 0$). So this simple example agrees with our energyconservation condition.

Two vertices. Now consider the following two-vertex one-loop diagram:



which contributes to $\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}$. Define **k** to be the momentum entering the left vertex and exiting the right vertex, and ω_1 , ω_2 to be the energies entering each vertex. The energy-conservation condition predicts the following singularities in the complex ω_1 plane:

(i)
$$\omega_1 = -\sqrt{k^2 + (M_1 + M_2)^2},$$

(ii)
$$\omega_1 = -\omega_2 - 2M_1$$
,

(iii)
$$\omega_1 = -\omega_2 - 2M_2$$
.

The diagram in (2.72) corresponds to the integral:

$$\omega_{12}\psi_2^{1\text{-loop}}(\omega_1,\omega_2;k) = \int_{\mathbf{p}} \frac{1}{(\omega_1 + \Omega_{q_1} + \Omega_{q_2})(\omega_2 + \Omega_{q_2})} \left[\frac{1}{\omega_{12} + 2\Omega_{q_1}} + \frac{1}{\omega_{12} + 2\Omega_{q_2}} \right],$$
(2.73)

where $q_1 = |\mathbf{p}|$ and $q_2 = |\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{p}|$ are the momenta of the internal lines and $\omega_{12} = \omega_1 + \omega_2$ is the total energy. This integral is evaluated in detail in appendix A.3, and given in (A.65) in terms of incomplete elliptic integrals. For finite values of M and k, it has a branch point at $\omega_1 = -\sqrt{k^2 + 4M^2}$ in the complex ω_1 plane, as predicted by the energy-conservation condition.

The second singularity predicted by the energy-conservation condition appears when either M or k vanish, as shown in (A.71) and (A.73). For the case of massless internal edges, the incomplete elliptic integrals simplify to dilogarithms, and (2.73) can be written as,

$$\omega_{12}\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}} = \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \left[\frac{\omega_2 \log\left(\omega_1 + k\right) - \omega_1 \log\left(\omega_2 + k\right)}{\omega_1 - \omega_2} - \frac{\omega_{12}}{2k} \left(\frac{1}{2} \log^2\left(\frac{\omega_1 + k}{\omega_2 + k}\right) + \text{Li}_2\left(\frac{k - \omega_2}{k + \omega_1}\right) + \text{Li}_2\left(\frac{k - \omega_1}{k + \omega_2}\right) \right) + \text{analytic} \right].$$

$$(2.74)$$

(2.75)

The singularities in the complex ω_1 plane are¹²

- (i) $\omega_1 = -k$, from both $\log(\omega_1 + k)$ and $\operatorname{Li}_2\left(\frac{k-\omega_2}{k+\omega_1}\right)$.
- (ii) $\omega_1 = -\omega_2$, from both $\operatorname{Li}_2\left(\frac{k-\omega_1}{k+\omega_2}\right)$ and $\operatorname{Li}_2\left(\frac{k-\omega_2}{k+\omega_1}\right)$ (while the dilogarithm is finite at that point, it is not smooth).

This list of singularities matches exactly the predictions of the energy-conservation condition. It is also worth mentioning that the first line of (A.71) is not singular at $\omega_1 = \omega_2$ (at fixed $k \neq -\omega_2$), since this apparent pole has zero residue.

Three vertices. Let's move on to the most complicated one-loop diagram we will consider, involving three vertices:



Momentum conservation at each vertex fixes all but one of the internal momenta (which we denote by \mathbf{p}), and also sets $\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3 = 0$. This diagram then corresponds to the integral,

$$\omega_{123}\psi_{3}^{1-\text{loop}} = \int_{\mathbf{p}} \frac{1}{(\omega_{1} + \Omega_{q_{12}} + \Omega_{q_{31}})(\omega_{2} + \Omega_{q_{12}} + \Omega_{q_{23}})(\omega_{3} + \Omega_{q_{23}} + \Omega_{q_{31}})} \sum_{\text{perm.}}^{6} \frac{1}{(\omega_{123} + 2\Omega_{q_{12}})(\omega_{23} + \Omega_{q_{12}} + \Omega_{q_{31}})},$$

$$(2.76)$$

which is discussed in appendix A.4. The singularities expected from the energy-conservation condition are:

(i) $\omega_1 = -\min_{\mathbf{p}}(\Omega_{q_{31}} + \Omega_{q_{12}})$. This gives $\omega_1 = -|\mathbf{k}_1|$ for massless internal lines.

(ii)
$$\omega_1 = -\omega_2 - \min_{\mathbf{p}}(\Omega_{q_{23}} + \Omega_{q_{31}})$$
. This gives $\omega_1 = -\omega_2 - |\mathbf{k}_3|$ for massless internal lines.

(iii)
$$\omega_1 = -\omega_3 - \min_{\mathbf{p}}(\Omega_{q_{12}} + \Omega_{q_{23}})$$
. This gives $\omega_1 = -\omega_3 - |\mathbf{k}_2|$ for massless internal lines.

(iv)
$$\omega_1 = -\omega_2 - \omega_3 - \sum_{a=1}^2 M_a$$
. This gives $\omega_1 = -\omega_2 - \omega_3$ for massless internal lines.

Evaluating the integral (2.76) in full generality is a difficult task in d = 3 dimensions: the main complication is that the boundary of the integration region for the $\{\Omega_{q_{12}}, \Omega_{q_{23}}, \Omega_{q_{31}}\}$ internal energies is a non-trivial surface (defined by a hyperelliptic curve).

For simplicity, let us consider here the case where all internal fields are massless and let us further suppose that one of the external fields carries zero spatial momentum, say $\mathbf{k}_3 = 0$ (though note that we are not fixing ω_3). In this limit $\mathbf{k}_1 = -\mathbf{k}_2$ (and so we

¹²Recall that the dilogarithm $\text{Li}_2(z)$ has a branch point at z = 1 and the conventional branch cut goes from z = 1 to $z = \infty$ along the real axis.

denote their common magnitude as k), and the integration region degenerates to the same region encountered in the two-vertex diagram above. Consequently $\psi_3^{1-\text{loop}}$ can be written in a closed form in terms of dilogarithms. The full expression is left in appendix A.4 (equation (A.98)), however we notice that it is analytic in the complex ω_1 plane (at fixed $\{\omega_2, \omega_3, k\}$) modulo branch points at:

(i)
$$\omega_1 = -k$$
, where $\psi_3^{1-\text{loop}} \sim \log(\omega_1 + k)$,

(ii) $\omega_1 = -\omega_2$, where $\psi_3^{1-\text{loop}} \sim \text{Li}_2\left(-\frac{\omega_2-k}{\omega_1+k}\right)$ and $\text{Li}_2\left(-\frac{\omega_1-k}{\omega_2+k}\right)$,

(iii)
$$\omega_1 = -\omega_3 - k$$
, where $\psi_3^{\text{1-loop}} \sim \log(\omega_{13} + k)$,

(iv)
$$\omega_1 = -\omega_{23}$$
, where $\psi_3^{1-\text{loop}} \sim \text{Li}_2\left(-\frac{\omega_{23}-k}{\omega_1+k}\right)$ and $\text{Li}_2\left(-\frac{\omega_{13}-k}{\omega_2+k}\right)$.

This precisely saturates the list of singularities expected from the energy-conservation condition.

Having established the validity of the energy-conservation condition in a number of examples, we now turn to a robust "proof" that wavefunction integrals generically possess singularities in these locations.

2.5 Landau analysis for the wavefunction coefficients

In this section, we develop the analogue of the Landau analysis commonly used in amplitude literature. This provides a list of necessary conditions for a point in kinematic space to be singular. We will see that the list of singularities presented in section 2.3 is contained within the list of singularities from the Landau analysis.

From the recursion relations we know that ψ_n can always be written in the following form:

$$\psi_n(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) = \int_{\mathbf{p}_1, \dots, \mathbf{p}_L} \frac{F(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}, \{\mathbf{p}\})}{\prod_{j=1}^{2V+L-2} S_j(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}, \{\mathbf{p}\})}.$$
(2.77)

Here S_j are linear functions of the internal and external energies, and $F(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}, \{\mathbf{p}\})$ can always be expressed in terms of a sum of products of S_j times analytic functions of \mathbf{k} from derivative interactions.

We would like to find all singular points of ψ_n without explicitly computing the integral. Similar technology has been developed in the amplitude literature, leading to a set of conditions for singularity known as the Landau equations (for a review on Landau conditions for amplitudes, see [1, 123, 124]). We will review some key ideas used to derive the Landau equations, and show how they can be used to find singularities for wavefunction coefficients as well.

Singularities: one integral variable. Consider the following expression:

$$f(z_1, \dots, z_n) = \int_C dw \, g(z_1, \dots, z_n, w).$$
 (2.78)

Here C denotes a contour in the complex w plane. $g(z_1, \ldots, z_n, w)$ contains singularities, and their positions in the complex w plane are determined by an algebraic equation



Figure 3. Usual picture for singularities in the case with one integration variable. Here w_r gives an endpoint singularity, while w_1 and w_2 gives a pinch singularity.

 $S(z_1, \ldots, z_n, w) = 0$. Changing z_1, \ldots, z_n corresponds to changing the position of poles in the complex w plane.

Singular points in $g(z_1, \ldots, z_n, w)$ can be avoided by deforming the contour C, and this prevents singularities from developing in $f(z_1, \ldots, z_n)$. However, contour deformation cannot avoid the following singularities:

- When a singularity approaches the endpoint of the contour C, which is fixed by the boundary conditions of the integral. This is known as an endpoint singularity.
- When two different singularities approach the contour from opposite sides and pinch the contour in between. This is known as a pinch singularity.

Singularities: multiple integral variables. In order to illustrate how singularities can develop in cases with multiple integral variables, let us consider the case of two complex integral variables:

$$f(z_1, \dots, z_n) = \int_C dw_1 dw_2 \, g(w_1, w_2, z_1, \dots, z_n).$$
(2.79)

The hypercontour C is a two (real) dimensional surface in a four (real) dimensional space. In general the hypercontour would have a set of boundaries, and each of them would be described by an equation:

$$\tilde{S}_i = 0. \tag{2.80}$$

For instance, suppose the integration region is given by:

$$f(z_1, \dots, z_n) = \int_1^\infty dw_1 \int_{-1}^1 dw_2 \, g(w_1, w_2, z_1, \dots, z_n).$$
(2.81)

Then the boundaries of the hypercontour would be given by:

$$\tilde{S}_1 = w_1 - 1 = 0, \tag{2.82}$$

$$\tilde{S}_{2+} = w_2 + 1 = 0, \tag{2.83}$$

$$\tilde{S}_{2-} = w_2 - 1 = 0. \tag{2.84}$$

Notice that each of the equation $\tilde{S}_i = 0$ describe a two (real) dimensional surface in a four (real) dimensional space. This is less constraining than the single integral variable case:



Figure 4. The hypercontour for the integral (2.81), sketched in three of the four (real) directions. The left figure shows the undistorted integration contour. The boundary \tilde{S}_{2+} and \tilde{S}_{2-} is indicated by blue lines, while the boundary \tilde{S}_1 is indicated by a teal line. Since the equation for \tilde{S}_{2+} and \tilde{S}_{2-} only fixes w_2 , they are allowed to deform in the imaginary w_1 direction, as shown in the middle figure. The right figure shows the allowed deformation for the boundary \tilde{S}_1 , which is in the imaginary w_2 direction.

since the hypercontour C is two dimensional, its boundary should be one dimensional. This implies that the boundary of the contour is not rigidly fixed: we are allowed to deform the boundary as long as it remains on the surface described by the equation \tilde{S} . See figure 4.

Since the allowed deformations are all constrained on a surface $\tilde{S}_i = 0$, the boundary of the contour cannot be deformed in the normal direction of the surface, which is described by the vector with components:

$$\frac{\partial \tilde{S}_i}{\partial \boldsymbol{w}} = \left(\frac{\partial \tilde{S}_i}{\partial w_1}, \frac{\partial \tilde{S}_i}{\partial w_2}\right). \tag{2.85}$$

Similarly, the singularities for the function $g(w_1, w_2, z_1, \ldots, z_n)$ are described by algebraic equations of the form:

$$S_i(w_1, w_2, z_1, \dots, z_n) = 0.$$
 (2.86)

Once again these are two dimensional surfaces, and their normal vectors are $\frac{\partial S_i}{\partial w}$. The singular surface in general may not be planar, since the equation $S_i = 0$ may not be linear.

Given a set of singular surfaces and boundary constraint surfaces, there are three ways where singularities can emerge from the integral $I(z_1, \ldots, z_n)$:

- A singular surface approaches the boundary of the hypercontour in the normal direction of a constraint surface, such that no deformation can be carried out to avoid the singular surface. This is analogous to the endpoint singularities in the one dimensional case.
- Two surfaces approaches each other from opposite sides of the hypercontour, and they pinch the hypercontour in between. This is analogous to the pinch singularities in the one dimensional case.
- A single surface may become locally cone-like and pinch the contour in the vertex of the cone, see figure 6. It is also a pinch singularity, but unlike the single integral variable case, only one singularity surface is involved. In this case, the normal vector near the vertex satisfies the following:

$$\frac{\partial S_i}{\partial \boldsymbol{w}} = 0. \tag{2.87}$$



Figure 5. As the boundary \tilde{S}_{2+} and \tilde{S}_{2-} can be deformed in the imaginary w_1 direction (indicated by the blue arrows in the figure), the contour can be deformed downwards to avoid the red surface approaching from above (along Im w_1). However, the boundary is fixed along Re w_2 , so the contour cannot be deformed to avoid the magenta surface approaching from that direction, which results in an endpoint singularity.



Figure 6. Consider a contour that can be deformed in the vertical direction (indicated by the blue arrows). In the left panel, the contour can deform downwards to avoid colliding with the red and magenta surfaces. However, if the surfaces approach from the opposite side as in the middle panel, a contour deformation cannot avoid the pinch. Finally, a cone like surfaces, such as that in the right panel, can pinch a contour on its own.

It is also possible to have multiple surfaces pinching the hypercontour, or multiple surfaces approaching the boundary of the hypercontour. In general, given a function of the form (2.81), a singularity can form if:

• For a subset I of the singularity surfaces and a subset \tilde{I} of boundary constraints, the following is satisfied:

1

$$S_i = \tilde{S}_j = 0 \ (i \in I, j \in \tilde{I}).$$

$$(2.88)$$

For amplitudes the analogous condition gives $p_i^2 = m_i^2$. Here *I* cannot be an empty set, but \tilde{I} can be empty.

• For some real and non-zero choice of a_i and \tilde{a}_j , the normal vectors of the singularity surfaces in subset I and boundary constraints in \tilde{I} must satisfy:

$$\sum_{i \in I} a_i \frac{\partial S_i}{\partial \boldsymbol{w}} + \sum_{j \in \tilde{I}} \tilde{a}_j \frac{\partial \tilde{S}_j}{\partial \boldsymbol{w}} = 0.$$
(2.89)

In other words, the normal vectors are linearly dependent. For amplitudes, this gives $\sum_{i} \alpha_{i} p_{i} = 0.$

These are the necessary conditions for the formation of singularities. However, these conditions are not sufficient: one needs to check whether the singularities actually appear. This is similar to the pseudo thresholds in amplitudes: the Landau analysis may predict singular points that are not present for physical configurations. We will see that something similar also occurs for wavefunction coefficients.

Feynman parameters. The constants a_i in the normal vector condition looks suspiciously like Feynman parameters in the usual Landau analysis. Indeed, if we consider the following integral:

$$\psi_n(\omega_1,\dots,\omega_n) = \int_{\mathbf{p}_1,\dots,\mathbf{p}_L} \left[\prod_{n=1}^{2V+L-2} \int_0^1 d\alpha_n \right] \frac{\delta(1-\sum \alpha_n)F}{(\sum_{j=1}^{2V+L-2} \alpha_j S_j)^{2V+L-2}},$$
(2.90)

we find the condition (2.89) again, but with a_i replaced by the Feynman parameters α_i . Just like for amplitudes, this does not introduce new singularities [1]. In contrast to a_i , which is just restricted to be non-zero, we have $\alpha_i \in [0, 1]$. This provides a stricter criterion for singularities to arise in ψ_n .

Example: massless two-vertex integral. As a first example let's consider the massless two-vertex integral (2.73), which can be written in the following form (see appendix A.3):

$$\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}(\omega_1,\omega_2) = \frac{1}{8\pi^2(\omega_1+\omega_2)k} \int_k^\infty dp_+ \int_{-k}^k dp_- \frac{(p_++p_-)(p_+-p_-)}{(\omega_1+\omega_2+p_++p_-)(\omega_1+p_+)(\omega_2+p_+)}.$$
(2.91)

The singular surfaces are:

$$S_1 = \omega_1 + p_+ = 0, \tag{2.92}$$

$$S_2 = \omega_2 + p_+ = 0, \tag{2.93}$$

$$S_3 = \omega_1 + \omega_2 + p_+ + p_- = 0. \tag{2.94}$$

In addition, the boundary is described by the following equations:

$$\tilde{S}_1 = p_+ - k = 0, \tag{2.95}$$

$$\tilde{S}_{2+} = p_- + k = 0, (2.96)$$

$$\tilde{S}_{2-} = p_{-} - k = 0. \tag{2.97}$$

As an example, consider:

$$S_3 = \tilde{S}_{2+} = \tilde{S}_1 = 0. (2.98)$$

Solving this gives $\omega_1 + \omega_2 = 0$. Now we check the normal-vector condition:

$$a_{3}\frac{\partial S_{3}}{\partial p_{+}} + \tilde{a}_{1}\frac{\partial \tilde{S}_{1}}{\partial p_{+}} + \tilde{a}_{2+}\frac{\partial \tilde{S}_{2+}}{\partial p_{+}} = a_{3} + \tilde{a}_{1} = 0, \qquad (2.99)$$

$$a_3 \frac{\partial S_3}{\partial p_-} + \tilde{a}_1 \frac{\partial \tilde{S}_1}{\partial p_-} + \tilde{a}_{2+} \frac{\partial \tilde{S}_{2+}}{\partial p_-} = a_3 + \tilde{a}_{2+} = 0.$$
(2.100)

Clearly this can be satisfied if $a_3 = -\tilde{a}_1 = -\tilde{a}_{2+}$. Going through the procedure for all combinations of the surfaces, we eventually find the following list of potential singularities:

$$S_1 = \tilde{S}_1 = 0 \Rightarrow \omega_1 = -k, \tag{2.101}$$

$$S_2 = \tilde{S}_1 = 0 \Rightarrow \omega_2 = -k, \tag{2.102}$$

$$S_3 = \tilde{S}_{2+} = \tilde{S}_1 = 0 \Rightarrow \omega_1 + \omega_2 = 0,$$
 (2.103)

$$S_3 = \tilde{S}_{2-} = \tilde{S}_1 = 0 \Rightarrow \omega_1 + \omega_2 = -2k,$$
 (2.104)

$$S_1 = S_2 = 0 \Rightarrow \omega_1 = \omega_2 \text{ (if } \omega_2 < -k\text{)}. \tag{2.105}$$

Notice this list is larger than the list of physical singularities. Let's examine these extra singularities:

- The $\omega_1 + \omega_2 = -2k$ singularity is not found in the expression (A.71). This suggests that the residue of the pole is vanishing. In appendix A we explore this further, and show that it vanishes due to the cancellation between two dilogarithms.
- For $S_2 = 0$, we must have $\omega_2 < -k$. Since we restrict ourselves to positive ω_2 , the pinch singularity from (2.105) is not visible in the complex ω_1 plane. This is linked to the fact that the integral has a finite value at $\omega_1 = \omega_2$ when $\omega_2 > -k$.

Example: massive two-vertex integral. The boundary of integration changes when the internal lines become massive. Consider the case where both internal lines have the same mass. The integral becomes:

$$\psi_{2}^{1-\text{loop}}(\omega_{1},\omega_{2}) = \frac{1}{8\pi^{2}(\omega_{1}+\omega_{2})k} \int_{\sqrt{k^{2}+4m^{2}}}^{\infty} d\Omega_{+} \int_{-k\delta}^{k\delta} d\Omega_{-} \frac{\Omega_{+}^{2}-\Omega_{-}^{2}}{(\omega_{1}+\omega_{2}+\Omega_{+}+\Omega_{-})(\omega_{1}+\Omega_{+})(\omega_{2}+\Omega_{+})}.$$
 (2.106)

Here we have:

$$\delta = \frac{\sqrt{\Omega_+^2 - k^2 - 4m^2}}{\sqrt{\Omega_+^2 - k^2}}.$$
(2.107)

The details on how to obtain and evaluate this integral are given in appendix A. Despite appearances, the boundary of the integration contour is described by only one equation:

$$\tilde{S} = (\Omega_+^2 - k^2)(\Omega_-^2 - k^2) + 4m^2k^2 = 0.$$
(2.108)

Here we have three singularity surfaces:

$$S_1 = \omega_1 + \omega_2 + \Omega_+ + \Omega_- = 0, \qquad (2.109)$$

$$S_2 = \omega_1 + \Omega_+, \tag{2.110}$$

$$S_3 = \omega_2 + \Omega_+. \tag{2.111}$$

Going through the Landau analysis again gives us the end-point singularity from a single surface:

$$S_2 = \tilde{S} = 0 \Rightarrow \omega_1 = -\sqrt{k^2 + 4m^2},$$
 (2.112)

$$S_1 = \tilde{S} = 0 \Rightarrow \omega_1 + \omega_2 = -2m. \tag{2.113}$$

We also have an end-point singularity from two surfaces:

$$S_1 = S_2 = \tilde{S} = 0 \Rightarrow \omega_1 = -k \frac{\sqrt{\omega_2^2 - k^2 - 4m^2}}{\sqrt{\omega_2^2 - k^2}}.$$
(2.114)

Here I have picked the negative solution so that S_1 can be satisfied, since Ω_+ is positive. However, this singularity is in fact spurious. To see that this is indeed the case, notice that the constraints $S_1 = S_2 = 0$ imply

$$\omega_2 + \Omega_- = 0. \tag{2.115}$$

Since $|\Omega_{-}| \leq k\delta \leq k$, we have $\omega_{2} \leq k$ in order for the singularity to appear. In fact one can check that $\omega_{2} < k$ unless we take $\omega_{1}^{2} \rightarrow \infty$. However, from the kinematics of the system, $\omega_{2} \geq k$. Therefore, as long as we restrict ourselves to values of ω_{2} that are physically allowed, we will not encounter this singularity. In appendix A we will see that this pole is indeed spurious.

Example: three vertex integral. For more complicated graphs it may prove difficult to write down variables like Ω_+ and Ω_- . Therefore it is instructive to understand how to carry out Landau analysis with the loop momentum **p**, and derive the singularities from our general arguments. We will use the three vertex integral as an example. The integral is:

$$\psi_{3}^{1-\text{loop}} = \int_{\mathbf{p}} \frac{1}{(\omega_{2} + \Omega_{q_{12}} + \Omega_{q_{23}})(\omega_{2} + \omega_{3} + \Omega_{q_{12}} + \Omega_{q_{31}})} \times \frac{1}{(\omega_{1} + \omega_{2} + \omega_{3} + 2\Omega_{q_{31}})(\omega_{1} + \Omega_{q_{12}} + \Omega_{q_{31}})(\omega_{3} + \Omega_{q_{23}} + \Omega_{q_{31}})}.$$
 (2.116)

Here I assume the masses of the internal lines are m. Now we will analytically continue in **p**. Since we are integrating over all **p** there is no boundary to the integration contour. The singularity surfaces are:

$$S_1 = \omega_2 + \Omega_{q_{12}} + \Omega_{q_{23}} = 0, \qquad (2.117)$$

$$S_2 = \omega_2 + \omega_3 + \Omega_{q_{12}} + \Omega_{q_{31}} = 0, \qquad (2.118)$$

$$S_3 = \omega_1 + \omega_2 + \omega_3 + 2\Omega_{q_{31}} = 0, \qquad (2.119)$$

$$S_4 = \omega_1 + \Omega_{q_{12}} + \Omega_{q_{31}} = 0, \qquad (2.120)$$

$$S_5 = \omega_3 + \Omega_{q_{23}} + \Omega_{q_{31}} = 0. \tag{2.121}$$

Since $\Omega_p = \sqrt{|\mathbf{p}|^2 + m^2}$, the singularity surfaces are not linear anymore. As a result a single surface can pinch a contour. As an example consider $S_3 = 0$. The normal vector condition gives:

$$\frac{\mathbf{q}_{31}}{\Omega_{q_{31}}} = \frac{\mathbf{p} - \mathbf{k}_1}{\Omega_{q_{31}}} = 0.$$
(2.122)

This is solved by $\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{k}_1$, and $\Omega_{q_{31}} = m$. Putting this back into $S_3 = 0$ gives:

$$\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \omega_3 = -2m. \tag{2.123}$$

Similarly, let us write down the rest of the single pinch singularities:

$$S_1 = 0 \Rightarrow \omega_2 + \sqrt{|\mathbf{k}_1|^2 + 4m^2} = 0,$$
 (2.124)

$$S_2 = 0 \Rightarrow \omega_2 + \omega_3 + \sqrt{|\mathbf{k}_1|^2 + 4m^2} = 0,$$
 (2.125)

$$S_4 = 0 \Rightarrow \omega_1 + \sqrt{|\mathbf{k}_1|^2 + 4m^2} = 0,$$
 (2.126)

$$S_5 = 0 \Rightarrow \omega_3 + \sqrt{|\mathbf{k}_3|^2 + 4m^2} = 0.$$
 (2.127)

This list of singularity is related to the list produced from our general argument, up to some permutation. Naturally, when we take the massless limit, this simply reproduces the list of singularities from the expression we computed.

Thresholds for massive fields. From the recursive relations for the wavefunction (2.77), the equations for the singularity surfaces have the following form:

$$S_i = \omega_1 + \sum_{e \in E} \omega_e + \sum_{i \in I} c_i \Omega_i, \qquad (2.128)$$

where E is a subset of external legs and I is a subset of internal legs and c_i being either 1 or 2. The form of these singularity surfaces comes from the recursion relations in section 2.1: each external energy can only appear once within the expression. Internal energy can only appear at most with a factor of 2, coming from cutting a loop diagram.

We will now show the following for massive fields:

Landau conditions for wavefunction coefficients

Given (2.128), the singularities corresponding to the energy-conservation condition are found by solving:

$$S_i = 0, (2.129)$$

$$\sum_{i \in I} c_i \frac{\partial \Omega_i}{\partial \mathbf{p}_l} = 0, \quad \forall \mathbf{p}_l \in \{\mathbf{p}\}.$$
(2.130)

We will analytically continue in the loop momentum $\mathbf{p}_l \in {\mathbf{p}}$ and carry out the Landau analysis. Since the numerator in the expression (2.77) is a sum of products of S_i and possibly powers of the momenta from spatial derivative interactions, to find singularities we can simply focus on the denominators, i.e., we simplify ψ_n until the numerator no longer contains any factor of S_i , we carry out the Landau analysis term by term and finally we sum over all the singularities of each individual term.

The full list of singularities from the Landau analysis includes:

- Endpoint singularities. Since we are integrating over all \mathbf{p}_l , there is no boundary for the hypercontour. As a result we cannot have endpoint singularities, in these integration variables.
- Pinching the contour with a single surface. By considering the cutting procedure in 2.1, it is clear that each S_i corresponds to the total energy entering a subgraph
of the Feynman diagram, and so solving $S_i = 0$ corresponds to energy conservation. In terms of the components of the loop momentum \mathbf{p}_l , the normal vector condition reads:

$$\frac{\partial S}{\partial \mathbf{p}_l} = 0 \Rightarrow \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{p}_l} \sum_{i \in I} c_i \Omega_i = 0.$$
(2.131)

Unlike the amplitude case, this equation can be consistent with setting only one $S_i = 0.^{13}$ In fact this equation is equivalent to extremizing $\sum_{i \in I} c_i \Omega_i$ with respect to the loop momentum p_i . Observe that for an arbitrary **k**,

$$\frac{\partial^2 \Omega_{|\mathbf{p}+\mathbf{k}|}}{\partial p_i \partial p_j} = \frac{\delta_{ij}}{\Omega_{|\mathbf{p}+\mathbf{k}|}} - \frac{(p+k)_i (p+k)_j}{\Omega_{|\mathbf{p}+\mathbf{k}|}^3}.$$
(2.132)

Since $\Omega_p > p^2 \ge 0$ this is a positive definite matrix. When we take the second derivative of $\sum_{i \in I} c_i \Omega_i$ we simply get a sum of positive definite matrices (with positive coefficients), and the resulting matrix is also positive definite. Therefore when we solve (2.131), the solution corresponds to a minimum.

Therefore, $S_i = 0$ satisfies:

$$\omega_1 = -\sum_{e \in E} \omega_e - \min_{p_l} \sum_{i \in I} c_i \Omega_i, \qquad (2.133)$$

where the minimization is with respect to all $\mathbf{p}_l \in {\mathbf{p}}$. This is exactly the type of singularities obtained by the energy-conservation condition in section 2.3.

• Pinches from multiple surfaces. Given two singularity surfaces S_1 and S_2 with subset of external legs E_1 and E_2 , either $E_1 \subseteq E_2$ or $E_2 \subseteq E_1$. This comes from the cutting procedure described in section 2.1: the set of external vertices in a cut diagram must be smaller after every cut. This property of S_i gives us a nice picture of what a multiple surface pinch would mean: the energy going into part of a diagram vanishes, and simultaneously the energy going into a subset of the diagram also vanishes.

At tree level, this type of singularity doesn't give us new poles in ω_1 . Instead, it tells us about non-analyticity in the other ω_e . This is because we can just take one of the singularity surfaces, say S_1 , to write down:

$$\omega_1 = -\sum_{e \in E_1} \omega_e - \sum_{i \in I_1} c_i \Omega_i.$$
(2.134)

This can then be used to remove any ω_1 dependence from the rest of the expression. Any further non-analyticities of the expression are a result of analytically continuing the other ω_e from their physically allowed values.

In the case of a two-vertex loop with massive fields, we used the Landau analysis and found that it can only occur for unphysical values of ω_2 , and by explicitly computing the integral we found that the singularity is indeed spurious.

¹³For amplitudes $S_i = p_i^2 - m_i^2 = 0$, and $\frac{\partial S_i}{\partial \mathbf{p}_l} = 2p_i = 0$. The normal vector condition requires $p_i = 0$ which is not possible if $S_i = 0$ as well.

However, it is difficult to prove that these multiple surface pinches are always spurious. In amplitudes, when we look at more complicated graphs, such as the three-vertex graph, we discover that for certain external kinematics there are singularities known as anomalous thresholds. It might be possible that by looking at multiple surface pinches for the three-vertex graph we may discover new singularities similar to these anomalous thresholds, however we leave this for future work.

Using Landau analysis, we have successfully derived the list of singular points from our physical argument in 2.3. Once again, the full list of singularities from Landau analysis is over-complete, but these extra poles are (likely) removable by considering the external kinematics.

Thresholds for massless fields. If we attempt to directly extend the proof above to the case of massless particles, we run into the following issues even for single pinch singularities:

• Since $\Omega_{p_l} = |\mathbf{p}_l|$, when we take derivative to obtain the normal vector condition, we get $\frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{p}_l} \Omega_{|p_l|} = \frac{\mathbf{p}_l}{|\mathbf{p}_l|}$. For $\mathbf{p}_l = 0$ this is ill-defined. To deal with this problem one needs to regulate Ω_{p_l} properly. An example would be introducing artificial boundaries of integration so that $|\mathbf{p}_l|$ never reaches zero, for example:

$$\tilde{S} = |\mathbf{p}_l| - \epsilon = 0, \tag{2.135}$$

then take ϵ to zero. However, doing this procedure also introduces spurious singularities, such as the $\omega_1 + \omega_2 = -2k$ pole found in the two-vertex example.

- When we take the second derivative of $\Omega_{|\mathbf{p}+\mathbf{k}|}$, the result is:

$$\frac{\partial^2 |\mathbf{p} + \mathbf{k}|}{\partial p_i \partial p_j} = \frac{\delta_{ij}}{|\mathbf{p} + \mathbf{k}|} - \frac{(p+k)_i (p+k)_j}{|\mathbf{p} + \mathbf{k}|^3}.$$
(2.136)

This is only positive semi-definite, rather than positive definite. Therefore, the solution may not be a minimum.

For the massless case, the Landau analysis would provide us with a list that matches our physical intuition in 2.3, with some extra singularities. This is analogous to the case in amplitudes, where we get extra soft/collinear singularities for massless particles. The $\omega_1 + \omega_2 = -2k$ pole in the two-vertex example above is one such singularity. In that case the residue is zero, so it does not give rise to new poles or branch cuts.

In the wavefunction coefficients we computed explicitly, these extra singularities always cancels. We believe this to be the case for any wavefunction coefficients for massless particle, however we will leave the proof of this statement for future research.

3 UV/IR sum rules

In this section, we derive a *dispersion relation* for the (off-shell) wavefunction coefficients by analytically continuing one of the energies while keeping all remaining kinematics fixed. This dispersion relation can be used to fix the low-energy expansion of the wavefunction in terms of precise integrals of (the discontinuity of) the complete high-energy wavefunction, hence providing a set of UV/IR sum rules for the wavefunction. We provide explicit expressions for these sum rules for all Wilson coefficients up to mass-dimension-8 in the effective field theory of a single scalar field. Finally, we contrast and compare these results with the sum rules that one would obtain from the study of scattering amplitudes.

3.1 The effective field theory wavefunction

Our goal is to use analyticity as a bridge between the low-energy effective field theory (EFT) and its underlying UV-completion. As a first step then, we should specify precisely what we mean by a low-energy EFT in the language of wavefunction coefficients.

Recall that for amplitudes, given a bulk light field Φ and a bulk heavy field X, amplitudes for Φ can be computed using the generating functional:

$$Z[J] = \int [d\Phi][dX] e^{iS_{\rm UV}[\Phi,X] + i\int_x J(x)\Phi(x)}.$$
(3.1)

The heavy field can be integrated out by the following procedure to obtain action for the EFT:

$$e^{iS_{\rm EFT}[\Phi]} = \int [dX] \, e^{iS_{\rm UV}[\Phi,X]}.\tag{3.2}$$

We can carry out a similar procedure for the wavefunction. Consider the wavefunction specified by the path integral for the fields Φ and X. The boundary conditions to the past correspond to the Bunch-Davies vacuum. The path integral is a functional of the field boundary conditions to the future $\Phi(t_*) = \phi$ and $X(t_*) = \chi$:

$$\Psi[\phi, \chi; t_*] = \int_{\text{BD}}^{\Phi(t_*) = \phi} [d\Phi] \int_{\text{BD}}^{X(t_*) = \chi} [dX] e^{S_{\text{UV}}[\Phi, X; t_*]},$$
(3.3)

where for some Lagrangian \mathcal{L} we defined:

$$S_{\rm UV}[\Phi, X; t_*] = \int_{-\infty}^{t_*} dt \, \mathcal{L}[\Phi, X] \,. \tag{3.4}$$

The path integral is then the transition amplitude between the Bunch-Davies vacuum $|BD\rangle_{\Phi} \otimes |BD\rangle_X$ and the field eigenstate $|\phi\rangle_{\Phi} \otimes |\chi\rangle_X$. To define the EFT wavefunction we focus on this wavefunction:

$$\Psi[\phi, 0; t_*] = \int_{\text{BD}}^{\Phi(t_*) = \phi} [d\Phi] \int_{\text{BD}}^{X(t_*) = 0} [dX] e^{S_{\text{UV}}[\Phi, X; t_*]},$$

i.e. the wavefunction with the heavy field set to zero at $t = t_*$,¹⁴ and compute its wavefunction coefficients in powers of ϕ . The coefficients of the perturbative expansion of $\Psi[\phi, 0; t_*]$ in powers of ϕ computed with the interactions of the UV action $S_{\rm UV}[\Phi, X; t_*]$ is what we call

¹⁴One may ask whether this is the most physically relevant quantity to compute. For example, in an EFT with cutoff Λ we might have to average the value of wavefunction in an interval $t^* \pm \Lambda^{-1}$. We postpone this issue to the conclusions and to future work.

the UV wavefunction coefficients $\psi_{\rm UV}$:

$$\Psi[\phi, 0; t_*] = \int_{BD}^{\Phi(t_*)=\phi} [d\Phi] \int_{BD}^{X(t_*)=0} [dX] e^{S_{UV}[\Phi, X; t_*]} = \exp\left[+ \sum_n^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\mathbf{k}_1, \dots, \mathbf{k}_n} (2\pi)^3 \delta^{(3)} \left(\sum_a^n \mathbf{k}_a \right) \psi_{UV}^{(n)}(\{\mathbf{k}\}; t_*) \phi(\mathbf{k}_1) \dots \phi(\mathbf{k}_n) \right].$$
(3.5)

For this wavefunction, we can write down an EFT just like for amplitudes:

$$e^{iS_{\rm EFT}[\Phi;t_*]} = \int_{\rm BD}^{X(t_*)=0} [dX] \, e^{S_{\rm UV}[\Phi,X;t_*]}.$$
(3.6)

Crucially, this $S_{\text{EFT}}[\Phi, t_*]$ can be expanded as a series of local interactions for Φ and its derivatives, which at low energies (small derivatives) can be truncated at a finite nuber of terms. The EFT wavefunction coefficients $\psi_{\text{EFT}}(\omega_i, \{\mathbf{k}_j\})$ are then obtained from expanding in powers of ϕ the wavefunction $\Psi[\phi, 0; t_*]$ computed from the truncated EFT action:

$$\Psi[\phi, 0; t_*] = \int_{\text{BD}}^{\Phi(t_*)=\phi} [d\Phi] e^{iS_{\text{EFT}}[\Phi; t_*]} = \exp\left[+ \sum_n^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\mathbf{k}_1, \dots, \mathbf{k}_n} (2\pi)^3 \delta^{(3)} \left(\sum_a^n \mathbf{k}_a \right) \psi_{\text{EFT}}^{(n)}(\{\mathbf{k}\}; t_*) \phi(\mathbf{k}_1) \dots \phi(\mathbf{k}_n) \right].$$
(3.7)

At low energies, where the truncation made in S_{EFT} is valid, the ψ_{EFT} coefficients coincide with the true ψ_{UV} coefficients. As the energy is increased, eventually the derivative expansion in $S_{\text{EFT}}[\Phi; t_*]$ breaks down and one must "UV complete" the EFT by returning to the $S_{\text{UV}}[\Phi, X; t_*]$ — physically this corresponds to having enough energy to excite heavy X fluctuations (which are then not faithfully captured by an S_{EFT} involving only light degrees of freedom).

There is a crucial difference between this EFT for the wavefunction and the EFT for amplitudes: the boundary condition for the fields are different. This comes from the new $t = t_*$ boundary we introduced for the wavefunction. As a result we need to keep track of both total derivatives in time and of terms proportional to the equations of motion. To this end we separate the EFT action into a bulk and a boundary term localized at t_* :

$$S_{\rm EFT}[\Phi; t_*] = \int_{-\infty}^{t_*} dt \int d^3 \mathbf{x} (\mathcal{L}_{\rm EFT}^{\rm bulk}[\Phi, \partial_{\mu}] + \partial_t \mathcal{L}_{\rm EFT}^{\rm boundary}[\phi, \partial_{\mu}, \partial_t]).$$
(3.8)

All total derivatives in time have been collected into $\partial_t \mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}^{\text{boundary}}$, so that $\mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}^{\text{bulk}}$ is constructed in the usual way (with the freedom to integrate by parts). Notice that our formalism applies to both Lorentz-invariant theories as well as to theories that break boosts, explicitly or spontaneously. For concreteness our examples will include Lorentz invariant interactions in the bulk and non-boost invariant time and spatial derivatives will appear only in $\mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}^{\text{boundary}}$.

3.2 A wavefunction dispersion relation

We have now defined the low-energy EFT approximation, ψ_{EFT} , to the full wavefunction coefficient. The question which we wish to address next is: what information about the underlying UV physics can be gleaned from a measurement/calculation of this EFT object?



Figure 7. Deformed contour for dispersion relations. There is a branch point at $z = z_1$ and a branch cut on the negative real axis. There are isolated poles at $z = z_2$ and $z = z_3$.

Analyticity and the dispersion relation. The analytic properties that we developed in 2 can give a very concrete answer to this question. The reason is that complex analytic functions are very constrained: they are all but completely fixed by their singularities and asymptotics via Cauchy's theorem. One can use said theorem to recover the value of a function f(z) at a point $z = z_0$ using a closed contour integral:

$$f(z_0) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_C \frac{f(z)}{z - z_0},$$
(3.9)

where C is a counter-clockwise contour around the pole at $z = z_0$ (and contains no further singularities).

Now imagine we expand C until we start intersecting poles and branch cuts of f(z). We need to deform the contour to properly defined the integral (3.9). In particular, we have three different contributions to the deformed contour C_R as shown in figure 7:

- (i) The isolated poles z_i of f(z). The deformed contour wraps clockwise around the poles of f(z).
- (ii) The branch cuts of f(z). The contour runs above and below the branch cut, and is therefore proportional to the *discontinuity* of the function along the cut, where,

disc
$$f(z) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left[f(z + i\epsilon) - f(z - i\epsilon) \right]$$
. (3.10)

(iii) the arc at infinity C_R . Once the contour is made arbitrarily large, we can identify this contribution with the residue of the pole at infinity.

This expresses the right-hand side of (3.9) as a sum of three terms:

$$f(z_0) = -\sum_{z_i} \underbrace{\operatorname{Res}_{z=z_i} \left(\frac{f(z)}{z - z_0} \right)}_{\text{isolated poles}} + \underbrace{\int \frac{dz}{2\pi i} \frac{\operatorname{disc}(f(z))}{z - z_0}}_{\text{branch cut}} + \underbrace{\operatorname{Res}_{\infty} \left(\frac{f(z)}{z - z_0} \right)}_{\text{Pole at infinity}}.$$
 (3.11)

Note that if one defines the "discontinuity" of an isolated pole as disc $(1/(z-z_i)) = -2\pi i \delta(z-z_i)$, then the first term can be absorbed into the second.

Wavefunction dispersion relation. We can apply these considerations to the offshell wavefunction coefficients $\psi_n(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\})$ taken as analytic functions of a single complex variable ω_1 , while holding all the other kinematics fixed. As we have discussed, singularities in $\psi_n(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\})$ can only exist on the negative real axis of ω_1 . This allows us to write (3.11) as:

$$\omega_T \psi(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\})\big|_{\omega_1 = \omega_1'} = \int_{-\infty}^0 \frac{d\omega_1}{2\pi i} \frac{\operatorname{disc}\left(\omega_T \psi(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\})\right)}{\omega_1 - \omega_1'} + \operatorname{Res}_{\omega_1 = \infty}\left(\frac{\omega_T \psi_n(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\})}{\omega_1 - \omega_1'}\right).$$
(3.12)

This is our central application of analyticity: it allows us to connect every Wilson coefficient appearing in \mathcal{L}_{EFT} to an integral over the wavefunction of the underlying UV theory.

UV/IR sum rules. The idea is to expand the left-hand-side of (3.12) at low energy/momenta, where it can be computed using the low-energy \mathcal{L}_{EFT} . This expansion can then be matched, order-by-order, to particular high-energy integrals on the right-hand-side. To this end, we define the UV integral,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{UV}}^{(N)}(\{\omega_{a\neq1}\},\{\mathbf{k}\}) = \int_{-\infty}^{0} \frac{d\omega_{1}}{2\pi i} \frac{\operatorname{disc}\left[\omega_{T}\psi(\{\omega\},\{\mathbf{k}\})\right]}{\omega_{1}^{N+1}} + \operatorname{Res}_{\omega_{1}=\infty}\left(\frac{\omega_{T}\psi(\{\omega\},\{\mathbf{k}\})}{\omega_{1}^{N+1}}\right). \quad (3.13)$$

The low-energy expansion of (3.12) can then be written compactly as,

$$\frac{1}{N!} \partial_{\omega_1}^N(\omega_T \psi_{\rm EFT}) \big|_{\omega_1 = 0} = \mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(N)}(\{\omega_{a \neq 1}\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}).$$
(3.14)

Since the EFT does not distinguish between ω_1 and the other kinematic variables, this equation should be further expanded in powers of each of the $\omega_{a\neq 1}$ and \mathbf{k}_a . In the next subsection, we explicitly construct the EFT for the wavefunction of a scalar field up to fourth order in derivatives, and show how (3.14) relates each Wilson coefficient to a particular UV integral, $\mathcal{I}_{UV}^{(N)}$.

3.3 Example: a light scalar

Let us illustrate these new sum rules using the EFT for a light scalar field Φ on a fixed Minkowski background.

An EFT basis for quartic interactions. Once total derivatives and terms proportional to the free equations of motion are included, the list of possible interactions grows rapidly with increasing mass-dimension. Rather than construct the most general possible EFT, we will focus on a particular subset of interactions which illustrates our sum rules simply and yet remains general enough to capture simple tree-level UV completions (of which we give an example in section 4). Firstly, we focus on quartic interactions: these would be the leading interactions in any theory with an approximate \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry, $\Phi \to -\Phi$. We truncate the EFT at mass-dimension-8, which means we only include interactions with up to four (three) derivatives in the bulk (boundary) Lagrangian, and further assume that Lorentz symmetry is broken only by the boundary interactions. Finally, we focus on specific interactions of the factorised form $\mathcal{D}_1 \Phi^2 \mathcal{D}_2 \Phi^2$, where \mathcal{D}_1 and \mathcal{D}_2 are differential operators. Altogether, this gives the following EFT basis of interactions:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm EFT}^{\rm bulk}[\Phi,\partial_{\mu}] \supset \frac{\alpha_{0}}{4!} \Phi^{4} + \frac{\alpha_{2}}{4} \Phi^{2} \Box \Phi^{2} + \frac{\alpha_{4}}{4} \Phi^{2} \Box^{2} \Phi^{2} + \mathcal{O}(\partial^{6}),$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm EFT}^{\rm boundary}[\Phi(t_{*}),\partial_{\mu},\partial_{t}] \supset \frac{\beta_{00}}{4!} \Phi^{4}(t_{*}) - \frac{\beta_{11}}{4} \Phi^{2}(t_{*})\partial_{t} \Phi^{2}(t_{*}) + \frac{\beta_{20}}{4} \Phi^{2}(t_{*}) \Box \Phi^{2}(t_{*}) + \frac{\beta_{22}}{4} \Phi^{2}(t_{*})\partial_{t}^{2} \Phi^{2}(t_{*}) - \frac{\beta_{31}}{4} \Phi^{2}(t_{*})\partial_{t} \Box \Phi^{2}(t_{*}) - \frac{\beta_{31}}{4} \Box \Phi^{2}(t_{*})\partial_{t} \Phi^{2}(t_{*}) + \mathcal{O}(\partial^{4}),$$
(3.15)

where the α_a 's are the free Wilson coefficients of bulk interactions and the β_{ab} 's are free Wilson coefficients of boundary interactions. The first label on β counts the total number of derivatives, while the second counts the number of derivatives that are not Lorentz invariant (such as ∂_t and ∂_i^2).

EFT wavefunction. We can use (3.15) to compute the tree-level four-point wavefunction coefficient up to fourth order in the momenta/energy. Even though we consider contact interactions, it is convenient to separate contributions into s, t and u "channels" according to the partial energies on which they depend:

$$\psi_{\rm EFT}(\{\omega\},\{\mathbf{k}\}) = \delta^d(\mathbf{k}_T)(\psi'_{\rm EFT}(\omega_{12},\omega_{34},\mathbf{k}_s) + \psi'_{\rm EFT}(\omega_{13},\omega_{23},\mathbf{k}_t) + \psi'_{\rm EFT}(\omega_{14},\omega_{24},\mathbf{k}_u)).$$
(3.16)

An explicit calculation gives:

$$\psi'(\omega_{12},\omega_{34},\mathbf{k}_s) = \frac{1}{\omega_T} \left[\frac{1}{3} \alpha_0 + \alpha_2(s_{12} + s_{34}) + \alpha_4(s_{12}^2 + s_{34}^2) \right] + \frac{i}{3} \beta_{00} + \beta_{11} \omega_T + i\beta_{20}(s_{12} + s_{34}) + i2\beta_{22}\mathbf{k}_s^2 + \beta_{31}(s_{12}\omega_{12} + s_{34}\omega_{34}) + \beta_{31}'(s_{12}\omega_{34} + s_{34}\omega_{12}) + \mathcal{O}(p^5).$$
(3.17)

We have defined:

$$\mathbf{k}_{s} = \mathbf{k}_{1} + \mathbf{k}_{2}, \qquad \mathbf{k}_{t} = \mathbf{k}_{1} + \mathbf{k}_{3}, \qquad \mathbf{k}_{u} = \mathbf{k}_{1} + \mathbf{k}_{4},
\omega_{ij} = \omega_{i} + \omega_{j}, \qquad \mathbf{k}_{ij} = \mathbf{k}_{i} + \mathbf{k}_{j}, \qquad s_{ij} = \omega_{ij}^{2} - \mathbf{k}_{ij}^{2}. \qquad (3.18)$$

Sum rules. The sum rules in (3.14) can be used to fix each of the low-energy Wilson coefficients in (3.15) in terms of an integral over the UV completion of the EFT. Concretely, proceeding order-by-order in derivatives:

• At mass-dimension-4, there is a single bulk interaction in \mathcal{L}_{EFT} with Wilson coefficient α_0 . The corresponding sum rule follows from evaluating (3.12) at all $\omega_a = k_a = 0$,

$$\alpha_0 = \mathcal{I}_{\text{UV}}^{(0)}\left(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}\right) \Big|_{\substack{\omega_a = 0\\ \mathbf{k}_a = 0}},\tag{3.19}$$

• At mass-dimension-5, there is a single boundary interaction in the EFT, with coefficient β_{00} . The corresponding sum rule follows from evaluating the ∂_{ω_1} of (3.12) at all $\omega_a = k_a = 0$,

$$i\beta_{00} = \mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(1)}\left(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}\right)\Big|_{\substack{\omega_a = 0\\ \mathbf{k}_a = 0}},\tag{3.20}$$

• At mass-dimension-6, there are two interactions, with Wilson coefficients α_2 and β_{11} . The corresponding sum rules follow from evaluating the $\partial_{\omega_1}^2$ and $\partial_{\omega_2}\partial_{\omega_1}$ of (3.12) at all $\omega_a = k_a = 0$,

$$3(\alpha_2 + \beta_{11}) = \mathcal{I}_{\text{UV}}^{(2)}(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) \Big|_{\substack{\omega_a = 0\\ \mathbf{k}_a = 0}},$$
(3.21)

$$2(\alpha_2 + 3\beta_{11}) = \partial_{\omega_2} \mathcal{I}_{\text{UV}}^{(1)}(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) \Big|_{\substack{\omega_a = 0\\ \mathbf{k}_a = 0}},$$
(3.22)

• At mass-dimension-7 there are two boundary interactions, with Wilson coefficients β_{20} and β_{22} . The corresponding sum rules follow from evaluating $\partial_{\omega_1}^3$ and $\partial_{\omega_1} \partial_{k_s}^2$ of (3.12) at all $\omega_a = k_a = 0$,

$$3i\beta_{20} = \mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(3)}\left(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}\right)\Big|_{\substack{\omega_a=0\\\mathbf{k}_a=0}},\tag{3.23}$$

$$-4i(\beta_{20} - \beta_{22}) = \partial_{k_s}^2 \mathcal{I}_{\text{UV}}^{(1)}(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) \Big|_{\substack{\omega_a = 0\\ \mathbf{k}_a = 0}},$$
(3.24)

• At mass-dimension-8, there are three EFT interactions, with Wilson coefficients $\{\alpha_4, \beta_{31}, \beta'_{31}\}$. The corresponding sum rules follow from evaluating $\partial^4_{\omega_1}$, $\partial^2_{\omega_1}\partial_{\omega_2}\partial_{\omega_3}$ and $\partial_{\omega_1}\partial_{\omega_2}\partial_{\omega_3}\partial_{\omega_4}$ of (3.12) at all $\omega_a = k_a = 0$,

$$3(\alpha_4 + \beta_{31}) = \mathcal{I}_{\text{UV}}^{(4)}(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) \big|_{\substack{\omega_a = 0\\ \mathbf{k}_a = 0}},$$
(3.25)

$$6\beta_{31} + 10\beta'_{31} = \partial_{\omega_2}\partial_{\omega_3}\mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(2)}(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) \Big|_{\substack{\omega_a = 0\\ \mathbf{k}_a = 0}},\tag{3.26}$$

$$24\beta_{31}' = \partial_{\omega_2}\partial_{\omega_3}\partial_{\omega_4}\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{UV}}^{(1)}\left(\{\omega\},\{\mathbf{k}\}\right)\Big|_{\substack{\omega_a=0\\\mathbf{k}_a=0}}.$$
(3.27)

These sum rules can be similarly applied to any desired order in the EFT expansion, determining every Wilson coefficient in \mathcal{L}_{EFT} . Note in particular that the boundary interactions and the bulk interactions contribute on an equal footing. For instance, the sum rule (3.21) can only unambiguously fix the bulk Wilson coefficient once supplemented with (3.22)—generally at a given order in derivatives one requires all independent sum rules in order to solve for a particular Wilson coefficient.

3.4 Comparison with amplitude sum rules

Amplitude sum rules have been extensively studied in the literature and have proven to be very useful in the study of EFTs. However, the amplitudes sum rules differ in two fundamental aspect from the wavefunction sum rules we have derived above:

- The LSZ formula reduces the number of possible EFT interaction vertices in the bulk. For example terms like $\Phi^2 \Box \Phi^2$ will not be present as they are proportional to the equations of motion.
- The scattering process takes place between asymptotically free past and future states. This means that one can discard total derivative interactions in the bulk, and that the EFT vertices on the time slice $t = t_*$ will not play a role.

Therefore, the EFT expansion for amplitudes $S_{\text{EFT}}^{\text{amp}}[\Phi]$ only involves the bulk Lagrangian from (3.8) action:

$$S_{\rm EFT}^{\rm amp}[\Phi] = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dt \int d^3x \, \mathcal{L}_{\rm EFT}^{\rm bulk}[\Phi, \partial_{\mu}].$$
(3.28)

As a consequence of the above considerations, fewer operators need to be considered, namely

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm EFT}^{\rm bulk}[\Phi,\partial_{\mu}] \supset \frac{\alpha_0}{4!} \Phi^4 + \frac{\alpha_4}{4} \Phi^2 \Box^2 \Phi^2 + \mathcal{O}(\partial^6).$$
(3.29)

From these interactions we can obtain the leading terms for the $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering amplitude,

$$A(s,t) = \alpha_0 + 2\alpha_4(s^2 + t^2 + u^2) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha_6 p^6).$$
(3.30)

The analyticity for the scattering amplitude A(s,t) in the complex s plane allows us to write a dispersion relation for A(s,t) and its derivatives. Using these we find that:

$$\alpha_0 = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{ds}{2\pi i} \frac{\operatorname{disc}(A(s,t=0))}{s} + \operatorname{Res}_{\infty} \left(\frac{\operatorname{disc}(A(s,t=0))}{s}\right), \quad (3.31)$$

$$4\alpha_4 = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{ds}{2\pi i} \frac{\operatorname{disc}(A(s,t=0))}{s^3} + \operatorname{Res}_{\infty} \left(\frac{\operatorname{disc}(A(s,t=0))}{s^3}\right).$$
(3.32)

Therefore, we can see that the amplitudes' sum rules only capture a reduced set of the possible EFT interactions. Not every interaction that contributes to the wavefunction may appear in the scattering amplitude, whilst all interactions that contribute to the amplitude do appear in the wavefunction coefficients.¹⁵

In the case of boundary interactions, the best case is the comparison of the sum rules for α_4 from amplitudes (3.32) with that from wavefunction coefficients (3.25). Whilst the amplitude sum rule only includes information about the EFT interaction $\Phi^2 \Box^2 \Phi^2$, the wavefunction one also includes information about $\Phi^2 \partial_t \Box^2 \Phi^2|_{t=t_*}$. For interactions proportional to the equations of motion, like $\Phi^2 \Box \Phi^2$, the amplitudes sum rules are oblivious. It requires us to look at wavefunction sum rules like (3.21) and (3.22) to constrain the value for the Wilson coefficients of $\Phi^2 \Box \Phi^2$ and $\Phi^2 \partial_t \Phi^2|_{t=t_*}$.

4 Example UV completions

In this section, we evaluate and check our proposed sum rules in a simple UV-completion of the single-scalar low-energy effective theory presented above. We do this both for a tree-level process and for a one-loop process in the UV-completion of effective theory to show cases in which both poles and branch points arise.

4.1 UV-completion: a tree-level example

Consider a toy UV model of two scalars: a light field Φ and a heavy field X, which interact via a coupling of the form $gM\Phi^2X$, so that the complete renormalisable Lagragian is:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm UV}[\Phi, X] = -\frac{1}{2} (\partial \Phi)^2 - \frac{1}{2} m^2 \Phi^2 - \frac{1}{2} (\partial X)^2 - \frac{1}{2} M^2 X^2 - g M \Phi^2 X \,. \tag{4.1}$$

¹⁵This is necessary since in the limit $\omega_T \to 0$ the Minkowski wavefunction coefficients coincide with scattering amplitudes.

We aim to study the EFT of the light field Φ at energies well below the mass M of the heavy field X. At tree level, it is enough to integrate out the heavy field X using the classical equations of motion and substitute back into the action:

$$(\Box - M^2)X = gM\Phi^2.$$
(4.2)

The solution in momentum space with boundary conditions $\bar{X}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}}$ in the past and $\bar{X}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{out}}$ in the future are:

$$X_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{sol}}(t) = \frac{f_k(t)}{f_k(t_*)} \bar{X}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}} + \frac{f_k^*(t)}{f_k^*(t_*)} \bar{X}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{out}} - gM \frac{\int_{\mathbf{p}} \Phi_{\mathbf{p}}(t) \Phi_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{p}}(t)}{\partial_t^2 + \mathbf{k}^2 + M^2},$$
(4.3)

where $f_k(t)$ are the mode functions of the heavy scalar X with $f_k(t) = e^{-i\Omega_k t}/\sqrt{2\Omega_k}$ and $\Omega_k^2 = \mathbf{k}^2 + M^2$. The first two terms correspond to the homogeneous solution of the equation of motion. The third term corresponds accounts for the coupling to the $\Phi^2(t)$ source.

In order to derive the Wilson coefficients from the action we need to substitute the equations of motion for the heavy field into the original action. For generic boundary conditions, i.e. for both amplitudes and wavefunction coefficients, evaluating the action on the X given in (4.3) gives:

$$S_{\rm EFT}[\Phi, X^{\rm sol}] = \int dt \, d^3x \left[-\frac{1}{2} (\partial \Phi)^2 - \frac{1}{2} m^2 \Phi^2 - \frac{1}{2} g M \Phi^2 X - \frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu (X \partial^\mu X) \right].$$
(4.4)

To make progress we have to choose boundary conditions. These are different depending on whether we discuss amplitudes or wavefunction coefficients. Let's study each case in turn.

Amplitudes. Amplitudes are related by the LSZ reduction formula to an in-vacuum to out-vacuum Green's function. This choice corresponds to $\bar{X}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}} = 0$ and $\bar{X}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{out}} = 0$, and similarly for Φ . This leads to

$$X_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{sol}}(t) = -gM \frac{\int_{\mathbf{p}} \Phi_{\mathbf{p}}(t) \Phi_{\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{p}}(t)}{\partial_t^2 + \mathbf{k}^2 + M^2} \quad \Rightarrow \quad X^{\mathrm{sol}}(t,\mathbf{k}) = \int_{\mathbf{k}} e^{i\mathbf{k}\mathbf{x}} X_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{sol}}(t) = \frac{gM}{\Box - M^2} \Phi^2(t,\mathbf{x}) \,.$$

$$\tag{4.5}$$

When substituted back into the on-shell action the boundary term vanishes and we find

$$S_{\rm EFT}^{\rm amp}[\Phi, X^{\rm sol}(\Phi)] = \int dt \, d^3x \left[-\frac{1}{2} (\partial \Phi)^2 - \frac{1}{2} m^2 \Phi^2 - \frac{1}{2} g^2 M^2 \Phi^2 \frac{1}{\Box - M^2} \Phi^2 \right].$$
(4.6)

This action is clearly non-local. However, in the regime $M^2 \gg \Box$ we can approximate it as a series of local operators. This leads to the EFT vertices that reproduce the EFT interactions in (3.29):

$$S_{\rm EFT}^{\rm amp}[\Phi] = \int dt \, d^3x \left[-\frac{1}{2} (\partial \Phi)^2 - \frac{1}{2} m^2 \Phi^2 + \frac{1}{2} g^2 M^2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \Phi^2 \left(\frac{\Box}{M^2} \right)^n \Phi^2 \right].$$
(4.7)

Note $\Phi^2 \Box \Phi^2$ does not contribute to any scattering amplitude as it is proportional to the equations of motion. Therefore, even though it appears in the action it cannot be captured by the amplitude sum rules. For this particular UV-completion, the Wilson coefficients in (3.29) can be read off from (4.7):

$$\alpha_0 = 12g^2, \ \alpha_2 = \frac{2g^2}{M^2}, \ \alpha_4 = \frac{2g^2}{M^4}, \ \dots$$
 (4.8)

Wavefunction coefficients. For wavefunction coefficients the boundary conditions are different from those of amplitudes because for the "out" state we project onto a field eigenstate at some finite time, as opposed to a state of free particles in the infinite future. This leads to additional EFT interactions as we now show. The right boundary conditions are now $\bar{X}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{in}} = 0$ and $'X_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{sol}}(t_*) = 0$, and hence

$$X^{\rm sol}(t) = \bar{X}^{\rm out} e^{i\Omega(t-t_*)} + gM \frac{\Phi^2(t)}{\Box - M^2}, \qquad \qquad \bar{X}^{\rm out} = -gM \frac{\Phi^2(t_*)}{\Box - M^2}, \qquad (4.9)$$

where $\Omega = \sqrt{k^2 + M^2}$ is fixed by the dispersion relation for the momentum of X or equivalently Φ^2 . Notice that since X(t) = 0 at $t = t_*$ and at $t = -\infty(1 - i\epsilon)$, the total derivative term in (4.4) vanishes. For the other terms in (4.4) we can split the result into bulk and boundary contributions as we did in (3.8). This is simplified by the fact that the on-shell action is linear in X:

$$S_{\text{EFT}}^{t_*}[\Phi] = S_{\text{EFT}}[\Phi, X^{\text{sol}}] = S_{\text{EFT}}^{\text{bulk}}[\Phi] + S_{\text{EFT}}^{\text{bdy}}[\Phi].$$
(4.10)

To compute each term we notice that the relative factor between the kinetic term and the cubic interaction is different in the action (4.4) from what appears in the equations of motion (4.2). This means that we have the choice to use the equations of motion for X to eliminate either the kinetic term or the cubic interaction. Here we choose to eliminate the latter, finding

$$S_{\rm EFT}[\Phi, X^{\rm sol}] \supset \int dt \, d^3x \left[-\frac{1}{2} X^{\rm sol} (\Box - M^2) X^{\rm sol} \right]. \tag{4.11}$$

This has four contributions from squaring the two terms in X in (4.9). The contribution from squaring the second term in (4.9) gives the bulk interactions

$$S_{\rm EFT}^{\rm bulk} \supset \int d^3x dt \ -\frac{1}{2}g^2 M^2 \Phi^2 \frac{1}{\Box - M^2} \Phi^2 \,,$$
 (4.12)

where $\Box - M^2$ cancelled out with $(\Box - M^2)^{-1}$. Now notice that the first term in (4.9) is a solution of the homogeneous equations of motion and so it is annihilated by $\Box - M^2$. Hence, of the remaining three terms the only survivor is the one where $\Box - M^2$ hits Φ^2 ,

$$S_{\rm EFT}^{\rm bdy}[\Phi] = -\int d^3x dt \, \frac{1}{2} \bar{X}^{\rm out} e^{i\Omega(t-t_*)} (\Box - M^2) g M \frac{\Phi^2}{\Box - M^2} \,. \tag{4.13}$$

One could choose to simplify $\Box - M^2$ but then one has to compute the time integral. Instead here we integrate by part twice to move $\Box - M^2$ onto the first factor. Since again that factor is annihilated by $\Box - M^2$ the only contribution comes from the boundary terms in the first and second integration by parts in time. They combine into

$$S_{\rm EFT}^{\rm bdy} = \int d^3x \, \frac{1}{2} g M \bar{X}^{\rm out} \left(\partial_t - i\Omega\right) \frac{\Phi^2(t_*)}{\Box - M^2} \tag{4.14}$$

$$= \int d^3x \, \frac{ig^2 M^2}{2} \frac{\Phi^2(t_*)}{\Box - M^2} \left(i\partial_t + \Omega\right) \frac{\Phi^2(t_*)}{\Box - M^2} \,, \tag{4.15}$$

where we used (4.9) to substitute for \bar{X}^{out} .

To obtain the local EFT interactions we expand in $M^2 \gg \Box, \partial_t^2, \partial_i^2$. The resulting vertices in the bulk are:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm EFT}^{\rm bulk} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{g^2}{2M^{2n}} \Phi^2 \Box^n \Phi^2.$$
(4.16)

These are the same as for amplitudes, with the difference that we cannot drop the n = 1 term, which is proportional to the equation of motion. On the boundary, we have both Lorentz covariant and boost breaking terms:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm EFT}^{\rm brane} = \frac{ig^2}{2M^2} \sum_{a,b} \frac{\Box^a \Phi^2(t_*)}{M^{2a}} \left(i\partial_t + M \sum_{n=0} \binom{1/2}{n} \left(-\frac{\partial_i^2}{M^2} \right)^n \right) \frac{\Box^b \Phi^2(t_*)}{M^{2b}}.$$
 (4.17)

Therefore, we can write the first few Wilson coefficients:

$$\alpha_{0} = 12g^{2}, \quad \alpha_{2} = \frac{2g^{2}}{M^{2}}, \quad \alpha_{4} = \frac{2g^{2}}{M^{4}}, \\
\beta_{31}' = \frac{2g^{2}}{M^{4}}, \quad \beta_{31} = \frac{2g^{2}}{M^{4}}, \quad \beta_{11} = \frac{2g^{2}}{M^{2}}, \quad \beta_{20} = \frac{4ig^{2}}{M^{3}}, \quad \beta_{00} = \frac{12ig^{2}}{M}, \quad \beta_{22} = \frac{ig^{2}}{M^{3}}.$$
(4.18)

The value of these coefficients have been derived from the Lagrangian of the EFT after integrating out the heavy degrees of freedom of the UV. They do not rely on the sum rules. To prove that we can use the latter to compute all the coefficients in (4.18) we will start from the UV four-point exchange wavefunction coefficient for the light scalar $\psi_{\rm UV}$ and then we will use the sum rules (3.19)–(3.24) to obtain the value of all the Wilson coefficients from (4.18). $\psi_{\rm UV}$ is a exchange diagram given by a heavy internal line so it is the sum of three different channels $\psi'_{\rm UV}$. An explicit computation gives,

$$\psi_{\rm UV}(\{\omega\},\{\mathbf{k}\}) = \delta(\mathbf{k}_T) \left[\psi_{\rm UV}'(\omega_{12},\omega_{34},\mathbf{k}_s) + \psi_{\rm UV}'(\omega_{13},\omega_{24},\mathbf{k}_t) + \psi_{\rm UV}'(\omega_{14},\omega_{23},\mathbf{k}_u) \right],$$
(4.19)

$$\omega_T \psi'_{\rm UV}(\omega_{12}, \omega_{34}, \mathbf{k}_s) = \frac{4g^2 M^2}{(\omega_{12} + \Omega_{k_s})(\omega_{34} + \Omega_{k_s})}.$$
(4.20)

The object that appears on the right-hand side of the sum rules (3.19)-(3.24) is the discontinuity of $\omega_T \psi_{\rm UV}$ along the negative ω_1 real axis. In this particular example, $\omega_T \psi_{\rm UV}$ is a rational function of ω_1 and therefore there are no branch cuts contributing to disc($\omega_T \psi_{\rm UV}$). However, the poles located in the negative ω_1 plane do contribute towards disc($\omega_T \psi_{\rm UV}$) as delta functions:

$$disc(\omega_T \psi_{\rm UV}) = -\frac{4g^2 M^2}{\omega_{34} + \Omega_{k_s}} 2\pi i \delta(\omega_{12} + \Omega_{k_s}) - \frac{4g^2 M^2}{\omega_{24} + \Omega_{k_t}} 2\pi i \delta(\omega_{13} + \Omega_{k_t}) - \frac{4g^2 M^2}{\omega_{23} + \Omega_{k_u}} 2\pi i \delta(\omega_{14} + \Omega_{k_u}). \quad (4.21)$$

The residue at infinity vanishes and therefore only the integral over the discontinuity contributes towards the sum rules. Now we are in position to use the sum rules to compute the Wilson coefficients and prove that they match the result from (4.18):

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(0)}(\{\omega\},\{\mathbf{k}\})\Big|_{\substack{\omega_i=0\\\mathbf{k}_j=0}} = \int_{-\infty}^0 \frac{d\omega_1}{2\pi i} \frac{\operatorname{disc}(\omega_T \psi_{\rm UV})}{\omega_1}\Big|_{\substack{\omega_i=0\\\mathbf{k}_j=0}} = 12g^2,\tag{4.22}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(1)}(\{\omega\},\{\mathbf{k}\})\Big|_{\substack{\omega_i=0\\\mathbf{k}_j=0}} = \int_{-\infty}^0 \frac{d\omega_1}{2\pi i} \frac{\operatorname{disc}(\omega_T \psi_{\rm UV})}{\omega_1^2}\Big|_{\substack{\omega_i=0\\\mathbf{k}_j=0}} = -\frac{12g^2}{M},\tag{4.23}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(2)}(\{\omega\},\{\mathbf{k}\})\Big|_{\substack{\omega_i=0\\\mathbf{k}_j=0}} = \int_{-\infty}^0 \frac{d\omega_1}{2\pi i} \frac{\operatorname{disc}(\omega_T \psi_{\rm UV})}{\omega_1^3}\Big|_{\substack{\omega_i=0\\\mathbf{k}_j=0}} = \frac{12g^2}{M^2},\tag{4.24}$$

$$\partial_{\omega_2} \mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(1)}(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) \Big|_{\substack{\omega_i = 0 \\ \mathbf{k}_j = 0}} = \int_{-\infty}^0 \frac{d\omega_1}{2\pi i} \frac{\partial_{\omega_2} \operatorname{disc}(\omega_T \psi_{\rm UV})}{\omega_1^2} \Big|_{\substack{\omega_i = 0 \\ \mathbf{k}_j = 0}} = \frac{16g^2}{M^2}, \tag{4.25}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(3)}(\{\omega\},\{\mathbf{k}\})\Big|_{\substack{\omega_i=0\\\mathbf{k}_j=0}} = \int_{-\infty}^0 \frac{d\omega_1}{2\pi i} \frac{\operatorname{disc}(\omega_T \psi_{\rm UV})}{\omega_1^4}\Big|_{\substack{\omega_i=0\\\mathbf{k}_j=0}} = -\frac{12g^2}{M^3},\tag{4.26}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(4)}(\{\omega\},\{\mathbf{k}\})\Big|_{\substack{\omega_i=0\\\mathbf{k}_j=0}} = \int_{-\infty}^0 \frac{d\omega_1}{2\pi i} \frac{\operatorname{disc}(\omega_T \psi_{\rm UV})}{\omega_1^5}\Big|_{\substack{\omega_i=0\\\mathbf{k}_j=0}} = \frac{12g^2}{M^4},\tag{4.27}$$

$$\partial_{\omega_2}\partial_{\omega_3}\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{UV}}^{(2)}(\{\omega\},\{\mathbf{k}\})\Big|_{\substack{\omega_i=0\\\mathbf{k}_j=0}} = \int_{-\infty}^0 \frac{d\omega_1}{2\pi i} \frac{\partial_{\omega_2}\partial_{\omega_3}\mathrm{disc}(\omega_T\psi_{\mathrm{UV}})}{\omega_1^3}\Big|_{\substack{\omega_i=0\\\mathbf{k}_j=0}} = \frac{32g^2}{M^4},\tag{4.28}$$

$$\partial_{\omega_2}\partial_{\omega_3}\partial_{\omega_4}\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{UV}}^{(1)}(\{\omega\},\{\mathbf{k}\})\Big|_{\substack{\omega_i=0\\\mathbf{k}_j=0}} = \int_{-\infty}^0 \frac{d\omega_1}{2\pi i} \frac{\partial_{\omega_2}\partial_{\omega_3}\partial_{\omega_4}\mathrm{disc}(\omega_T\psi_{\mathrm{UV}})}{\omega_1^2}\Big|_{\substack{\omega_i=0\\\mathbf{k}_j=0}} = \frac{48g^2}{M^4}, \quad (4.29)$$

$$\partial_{k_s}^2 \mathcal{I}_{\text{UV}}^{(1)}(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) \Big|_{\substack{\omega_i = 0\\ \mathbf{k}_j = 0}} = \int_{-\infty}^0 \frac{d\omega_1}{2\pi i} \frac{\partial_{k_s}^2 \text{disc}(\omega_T \psi_{\text{UV}})}{\omega_1^2} \Big|_{\substack{\omega_i = 0\\ \mathbf{k}_j = 0}} = \frac{12g^2}{M^3}.$$
(4.30)

All of the sum rules match the result of the Wilson coefficients (4.18) computed at the level of the action.

4.2 UV-completion: a one-loop example

Now consider a different toy model:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm UV}[\Phi, X] = -\frac{1}{2} (\partial \Phi)^2 - \frac{1}{2} m^2 \Phi^2 - \frac{1}{2} (\partial X)^2 - \frac{1}{2} M^2 X^2 - g \Phi^2 X^2.$$
(4.31)

Unlike the previous toy model, we can no longer use the classical equation of motion for the heavy field X to obtain the effective action for Φ because the leading correction to the action is now at loop level. Instead, we will explicitly compute the wavefunction coefficient $\psi_{\rm UV}$, and match this to a low-energy $\psi_{\rm EFT}$ in order to fix the appropriate EFT Wilson coefficient.

Computing the UV wavefunction. In order to compute the Wilson coefficients, we can first compute the wavefunction coefficient for the UV theory and expand the wavefunction coefficient in the low-energy limit. Since this expression needs to match the wavefunction coefficient computed from the EFT, we can read off the Wilson coefficients. In the UV theory, the leading contribution to the two-point wavefunction coefficient is the following graph:

p (4.32)

This graph corresponds to the integral,

$$\omega_T \psi_{\rm UV} = g \int_{\mathbf{p}} \frac{1}{\omega_T + 2\sqrt{p^2 + M^2}},\tag{4.33}$$

which is computed explicitly using a hard cut-off in appendix A.2, and the full result is:

$$\omega_T \psi_{\rm UV} = \frac{g}{16\pi^2} \left[2\Lambda (\Lambda - \omega_T) + M^2 + (\omega_T^2 - 2M^2) \log\left(\frac{2\Lambda}{M}\right) + 2\omega_T \sqrt{4M^2 - \omega_T^2} \arcsin\left(\sqrt{\frac{2M - \omega_T}{4M}}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\Lambda}\right) \right].$$
(4.34)

Finding the EFT Wilson coefficients. Notice that this particular $\psi_{\rm UV}$ depends only on the energies of the external lines, not their spatial momenta. Consequently, it can be matched using an EFT in which time derivatives are treated as much larger than spatial derivatives. Concretely, we consider the following EFT interactions,

$$S_{\rm EFT}[\Phi;t_*] = \int_{-\infty}^{t_*} dt \int d^3 \mathbf{x} \ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=0} \gamma_n (-i\partial_t)^n \Phi^2$$
(4.35)

which corresponds to a low-energy two-point wavefunction,

$$\omega_T \psi_{\text{EFT}} = \sum_{n=0} \gamma_n \omega_T^n \,. \tag{4.36}$$

The UV model (4.31) is one possible UV completion of this EFT, in which the first few Wilson coefficients γ_n appearing in (4.36) are fixed to be,

$$\gamma_{0} = \frac{g}{16\pi^{2}} \left(2\Lambda^{2} + M^{2} - 2M^{2} \log\left(\frac{2\Lambda}{M}\right) \right)$$

$$\gamma_{1} = \frac{g}{16\pi^{2}} \left(-2\Lambda + M\pi \right)$$

$$\gamma_{2} = \frac{g}{16\pi^{2}} \left(-1 + \log\left(\frac{2\Lambda}{M}\right) \right)$$

$$\gamma_{3} = \frac{g}{16\pi^{2}} \left(-\frac{\pi}{8M} \right)$$
(4.37)

so that $\psi_{\rm EFT}$ coincides with $\psi_{\rm UV}$ at low values of ω_a .

Notice that we have only regularized the theory, with an arbitrary cutoff, but we have not carried out renormalization. We will verify our sum rules at finite but arbitrary Λ : since if our rules hold for any value of the regulator, they will also hold for any renormalization scheme which is consistently implemented in both the EFT and the UV.

Checking the UV/IR sum rules. Applying the dispersion relation of section 3, the Wilson coefficients appearing in (4.35) are given by,

$$\gamma_n = \mathcal{I}_{\text{UV}}^{(n)} \big|_{\substack{\omega_2 = 0\\ \mathbf{k} = 0}} \tag{4.38}$$

where $\mathcal{I}_{\text{UV}}^{(N)}$ are defined in (3.13) using the two-point ψ_{UV} .

One could take the discontinuity of (4.34) directly to compute the integrals $\mathcal{I}_{UV}^{(N)}$, but a quicker route is to take the discontinuity of the original integrand,

$$\operatorname{disc}(\omega_T \psi_{\mathrm{UV}}) = g \int_{\mathbf{p}} \operatorname{disc}\left(\frac{1}{\omega_T + 2\sqrt{p^2 + M^2}}\right)$$
$$= -\frac{g}{2\pi^2} \int_0^\infty dp \ p^2 \ 2\pi i \delta(\omega_T + 2\sqrt{p^2 + M^2}). \tag{4.39}$$

Since p is real, for $\omega_T > -2M$ there is no solution to $\omega_T + 2\sqrt{p^2 + M^2} = 0$. Therefore, the discontinuity is proportional to a step function:

$$\operatorname{disc}(\omega_T \psi_{\mathrm{UV}}) = \frac{g \,\omega_T}{16\pi^2} \sqrt{\omega_T^2 - 4M^2} \, 2\pi i \,\Theta \left(-\omega_T - 2M\right). \tag{4.40}$$

Substituting (4.40) into (3.13), and again using a hard cut-off to tame any divergences, we find that in this UV model:

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(N)}|_{\substack{\omega_2=0\\\mathbf{k}=0}} = \int_{-2\Lambda}^{-2M} d\omega \, \frac{g}{16\pi^2} \frac{\omega\sqrt{\omega^2 - 4M^2}}{\omega^{N+1}}.$$
(4.41)

These can be evaluated straightforwardly, and give,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(0)}|_{\substack{\omega_2=0\\\mathbf{k}=0}} &= \frac{g}{16\pi^2} \left(2\Lambda^2 + M^2 - 2M^2 \log\left(\frac{2\Lambda}{M}\right) \right) \\ \mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(1)}|_{\substack{\omega_2=0\\\mathbf{k}=0}} &= \frac{g}{16\pi^2} \left(-2\Lambda + M\pi \right) \\ \mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(2)}|_{\substack{\omega_2=0\\\mathbf{k}=0}} &= \frac{g}{16\pi^2} \left(-1 + \log\left(\frac{2\Lambda}{M}\right) \right) \\ \mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(3)}|_{\substack{\omega_2=0\\\mathbf{k}=0}} &= \frac{g}{16\pi^2} \left(-\frac{\pi}{8M} \right) \end{aligned}$$
(4.42)

in agreement with the sum rules (4.38).

5 Conclusions

In this work, we have studied the analytic structure of the field theoretic Minkowski wavefunction. First, we have introduced new objects, which we dubbed off-shell wavefunction coefficients, which are related to amputated, time-ordered in-out Green's functions as in (2.28). The off-shell wavefunction coefficients are manifestly analytic in half of the complex plane because of causality (the lower-half in our conventions). We have confirmed this non-perturbative argument with an explicit study of the singularities emerging in perturbation theory. As anticipated in [125], the location of singularities associated to a given Feynman-Witten diagram can be deduced from a simple energy-conservation condition on each sub-diagram. We have shown how these singularities are captured by a Landau-like analysis of explicit loop integrals. In the extensive appendix A we have explicitly computed a number of one-loop integrals that corroborate our general picture and allow for detailed studies of the analytic structure. In a second part of the paper, we have used analyticity to write down dispersion relations for off-shell wavefunction coefficients in the complex plane

of a single off-shell frequency. These dispersion relations fix the Wilson coefficients in a lowenergy effective action in terms of an appropriate integral over the discontinuities appearing in UV-complete wavefunction coefficients. These results can be thought of as new UV/IRsum rules. An interesting difference between wavefunction sum rules and analogous relations for amplitudes is that the wavefunction is sensitive to both total derivative interactions and interactions proportional to the equations of motion. To make our general results more concrete, we have studied a simple example of a light scalar interacting with a heavy scalar. We have verified the UV/IR sum rules at tree-level, where the only singularities are poles, as well as at one-loop order, where extended discontinuities appear.

Outlook. Our results open up a number of avenues for future research, which we now discuss:

- Recently, an infinite set of constraints, collectively denoted Cosmological Optical Theorem (COT), have been derived in [69] for the wavefunction as a consequence of unitary time evolution from a Bunch-Davies vacuum (see [70] for generalizations) on any FLRW spacetime [74] to all loop orders [72]. Notice that, in spite of its name, the COT applies to the Minkowski wavefunction as well. The current formulation of the COT requires separating by hand the dependence on the norm of the external three-momenta from the dependence on their direction. The norms are analytically continued to negative values to define an ad hoc "non-local" discontinuity. It seems clear that the off-shell wavefunction that we introduced here is a more natural object to formulate the COT, since the off-shell frequencies appear automatically as independent variables and analyticity is ensured in the lower-half complex plane (in agreement with the COT prescription of approaching real frequencies from below). Moreover, the COT gives us a powerful non-local relation for the value of ψ_n at $\{\omega\}$ and $\{-\omega\}$. It would be extremently intersting to see if this relation can be used to say something about the discontinuity across the negative real axis in the complex frequency plane, which is at the center of this paper. To build such a relation one would like to find a representation of the off-shell wavefunction that is analytic in the upper-half complex plane too (where the standard time-integral representation does not converge). Perhaps this requires invoking additional physical ingredients, such as (C)PT symmetry.
- Locality has been shown to imply a Manifestly Local Test (MLT) [73] that constrains wavefunction coefficients in de Sitter for light fields $(m^2 < H^2)$ [77] with soft interactions (not necessarily manifestly local [79]). The current formulation deals again with the norm of the external three momenta, but more appropriate variables would be the off-shell frequencies. After performing this reformulation, it would be interesting to investigate if one can more easily discuss local but not-manifestly-local theories such as general relativity and solids, which presented a difficulty in the standard boostless bootstrap approach [64].
- It is important to develop a better understanding of the physical meaning of the different singularities appearing in the wavefunction. For example, by direct inspection one can convince oneself that wavefunction coefficients include divergences associated

to one-loop diagrams with a single vertex (as in (2.71)), but such divergences cancel out exactly from equal-time correlators of the product of fields. This is somewhat reminiscent of the cancellation of infra-red divergences for inclusive processes (the Kinoshita-Lee-Nauenberg theorem [126, 127]). One would like to characterize and possibly classify all divergences that disappear from (a class of) observables.

- A natural next step is to extend our analysis to the wavefunction in curved spacetime and especially in de Sitter space. A few important differences will emerge. First, in dS we are usually interested in evaluating the wavefunction at the future conformal boundary (t → ∞, equivalently η → 0 in conformal time). This is a conceptually important difference when one has in mind UV-completing the theory by some quantum gravity. Since there are no local, gauge-invariant observables in gravity, one expects that well defined observables in quantum gravity live at some (often conformal) boundary. Hence, in quantum gravity the boundary wavefunction in dS seems a more promising object than the finite-time Minkowski wavefunction. Another difference of a more technical nature is that the mode functions in dS change drastically depending on the mass and the number of spacetime dimensions. This makes it challenging to collect a sufficient number of explicit loop results, although some progress is underway [128–131]. A final difference is the general mechanism of so-called particle production caused by the expansion in dS, which could introduce singularities of a different nature from those studied here.
- One of the main motivations for constructing these UV/IR relations is to establish a set of "positivity bounds" for the wavefunction. Positivity bounds for amplitudes have recently been developed and applied to a wide range of effective field theories, both on Minkowski and on cosmological spacetime backgrounds [132–140]. However, their application on curved backgrounds has typically required taking careful subhorizon/decoupling limits in order to even define the amplitude. If analogous positivity bounds could be established directly at the level of the wavefunction, these would be more readily applicable in cosmology.¹⁶ The sum rules presented here fall short of this because, unlike their amplitude counterpart, the UV discontinuity that appears is not sign definite (which can be seen explicitly in our toy UV completions). However, as mentioned above, if unitarity can be used to constrain this discontinuity then in the future our sum rules could be used to place model-agnostic bounds on the EFT Wilson coefficients.
- We have focussed on the analytic structure of the wavefunction when just one of the external energies is complexified (with the other kinematic variables held fixed, real and positive). It would be interesting to explore whether further dispersion relations could be constructed by analytically continuing multiple variables. These would be closer in spirit to Mandelstam's original dispersion relation, which simultaneously continues s, t and u. Furthermore, using crossing symmetry to combine the dispersion

¹⁶Another interesting possibility is to consider positivity of correlation functions directly, which has recently led to robust bounds on non-trivial backgrounds in [141].

JHEP06 (2023) 020

relations in different channels has recently led to a number of "null constraints" on the integral of the UV scattering amplitude, which have been used to derive further EFT positivity bounds [31–33]. It would be interesting to explore the same possibility for the wavefunction. As a crude example: for a wavefunction coefficient in which external legs 1 and 2 are identical, one should find that $\left[\partial_{\omega_2}^2 \partial_{\omega_1} - \partial_{\omega_1}^2 \partial_{\omega_2}\right] \psi_n = 0$, and this immediately implies that the UV integrals (3.14) obey,

$$\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\omega_2}^2 \mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(1)}|_{\mathbf{k}_1 = \mathbf{k}_2} = \partial_{\omega_2} \mathcal{I}_{\rm UV}^{(2)}|_{\mathbf{k}_1 = \mathbf{k}_2}.$$
(5.1)

There are an infinite number of such constraints on the $\mathcal{I}_{UV}^{(N)}$ integrals which appear in our sum rules.

- The on-shell wavefunction is a natural object to compute equal-time correlators, but its relation to unequal time correlators has until now been somewhat cumbersome. Conversely, the off-shell wavefunction we defined here is directly related to unequal time correlators. As such, it might provide a useful starting point to discuss microcausality and the very interesting class of symmetries that involve time shifts [142].
- In the limit where the total energy flowing into a graph vanishes, we noticed that it contributes to the wavefunction precisely the same as the corresponding Feynman graph for a scattering amplitude. This is true at both tree- and loop-level, and the resulting Minkowski amplitude includes all finite-mass effects (unlike on cosmological backgrounds, where it is typically the high-energy limit of a corresponding amplitude). One useful direction for the future would be to further explore this connection. In particular, the dispersion relation we derived for the wavefunction coefficients contains only a single branch cut discontinuity: this is because we analytically continued one of the energies holding all others fixed. If we had first taken this amplitude limit (setting the total energy to zero), and then analytically continued, we would have found two branch cuts, reproducing the familiar s- and u-channel cuts of the scattering amplitude. Furthermore, we have focussed here on light external fields exchanging heavier fields: for the complementary process, in which sufficiently heavy external fields exchange light fields, the scattering amplitude can develop so-called "anomalous thresholds" on the physical sheet which are not captured by unitarity see e.g. [124, 143] for a review. One starting point to investigate how these may arise in the wavefunction would be to consider the prototypical triangle diagram which mediates $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering of a heavy particle via a loop of light particles, since the corresponding wavefunction coefficients must contain an anomalous threshold in the amplitude limit where the total energy vanishes.
- Given their mathematical similarities, it seems possible to import many of the powerful techniques for evaluating Feynman loop integral to the wavefunction. For instance, in the calculation of loop corrections to scattering amplitudes, one is able to reduce the infinitely many possible integrals to a finite set of master loop integrals (bubbles, triangles and boxes). Here we have began to similarly organise and classify the

structures which can appear in the wavefunction (see in particular the discussion in appendix A.1). While the number of master integrals seems to be necessarily larger for the wavefunction than for amplitudes, for a fixed number of external and internal lines it should be possible to construct an analogous basis which captures all possible non-analytic structures. Such a basis would be immensely useful for future investigations of the wavefunction beyond tree-level. Furthermore, recent progress in recasting Feynman integrals in terms of differential operators (based on canonical forms) has rendered many previously intractable diagrams now solvable, see e.g. [144]. Developing an analogous technology for the wavefunction has the potential to drastically expand the range of perturbative quantum field theories that can be explicitly analysed using the sum rules developed here.

Finally, we have focussed on the wavefunction for scalar fields, and an important extension of these results will be to include spinning fields. For scattering amplitudes, massive spinning fields in particular can lead to additional singularities in the complex plane (so-called "kinematical singularities") associated with the polarisation tensors
— see e.g. [30] for a review. However, these arise as a consequence of the complicated crossing relation which the amplitude must satisfy, and since the wavefunction coefficients do not have this requirement they may possess a simpler analytic structure.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Harry Goodhew, Aaron Hillman, Austin Joyce, João Penedones, Guilherme L. Pimentel, and David Stefanyszyn for useful discussions. S.M. is supported by a UKRI Stephen Hawking Fellowship (EP/T017481/1). E.P. has been supported in part by the research program VIDI with Project No. 680-47-535, which is (partly) financed by the Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research (NWO). S.A.S. is supported by a Harding Distinguished Postgraduate Scholarship. M.H.G.L. is supported by the Croucher Cambridge International Scholarship. This work has been partially supported by STFC consolidated grant ST/T000694/1.

A One-loop computations

In this appendix, we describe in detail how to compute the momentum integrals that appear in the one-loop wavefunction, and give various examples for both massless and massive fields.

We begin in section A.1 by introducing a taxonomy for "how complicated" a loop integral is: this provides an organisational principle for the different $\psi_n^{1-\text{loop}}$, shown in table 2. Then we evaluate various limits of $\psi_1^{1-\text{loop}}$ in section A.2, $\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}$ in section A.3 and $\psi_3^{1-\text{loop}}$ in section A.4.

A.1 Classifying complexity

The majority of the loop integrals that we encounter below cannot be written in terms of elementary functions. It will be useful, therefore, to introduce a taxonomy for the various

	$\mathcal{T} = 1$	$\mathcal{T}=2$		\mathcal{T}
$\mathcal{G} = 0$	Logarithm	${f Dilogarithm}\ {f Li}_2(z)$		Polylogarithm
	$\log(z)$			$\operatorname{Li}_{\mathcal{T}}(z)$
$\mathcal{G} = 1$	Elliptic integral $\Pi(z)$	Integral of elliptic integral $\int \frac{dz}{z} \Pi(z)$		Integrals of elliptic integral $\left[\int \frac{dz}{z}\right]^{\mathcal{T}-1} \Pi(z)$
$\mathcal{G}=2$	Hyperelliptic integral	Integral of hyperelliptic integral		÷
:				·

Table 1. To organise the special functions which arise when performing the loop integrals, we introduce a degree of transcendentality, \mathcal{T} , and a genus, \mathcal{G} , as in (A.1). Above we give some simple examples of functions in each class, and in table 2 we summarise how the first three wavefunction coefficients ψ_1, ψ_2, ψ_3 (and their various massless and soft limits) populate these classes.

kinds of special functions which can arise in a given ψ_n . In particular, whenever an integral can be written in the following form,

$$\mathcal{I} = \int_{1}^{\infty} dp \, \int_{-1}^{+1} dz_1 \, \dots \int_{-1}^{+1} dz_{\mathcal{T}-1} \, \frac{R(p, z_1, \dots, z_{\mathcal{T}-1})}{\operatorname{Poly}_{2\mathcal{G}+2}(p, z_1, \dots, z_{\mathcal{T}-1})},\tag{A.1}$$

where R is a rational function of its arguments and Poly_N represents a polynomial which is at most order N in any one of its arguments, then we say that \mathcal{I} has a *degree of transcendentality* \mathcal{T} and a *genus* \mathcal{G} . Roughly speaking, \mathcal{T} counts the number of integrals and \mathcal{G} counts the number of independent square roots appearing in the integrand. The lower each of these numbers, the closer the integral will be to familiar elementary functions.

In figure 1(a) we give some examples of special functions with different \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{G} . In particular, for genus $\mathcal{G} = 0$, an integral with degree of transcendentality \mathcal{T} can possess polylogarithmic-type branch cuts of a polylog Li_{\mathcal{T}}, where \mathcal{T} determines the weight of the polylogarithm. For $\mathcal{T} = 1$, (A.1) represents the so-called "hyperelliptic integrals", where the degree $2\mathcal{G} + 2$ polynomial in the denominator is called "hyperlliptic curve of genus \mathcal{G} ".

When both $\mathcal{T} > 1$ and $\mathcal{G} > 0$ much less is known about integrals of the form (A.1), and the labels \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{G} give a useful measure of "how complicated" each integral is. For instance, we will show below that the three-point wavefunction coefficient at one-loop, $\psi_3^{1-\text{loop}}$, generically has $\mathcal{T} = 3$ and $\mathcal{G} = 3$ in d = 3 spatial dimensions, so in principle would require knowledge of the special functions which correspond to three iterated integrals over a hyperelliptic curve of genus 3. A dedicated study of the properties of such functions would certainly be interesting (particularly in light of the myriad connections between amplitude Feynman integrals and pure mathematics), but here we will restrict our attention to integrals that can be written in terms of $\mathcal{G} = 0$ or $\mathcal{T} = 1$ functions only. In the case of $\psi_3^{1-\text{loop}}$ in d = 3 dimensions, we will see that taking a combination of soft and massless limits can reduce (\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{G}) to (2,0), and we can therefore give an explicit expression in terms of dilogarithms (see (A.98)).

Comparison with amplitudes. One important point is that the one-loop wavefunction can have a much richer variety of non-analyticities than the analogous one-loop scattering amplitude (which is limited to simple poles and logarithmic branch cuts). This is because,



Table 2. The degree of transcendentality \mathcal{T} and genus \mathcal{G} of the different one-loop diagrams computed in appendix A. A dashed internal line denotes a massless field, and a dot-dashed external line denotes a soft limit in which that field carries zero spatial momentum.

once Feynman parameters are introduced, the integrand of the one-loop amplitude can be written as a rational function of the invariant $p_{\mu}p^{\mu}$ of a single (d+1)-dimensional momenta. The loop momentum integral can then be written as $d^{d+1}p = S_d dp p^{d-1}$ and viewed as a single integral over a rational function, which generates at most a logarithm branch cut. The degree of transcendentality can be used to make this precise: in the amplitude literature, it is defined¹⁷ to be 0 when f is any rational function, $\mathcal{T}(\log) = 1$ and $\mathcal{T}(\mathrm{Li}_n) = n$ for an n^{th} -order polylogarithm [144] (this is the rationale for the naming of \mathcal{T} in (A.1)). For each loop integral we perform, the degree of transcendentality can increase by at most 1,

¹⁷Note that $\mathcal{T}(ab) = \mathcal{T}(a) + \mathcal{T}(b)$ can be used to count the degree of products, so $\mathcal{T}(\log^2) = 2$. One often defines $\mathcal{T}(\pi^n) = n$ so that certain Feynman integrals have a uniform degree, e.g. $\mathcal{T}(\log^2 + \pi^2) = 2$. We will instead take $\mathcal{T}(\pi^n) = 1$ and interpret $\mathcal{T}(a+b)$ as max $(\mathcal{T}(a), \mathcal{T}(b))$, since we will encounter sums of mixed weight and will occasionally factor out overall loop factors of e.g. $16\pi^2$ in d = 3.

so that, 18

$$\mathcal{T}\left(\mathcal{A}_{n}^{L\text{-loop}}\right) = L,$$
 (A.2)

describes how the mathematical complexity of the n-particle scattering amplitude grows with loop order.

In contrast, the integrands appearing in the wavefunction coefficients are rational functions of the magnitudes, $|\mathbf{p} - \mathbf{k}_a|$, which cannot be combined using the usual Feynman parameters into the magnitude of a single vector and so will generally depend on all d components of the loop momenta. Each loop integral therefore has the potential to increase the degree of transcendentality by d. However, since the n external legs can carry no more than n - 1 linearly-independent momenta \mathbf{k}_a (due to momentum conservation), when n - 1 < d - 1 there are angular components of \mathbf{p} which are orthogonal to every \mathbf{k}_a and therefore do not appear in the loop integrand: in that case each loop integral may only increase the degree of transcendentality by nd. Overall, we expect loop integrals to produce polylogarithmic branch cuts of the following orders,

$$\mathcal{T}\left(\psi_{n}^{L\text{-loop}}\right) = \min\left(d,n\right) \times L.$$
 (A.3)

This formula captures the degree to which wavefunction coefficients are more mathematically complex than their amplitude counterparts, and we will now see it borne out in several explicit examples.

Spurious singularities. Our main focus in the following will be on the analytic structure of particular loop diagrams. We will occasionally encounter functions that *appear* to be non-analytic, and yet the residue/discontinuity of the apparent pole/branch cut is actually zero. We refer to such non-analyticities as "spurious".

The most common kind of spurious singularity is a pole of the form f(z)/(z-a), where f(z) in an analytic function of z with a zero at z = a. This is also referred to as a "removable" singularity in the literature. Such singularities arise whenever a rational function is decomposed into partial fractions. For instance, suppose we define the integral,

$$\mathcal{I}(a) = \int_{1}^{\infty} dz \frac{F(z)}{(z+a)},\tag{A.4}$$

where F is some specified function and a represents a particular kinematic parameter we wish to analytically continue to the complex plane. Further suppose that we can compute this integral, and find that it has singular points at $a = z_*$. The idea is that partial fractions can then be used to decompose more complicated integrals in terms of this simpler one, such as,

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} dz \frac{f(z)F(z)}{(z+f_{1}(a))(z+f_{2}(a))} = \frac{f(f_{1}(a))\mathcal{I}(f_{1}(a)) - f(f_{2}(a))\mathcal{I}(f_{2}(a))}{f_{1}(a) - f_{2}(a)} + \text{analytic}, \quad (A.5)$$

¹⁸In dimensional regularisation, this is equivalent to saying that an *L*-loop diagram diverges like $1/\epsilon^L$. Note that we are not including the additional IR divergences which can arise for massless particles and lead to $\mathcal{T}\left(\mathcal{A}_n^{L-\text{loop}}\right) = 2L$.

where f, f_1 and f_2 are any analytic functions of their arguments, and for the final term we have used that the integral of an analytic function produces an analytic function. Looking at (A.5), we would list the possible singular points of this integral as:

- (i) at $f_1(a) = z_*$, due to the singularities of $\mathcal{I}(f_1(a))$,
- (ii) at $f_2(a) = z_*$, due to the singularities of $\mathcal{I}(f_2(a))$,
- (iii) at $f_1(a) = f_2(a)$, due to the $1/(f_1(a) f_2(a))$ pole.

However, this apparent pole at $f_1(a) = f_2(a)$ is in fact spurious, since its residue vanishes at this value of a and hence there is no actual non-analyticity at this point in the complex a plane.

This argument also applies with multiple factors in the denominator,

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} dz \, \frac{f(z)F(z)}{\prod_{j=1}^{N} (z+f_j(a))} \,. \tag{A.6}$$

Such integrals can be written as a sum over $\mathcal{I}(f_j(a))$ using partial fractions, and one generically finds that any poles arising at $f_j(a) = f_{j'}(a)$ are in fact spurious. An analogous cancellation also takes place for certain non-analytic $f_j(a)$. For instance, performing partial fractions with a quadratic denominator can produce,

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} \frac{F(z)}{(z-c)^{2}-a} = \frac{1}{\bar{z}_{+}(a) - \bar{z}_{-}(a)} \left[\mathcal{I}(\bar{z}_{-}(a)) - \mathcal{I}(\bar{z}_{+}(a)) \right],$$
(A.7)

where $\bar{z}_{\pm}(a) = c \pm \sqrt{a}$ are the roots of the denominator $(z-c)^2 - a$. The factor of $\bar{z}_{\pm} - \bar{z}_{-} = 2\sqrt{a}$ gives an apparent branch point at a = 0, but this is spurious since when expanded around this point since the square bracket contains only odd powers of \sqrt{a} ,

$$\mathcal{I}(c-\sqrt{a}) - \mathcal{I}(c+\sqrt{a}) = -2\sqrt{a}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{a^n}{n!} \mathcal{I}^{(n)}(c), \qquad (A.8)$$

assuming that $\mathcal{I}(z)$ is analytic at z = c. The integral in (A.7) may therefore only have singularities at $\bar{z}_{\pm}(a) = z_*$, despite the appearance of an apparent branch cut at a = 0.

It is therefore tempting to conclude that integrals of the form (A.6) are analytic functions of a modulo non-analyticities at the points given by $f_j(a) = z_*$. However, this still potentially overcounts, since there is a further way in which singularities can be spurious. Although $f(z)\mathcal{I}(z)$ may be singular at $z = z_*$, if the residue happens to be invariant under $f_1(a) \leftrightarrow f_2(a)$ then it will cancel out of differences like (A.5). One example of this (which we will encounter below in $\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}$), is given by taking,

$$F(z) = \log(a + b + z + 1)$$
 (A.9)

in (A.4), which gives,

$$\mathcal{I}(a) = \operatorname{Li}_2\left(-\frac{1+b}{1+a}\right), \qquad (A.10)$$

and has branch points at a = -1 and a = -2 - b. Then the integral,

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} dz \frac{(a+b+2z)F(z)}{(z+a)(z+b)} = \operatorname{Li}_{2}\left(-\frac{1+b}{1+a}\right) + \operatorname{Li}_{2}\left(-\frac{1+a}{1+b}\right)$$
(A.11)

would seem to have singularities in the complex a plane at,

- (i) a = -1,
- (ii) a = -b 2,

from looking at each partial fraction individually, but this latter singularity is spurious since the residues of $\text{Li}_2(z)$ and $\text{Li}_2(1/z)$ are equal and opposite at z = 1.

So in the following, when we encounter integrals of the form (A.6), we will perform partial fractions and focus on the singular points of the corresponding $\mathcal{I}(f_j(a))$, disregarding the spurious poles produced by the partial fractioning and also taking care to check for any cancellation which may happen between different values of j.

A.2 One internal edge

For loop diagrams with only a single internal edge (of mass M), the integrand depends on the loop momenta through only a single $\Omega_p = \sqrt{p^2 + M^2}$. Since this is a function of $p = |\mathbf{p}|$ only, the d - 1 angular components of the loop integration can be performed immediately, giving,

$$\int \frac{d^d \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^d} I(\Omega_p) = \frac{S_{d-1}}{(2\pi)^d} \int_0^\infty dp \, p^{d-1} I(\Omega_p), \tag{A.12}$$

where S_{d-1} is the surface area of a (d-1)-dimensional unit sphere,

$$S_{d-1} = \frac{\pi^{d/2}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)},\tag{A.13}$$

which takes the usual value of $S_2 = 4\pi$ in d = 3 spatial dimensions.

For instance, consider the contribution from the one-loop diagram given in (2.11).

$$\omega \psi_1^{1-\text{loop}}(\omega) = \frac{S_{d-1}}{(2\pi)^d} \int_0^\infty dp \, \frac{p^{d-1}}{\omega + 2\Omega_p}.$$
 (A.14)

This integral has $\mathcal{G}(\psi_1^{1\text{-loop}}) = 0$ and $\mathcal{T}(\psi_1^{1\text{-loop}}) = 1$ in any d, The single square root in the denominator can be removed by a change of variables, and the resulting integral can be straightforwardly performed in any integer d with a hard cut-off, $\int_0^\infty dp \to \int_0^\Lambda dp$. For instance, in d = 3 dimensions,¹⁹

$$\begin{split} &\omega\psi_1^{1-\text{loop}}(\omega)|_{d=3} = \\ &\frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left[2\Lambda(\Lambda-\omega) + \left(\omega^2 - 2M^2\right) \log\left(\frac{2\Lambda}{M}\right) + 2\omega\sqrt{4M^2 - \omega^2} \text{arcsin}\left(\sqrt{\frac{2M-\omega}{4M}}\right) + M^2 \right], \\ &\qquad (A.15) \end{split}$$

$$\arctan\left(\frac{2M+\omega}{\sqrt{4M^2-\omega^2}}\right) - \arctan\left(\frac{\omega}{\sqrt{4M^2-\omega^2}}\right) = \arcsin\left(\sqrt{\frac{2M-\omega}{4M}}\right)$$

in order to make the non-analyticity at $\omega = -2M$ manifest.

¹⁹Symbolic manipulation packages like Mathematica will often return a sum of arctan functions, which can be simplified using trigonometric relations like,

and in d = 1 dimensions,

$$\omega \psi_1^{1-\text{loop}}(\omega)|_{d=1} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \left[\log\left(\frac{2\Lambda}{M}\right) - \frac{2\omega \arcsin\left(\sqrt{\frac{2M-\omega}{4M}}\right)}{\sqrt{4M^2 - w^2}} \right].$$
 (A.16)

In any number of dimensions, $\omega \psi_1^{1-\text{loop}}$ is an analytic function of ω except for branch points at $\omega = -2M$ and $\omega = -\infty$, which can be connected by a cut along the negative real axis. In particular, note that (A.15) and (A.16) are analytic at $\omega = +2M$, since $\sqrt{2M-\omega} \arcsin\left(\sqrt{\frac{2M-\omega}{4M}}\right) = \sum_j (2M-\omega)^j$ for positive integer powers j.

Massless limit. When the mass of the internal line vanishes, $M \to 0$, the integral becomes

$$\omega \psi_1^{1-\text{loop}} = \frac{S_{d-1}}{(2\pi)^d} \int_0^\infty dp \frac{p^{d-1}}{\omega + 2p}.$$
 (A.17)

This is an elementary logarithmic integral in any integer d, which can again be regulated with a hard cut-off: for instance,

$$\omega \psi_1^{1-\text{loop}}(\omega)|_{d=3} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left[2\Lambda(\Lambda - \omega) + \omega^2 \log\left(\frac{2\Lambda}{\omega}\right) \right].$$
(A.18)

Alternatively, using dimensional regularisation in $d = n + \epsilon$ dimensions gives the compact expression,

$$\omega \psi_1^{1-\text{loop}} = \frac{S_{n-1}(-\omega)^{d-1}}{(16\pi^2)^{d/2}} \left[-\frac{1}{\epsilon} - \log\left(\frac{\omega^2}{16\pi}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\psi^{(d/2)}(0) \right], \quad (A.19)$$

where $\psi^{(n)}(z)$ is the polygamma function. This proves that $\mathcal{T}(\psi_1^{1-\text{loop}}) = 1$ in any d, as anticipated in (A.3).

A.3 Two internal edges

For a one-loop diagram with two vertices, the integrand depends on a single loop momentum through two independent combinations, namely the energies associated with the momenta $\{\mathbf{q}_1, \mathbf{q}_2\}$ of the internal lines, where momentum conservation fixes their difference to be equal to the external momentum, $\mathbf{q}_1 - \mathbf{q}_2 = \mathbf{k}$,

$$\int \frac{d^d \mathbf{q}_1 d^d \mathbf{q}_2}{(2\pi)^d (2\pi)^d} \,\mathcal{I}(\Omega_{q_1}, \Omega_{q_2}) \,(2\pi)^d \delta_D^{(d)} \left(\mathbf{q}_1 - \mathbf{q}_2 - \mathbf{k}\right). \tag{A.20}$$

Note that Ω_{q_1} and Ω_{q_2} are only independent in d > 1 spatial dimensions. We will now discuss integrals of the form (A.20) in d > 1 in some detail. We provide a convenient set of integration variables and a basis of master integrals in section A.3.1. Then, we evaluate $\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}$ explicitly in the case of equal-mass internal edges (section A.3.2), massless internal edges (section A.3.3) and a soft external edge (section A.3.4). We will show in section A.3.5 that in the limit $\omega_{12} \to 0$ we recover the one-loop scattering amplitude on Minkowski, and finally we will describe the special case of d = 1 dimensions in section A.3.6.

A.3.1 Generalities

Integration variables. Integrals of the form (A.20) can be simplified by choosing an appropriate set of integration variables. When $d \ge 2$, it is possible to choose the two lengths $\{q_1, q_2\}$ (together with a further d - 2 angular co-ordinates on which the integrand does not depend). Given the momentum conservation constraint, the three lengths $\{q_1, q_2, k\}$ must correspond to the edges of a triangle, as shown in figure 8. The domain of integration for $\{q_1, q_2\}$ can then be determined by the condition that such a triangle exists, namely that the three triangle inequalities are satisfied,²⁰

$$q_1 + q_2 \ge k, \ q_1 + k \ge q_2, \ q_2 + k \ge q_1.$$
 (A.21)

Note that these inequalities are only saturated when the triangle degenerates into a line.

To change from $\{\mathbf{q}_1, \mathbf{q}_2\}$ to these variables, we can parametrise the two internal momenta as,

$$\mathbf{q}_1 = \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbf{p} + \mathbf{k} \right), \qquad \mathbf{q}_2 = \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbf{p} - \mathbf{k} \right), \qquad (A.22)$$

and then align one of our co-ordinate axes along \mathbf{k} , adopting the polar parametrisation,

$$\mathbf{k} = \begin{pmatrix} k \\ \mathbf{0}_{d-1} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{p} = \begin{pmatrix} q_+ \cos \vartheta \\ \sqrt{q_+^2 - k^2} \sin \vartheta \hat{\mathbf{p}}_{d-1} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (A.23)$$

where $\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{d-1}$ is a unit vector in the (d-1) directions orthogonal to \mathbf{k} and $\mathbf{0}_{d-1} = (0, \ldots, 0)$ is the vector of (d-1) zeroes. Integrating over the undetermined loop momentum \mathbf{p} is then equivalent to integrating over $\{q_+, \vartheta, \hat{\mathbf{p}}_{d-1}\}$, where

$$q_{+} = q_{1} + q_{2}, \quad k \cos \vartheta = q_{1} - q_{2},$$
 (A.24)

and so surfaces of constant q_+ correspond to ellipses (with foci separated by **k**) and ϑ is the eccentric anomaly of a point on each ellipse. We will often use the notation $q_- = q_1 - q_2$ in place of the angular $k \cos \vartheta$.

In practice, this allows us to write integrals of the form (A.20) as an integral over two scalars,²¹

$$\int \frac{d^d \mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^d} \,\mathcal{I}(\Omega_{q_1}, \Omega_{q_2}) = \frac{S_{d-2}}{(2\pi)^d} \int_k^\infty dq_+ \int_{-k}^{+k} \frac{dq_-}{2k} \,q_1^{d-2} q_2 \,\mathcal{I}(\Omega_{q_1}, \Omega_{q_2}) \big|_{\substack{q_1 = \frac{1}{2}(q_+ + q_-) \\ q_2 = \frac{1}{2}(q_+ - q_-)}}, \quad (A.26)$$

where the integration region has been determined using the triangle inequalities, (A.21).

²¹One simple way to find this Jacobian is to first express $d^d \mathbf{q}_1$ in terms of spherical polars about the **k** axis (i.e. set $\mathbf{q}_1 \cdot \mathbf{k} = q_1 k \cos \theta$), and then use the explicit change of variables,

$$q_{\pm} = q_1 \pm \sqrt{k^2 + q_1^2 - 2q_1 k \cos \theta} \,. \tag{A.25}$$

²⁰Given three positive numbers $\{q_1, q_2, k\}$, (A.21) is a necessary and sufficient condition for a triangle with these edge lengths to exist. It can also be written as a single non-linear condition, namely that the area of the formed triangle is positive, cf. (A.82).



Figure 8. The one-loop contribution to $\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}$ with two internal lines is described by three momenta which, as vectors, form the edges of a triangle due to momentum conservation.

Finally, when considering massive fields it is often convenient to replace q_{\pm} with the total/relative energy, $\Omega_{q_1} \pm \Omega_{q_2}$, which we denote by,

$$\Omega_{\pm} = \sqrt{q_1^2 + M_1^2} \pm \sqrt{q_2^2 + M_2^2} \tag{A.27}$$

The Jacobian between the two is straightforward,

$$\left(q_{+}^{2}-q_{-}^{2}\right) dq_{+} dq_{-} = \left(\Omega_{+}^{2}-\Omega_{-}^{2}\right) d\Omega_{+} d\Omega_{-}.$$
(A.28)

To find the integration region, we write \mathbf{q}_1 in polar co-ordinates about the \mathbf{k} axis (as in (A.25)),

$$q_1 = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{(\Omega_+ + \Omega_-)^2 - 4M_1^2}, \qquad \cos\theta = -\frac{\Omega_+\Omega_- + k^2 + M_2^2 - M_1^2}{k\sqrt{(\Omega_+ + \Omega_-)^2 - 4M_1^2}}, \qquad (A.29)$$

which makes it clear that,

$$(\Omega_{+} + \Omega_{-})^{2} > 4M_{1}^{2}$$
 and $|\Omega_{+}\Omega_{-} + k^{2} + M_{2}^{2} - M_{1}^{2}| < k\sqrt{(\Omega_{+} + \Omega_{-})^{2} - 4M_{1}^{2}}$, (A.30)

and similarly for $M_1 \leftrightarrow M_2$. We can therefore write the allowed integration region as,

$$\int_{k}^{\infty} dq_{+} \int_{-k}^{k} \frac{dq_{-}}{k} \left(q_{+}^{2} - q_{-}^{2} \right) = \int_{\Omega_{k}}^{\infty} d\Omega_{+} \int_{-k\,\delta_{k}(\Omega_{+})}^{+k\,\delta_{k}(\Omega_{+})} \frac{d\Omega_{-}}{k} \left(\Omega_{+}^{2} - \Omega_{-}^{2} \right) \,, \tag{A.31}$$

where,

$$\Omega_k = \sqrt{k^2 + (M_1 + M_2)^2},$$

$$\delta_k \left(\Omega_+\right) = \frac{\sqrt{\Omega_+^2 - k^2 - (M_1 - M_2)^2} \sqrt{\Omega_+^2 - \Omega_k^2}}{\Omega_+^2 - k^2} + \frac{\Omega_+}{k} \frac{|M_1^2 - M_2^2|}{\Omega_+^2 - k^2}.$$
(A.32)

In the case of equal masses, these simplify to,

$$\Omega_{k} = \sqrt{k^{2} + 4M^{2}}, \quad \delta_{k} \left(\Omega_{+}\right) = \frac{\sqrt{\Omega_{+}^{2} - \Omega_{k}^{2}}}{\sqrt{\Omega_{k}^{2} - k^{2}}}.$$
(A.33)

To keep the following explicit expressions as succinct as possible, for the remainder of this subsubsection we are going to work with the rescaled variables,

$$\hat{\omega}_a = \frac{\omega_a}{\sqrt{k^2 + 4M^2}}, \quad \hat{k} = \frac{k}{\sqrt{k^2 + 4M^2}}, \quad \hat{m} = \frac{m}{\sqrt{k^2 + 4M^2}}, \quad \hat{\Omega}_{\pm} = \frac{\Omega_{\pm}}{\sqrt{k^2 + 4M^2}}. \quad (A.34)$$

Note that $0 \leq \hat{k} \leq 1$ is bounded in these variables, and since $4\hat{M}^2 = 1 - \hat{k}^2$ we can choose to write functions in terms of \hat{k} or \hat{M} as convenient. Altogether, (A.20) can therefore be written as,

$$\int \frac{d^{d}\mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \mathcal{I}(\Omega_{q_{1}},\Omega_{q_{2}}) = \frac{\Omega_{k}^{3}S_{d-2}}{8\hat{k}(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{1}^{\infty} d\hat{\Omega}_{+} \int_{-\hat{k}\delta_{k}(\Omega_{+})}^{+\hat{k}\delta_{k}(\Omega_{+})} d\hat{\Omega}_{-} \left(\hat{\Omega}_{+}^{2} - \hat{\Omega}_{-}^{2}\right) q_{1}^{d-3} \mathcal{I}(\Omega_{q_{1}},\Omega_{q_{2}}) \big|_{\substack{\Omega_{q_{1}} = \frac{1}{2}k(\hat{\Omega}_{+} + \hat{\Omega}_{-})\\\Omega_{q_{2}} = \frac{1}{2}k(\hat{\Omega}_{+} - \hat{\Omega}_{-})}} . \quad (A.35)$$

Master integrals. It is useful to define a small number of master integrals from which other, more complicated, integrals can be constructed. For $\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}$, we define two such building blocks,

$$\mathcal{J}_{k}(B) = \int_{1}^{\infty} d\hat{\Omega}_{+} \int_{-\hat{k}\delta_{k}(\Omega_{+})}^{+\hat{k}\delta_{k}(\Omega_{+})} d\hat{\Omega}_{-} \frac{1}{\hat{\Omega}_{+} + B},$$

$$\mathcal{J}_{k}(A;B) = \int_{1}^{\infty} d\hat{\Omega}_{+} \int_{-\hat{k}\delta_{k}(\Omega_{+})}^{+\hat{k}\delta_{k}(\Omega_{+})} d\hat{\Omega}_{-} \frac{1}{(\hat{\Omega}_{+} + \hat{\Omega}_{-} + A)(\hat{\Omega}_{+} + B)}.$$
 (A.36)

Other integrals can then be written straightforwardly in terms of these using partial fractions. For instance, consider,

$$\mathcal{I}(A; B_1, B_2) = \int_1^\infty d\hat{\Omega}_+ \int_{-\hat{k}\delta_k(\Omega_+)}^{+\hat{k}\delta_k(\Omega_+)} d\hat{\Omega}_- \frac{\hat{\Omega}_+^2 - \hat{\Omega}_-^2}{(\hat{\Omega}_+ + \hat{\Omega}_- + A)(\hat{\Omega}_+ + B_1)(\hat{\Omega}_+ + B_2)} \,.$$
(A.37)

Expanding the numerator in terms of the factors appearing in the denominator,

$$\Omega_{+}^{2} - \Omega_{-}^{2} = \left(\frac{B_{1} - A}{B_{1} - B_{2}}(\Omega_{+} + B_{2}) + \frac{B_{2} - A}{B_{2} - B_{1}}(\Omega_{+} + B_{1}) - \Omega_{-}\right)(\Omega_{+} + \Omega_{-} + A) + \frac{A(A - 2B_{1})}{B_{1} - B_{2}}(\Omega_{+} + B_{2}) + \frac{A(A - 2B_{2})}{B_{2} - B_{1}}(\Omega_{+} + B_{1})$$
(A.38)

immediately gives,

$$\mathcal{I}(A; B_1, B_2) = \frac{B_1 - A}{B_1 - B_2} \mathcal{J}_k(B_1) + \frac{B_2 - A}{B_2 - B_1} \mathcal{J}_k(B_2) + \frac{A(A - 2B_1)}{B_1 - B_2} \mathcal{J}_k(A; B_1) + \frac{A(A - 2B_2)}{B_2 - B_1} \mathcal{J}_k(A; B_2).$$
(A.39)

As discussed in section A.1, the apparent poles at $B_1 = B_2$ are spurious: the only singularities in $\mathcal{I}(A; B_1, B_2)$ come from the master integrals $\mathcal{J}_k(B_j)$ and $\mathcal{J}_k(A; B_j)$.

A.3.2 Equal masses

For the remainder of this subsection we are going to analyse the integral,

$$\omega_{12}\psi_2^{1\text{-loop}} = \int_{\mathbf{p}} \frac{1}{(\omega_1 + \Omega_{q_1} + \Omega_{q_2})(\omega_2 + \Omega_{q_2})} \left[\frac{1}{\omega_{12} + 2\Omega_{q_1}} + \frac{1}{\omega_{12} + 2\Omega_{q_2}} \right].$$
(A.40)

Changing to the Ω_{\pm} variables defined above, this can be written as,

$$\omega_{12}\psi_2^{1\text{-loop}} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2 \hat{k}} \mathcal{I}\left(\hat{\omega}_{12}; \hat{\omega}_1, \hat{\omega}_2\right), \qquad (A.41)$$

where $\mathcal{I}(A; B_1, B_2)$ is given in (A.39) in terms of the master integrals $\mathcal{J}_k(B)$ and $\mathcal{J}_k(A; B)$. We will now evaluate and discuss each of these master integrals in turn — see table 3 for a concise summary of their singular points.

(i) The $\mathcal{J}_k(B)$ integral

Performing the $\hat{\Omega}_{-}$ integral in (A.36) produces a factor of $\delta_k(\Omega_+)$ in the numerator, which we write as $(\hat{\Omega}_+^2 - 1)/\sqrt{(\hat{\Omega}_+^2 - 1)(\hat{\Omega}_+^2 - \hat{k}^2)}$ in order to isolate the UV divergence at large $\hat{\Omega}_+$. This splits $\mathcal{J}_k(B)$ into,

$$\frac{1}{2\hat{k}}\mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}) = \tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k + \tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\hat{\omega}) + \mathcal{O}(\hat{\omega})$$
(A.42)

where,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{k} = \int_{1}^{\infty} d\hat{\Omega}_{+} \frac{\hat{\Omega}_{+}}{\sqrt{\hat{\Omega}_{+}^{2} - 1}\sqrt{\hat{\Omega}_{+}^{2} - \hat{k}^{2}}},$$
$$\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{k}(\hat{\omega}) = \int_{1}^{\infty} d\hat{\Omega}_{+} \frac{\hat{\omega}^{2} - 1}{\sqrt{\hat{\Omega}_{+}^{2} - 1}\sqrt{\hat{\Omega}_{+}^{2} - \hat{k}^{2}}(\hat{\omega} + \hat{\Omega}_{+})},$$
(A.43)

and the term linear in $\hat{\omega}$ does not contribute to $\mathcal{I}(\omega_{12};\omega_1,\omega_2)$. The virtue of this split is that now only $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k$ is UV divergent, while $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\hat{\omega})$ (and also $\mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}_{12},\hat{\omega}_1)$ and $\mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}_{12},\hat{\omega}_2)$) are finite and responsible for the non-analytic structure.

The UV divergent integral can be performed straightforwardly using a hard cut-off, $\int_1^{\hat{\Lambda}} d\hat{\Omega}_+$, which gives simply,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k = \log\left(\frac{\Lambda}{M}\right).$$
(A.44)

This does not contribute to any non-analyticity in the complex ω planes at fixed M.

Given the rational form of the finite remainder $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\hat{\omega})$ in (A.43), we expect $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega})) = 1$ and $\mathcal{G}(\mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega})) = 1$. This is the same complexity as the elliptic integrals, and indeed $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\omega)$ integral can be written in terms of (upper²²) elliptic integrals of the first and third kinds,

 $^{^{22}}$ The tilde is used to distinguish these from the more common lower incomplete integrals, which are defined using $\int_{0}^{\phi} dt$.

which are defined by the integral representations,

$$\tilde{F}(\phi,n) = \int_{\phi}^{1} \frac{dt}{\sqrt{1-t^2}\sqrt{1-n^2t^2}}, \quad \tilde{\Pi}(\phi,n_1,n_2) = \int_{\phi}^{1} \frac{dt}{\sqrt{1-t^2}\sqrt{1-n_1^2t^2}(1-n_2^2t^2)}.$$
(A.45)

Explicitly,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{k}(\hat{\omega}) = -\frac{2i}{1-\hat{k}} \left[(\hat{\omega}-1)\tilde{F}\left(\sqrt{\alpha_{k}}, \frac{1}{\alpha_{k}^{2}}\right) + 2\tilde{\Pi}\left(\sqrt{\alpha_{k}}, \frac{\hat{\omega}+1}{\alpha_{k}(\hat{\omega}-1)}, \frac{1}{\alpha_{k}^{2}}\right) \right] + \mathcal{O}\left(\hat{\omega}\right), \quad (A.46)$$

where we have discarded terms that are linear in ω (since these do not contribute to $\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}$) and introduced the ratio,

$$\alpha_k = \frac{1 - \hat{k}}{1 + \hat{k}} \,. \tag{A.47}$$

Analytic structure. The representation (A.46) is useful because the singularities of these special functions are well-documented, and in particular (A.46) is an analytic function of ω_1 at fixed $\{\omega_2, k, M\}$ except for a single branch cut²³ at $\omega_1 = -\sqrt{k^2 + 4M^2}$. This is most easily seen from a series expansion of $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\hat{\omega})$ in $\epsilon = \hat{\omega} + 1$,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(-1+\epsilon) = \sqrt{\epsilon} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \epsilon^n B_n(k) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \epsilon^n C_n(k) , \qquad (A.48)$$

which reveals that there is a square-root branch cut, $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\hat{\omega}) \sim \sqrt{\hat{\omega}+1}$, near the twoparticle threshold.

While the functions $B_n(k)$ and $C_n(k)$ appearing in (A.48) can be found by looking up the series expansions of elliptic integrals, it is instructive to show how they can be derived from the original integral (A.43) directly. This can be done using the *method of regions* familiar from Feynman integrals for amplitudes. Changing integration variables with $\Omega_+ = 1 + z^2$ allows us to write $\mathcal{J}_k(\omega)$ as,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(-1+\epsilon) = 2\epsilon(\epsilon-2) \int_0^\infty dz \, g_k(z^2) \, f(z^2+\epsilon) \,, \tag{A.49}$$

where,

$$g_k(z^2) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(z^2+2)(z^2+1-k)(z^2+1+k)}}, \quad f(z^2+\epsilon) = \frac{1}{z^2+\epsilon}.$$
 (A.50)

The method of regions is a strategy for determining the small ϵ expansion of the integral in terms of the expansion of the integrand. The idea is to split the integration into two pieces,

$$\tilde{\Pi}\left(\sqrt{\alpha}, \frac{\omega+1}{\alpha(\omega-1)}, \frac{1}{\alpha^2}\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n(k)(\omega-1)^n = \tilde{F}\left(\sqrt{\alpha_k}, \frac{1}{\alpha_k^2}\right) + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n(k)(\omega+1)^n.$$

²³Note that, despite appearances, $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\omega)$ is analytic at $\omega = \pm 1$, since the elliptic $\tilde{\Pi}$ integral has series expansions,

 $\left(\int_0^{\Delta} + \int_{\Delta}^{\infty}\right) dz$, where Δ is chosen in the range $\epsilon \ll \Delta^2 \ll 1 - \hat{k}$ but is otherwise arbitrary. Then in the first of these integration regions we can expand $g_k(z^2)$ at small z and in the second region we can expand $f(z^2 + \epsilon)$ at small ϵ . Since Δ is an arbitrary separation that we have introduced by hand, any dependence on it will drop out of the final result (once both regions are summed). Applying this method to (A.49) gives,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(-1+\epsilon) = 2\epsilon(\epsilon-2) \left(I_k^<(\epsilon,\Delta) + I_k^>(\epsilon,\Delta) \right) , \qquad (A.51)$$

where the first two terms in each region are,

$$\begin{split} I_k^<(\epsilon,\Delta) &= \int_0^\Delta dz \, f(z^2 + \epsilon) \, \left(g_k(0) + g_k'(0) z^2 + \mathcal{O}\left(z^4\right) \right) \\ &= \Delta^1 \left[g_k'(0) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon) \right] + \Delta^0 \left[\frac{\pi g_k(0)}{2\sqrt{\epsilon}} - \frac{\pi g_k'(0)}{2} \sqrt{\epsilon} + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon^{3/2}\right) \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{\Delta} \left[-g_k(0) + \epsilon g_k'(0) + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon^2\right) \right] + \frac{1}{\Delta^3} \left[\frac{g_k(0)}{3} \epsilon + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon^2\right) \right] + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\epsilon^2}{\Delta^5}, \Delta^3\right) , \end{split}$$
(A.52)

and (replacing z with $y = z^2$),

$$\begin{split} I_{k}^{>}(\epsilon,\Delta) &= \int_{\Delta^{2}}^{\infty} \frac{dy}{2\sqrt{y}} g_{k}(y) \left(f(y) + \epsilon f'(y) + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon^{2}\right)\right) \\ &= \epsilon^{0} \left[\frac{g_{k}(0)}{\Delta} + c_{0}(\hat{k}) - g_{k}'(0)\Delta + \mathcal{O}\left(\Delta^{3}\right)\right] + \epsilon \left[\frac{-g_{k}(0)}{3\Delta^{3}} - \frac{g_{k}'(0)}{\Delta} + c_{1}(\hat{k}) + \mathcal{O}\left(\Delta\right)\right] + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon^{2}\right), \end{split}$$

$$(A.53)$$

where the $c_n(\hat{k})$ are particular elliptic functions of \hat{k} only, the explicit form of which is unimportant for determining analyticity in ϵ . When summed, $I_k^> + I_k^<$ is indeed independent of Δ , and in fact takes the form (A.48) as previously advertised. In particular, the Δ^0 terms in (A.52) determines the leading branch cut discontinuities to be,²⁴

$$B_0(k) = -2\pi g_k(0) = -\frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{1-k^2}},$$

$$B_1(k) = \pi \left(g_k(0) + 2g'_k(0)\right) = \frac{B_0(k)}{1-k^2}.$$
(A.54)

In summary, $\mathcal{J}_k(B)$ can be written explicitly in terms of elliptic integrals (see (A.46)), and has a square-root branch point at B = -1.

(ii) The $\mathcal{J}_k(A; B)$ integrals

Now we turn to the master integral $\mathcal{J}_k(A; B)$ defined in (A.36), which has $(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{G}) = (2, 1)$. Performing this integral explicitly would therefore require the use of special functions such

$$B_n(k) = \pi \left(g_k^{(n)}(0) - 2g_k^{(n+1)}(0) \right) \,.$$

²⁴Note that continuing to arbitrary orders in ϵ in the lower integral fully determines the branch cut discontinuity for all $n \ge 1$,

as the elliptic-dilogarithm. Since our goal is merely to establish the analytic structure of $\mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}_1, \hat{\omega}_2)$ and $\mathcal{J}_k(\omega_2, \omega_1)$ in the complex ω_1 plane, we will instead consider their first ω_1 derivatives, since these share the same singular points in the complex ω_1 plane but have a lower degree of transcendentality. These derivatives are explicitly given by,

$$\partial_{\hat{\omega}_{1}}\mathcal{J}_{k}(\hat{\omega}_{12},\hat{\omega}_{2}) = \int_{1}^{\infty} d\hat{\Omega}_{+} \frac{(\hat{\Omega}_{+}^{2} - \hat{k}^{2})(\hat{\Omega}_{+}^{2} - 1)}{\sqrt{\hat{\Omega}_{+}^{2} - 1}\sqrt{\hat{\Omega}_{+}^{2} - \hat{k}^{2}}(\hat{\Omega}_{+} + \hat{\omega}_{2})} \frac{2\hat{k}}{D_{k}(\hat{\Omega}_{+},\hat{\omega}_{12})},$$

$$\partial_{\hat{\omega}_{1}}\mathcal{J}_{k}(\hat{\omega}_{12},\hat{\omega}_{1}) = \int_{1}^{\infty} d\hat{\Omega}_{+} \frac{\hat{\Omega}_{+}(\hat{\Omega}_{+} + \hat{\omega}_{12})}{\sqrt{\hat{\Omega}_{+}^{2} - 1}\sqrt{\hat{\Omega}_{+}^{2} - \hat{k}^{2}}(\hat{\Omega}_{+} + \hat{\omega}_{1})} \frac{8\hat{M}^{2}\hat{k}}{D_{k}(\hat{\Omega}_{+},\hat{\omega}_{12})}, \qquad (A.55)$$

where the polynomial denominator is,

$$D_k(\hat{\Omega}_+, \hat{\omega}_{12}) = (\hat{\Omega}_+ + \hat{\omega}_{12})^2 (\hat{\Omega}_+^2 - \hat{k}^2) - \hat{k}^2 (\hat{\Omega}_+^2 - 1).$$
 (A.56)

By using partial fractions, it is possible to write (A.55) in terms of the $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\omega)$ integrals studied above,

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\hat{\omega}_{1}}\mathcal{J}_{k}(\hat{\omega}_{12};\hat{\omega}_{2}) &= \\ &-\frac{\hat{k}\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{k}(\hat{\omega}_{2})(\omega_{2}^{2}-k^{2})}{(\hat{\omega}_{1}^{2}-\hat{k}^{2}\delta(\omega_{2})^{2})(\hat{\omega}_{2}^{2}-\hat{k}^{2}\delta(\omega_{1})^{2})} - \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\hat{\omega}_{12}^{2}-4\hat{M}^{2}}} \frac{\bar{z}_{+,k}^{2}-\hat{k}^{2}}{\bar{z}_{+,k}-\hat{\omega}_{2}} \frac{\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{k}(\bar{z}_{+,k})}{2\bar{z}_{+,k}-\hat{\omega}_{12}} \\ &+\frac{1}{2\sqrt{\hat{\omega}_{12}^{2}-4\hat{M}^{2}}} \frac{\bar{z}_{-,k}^{2}-\hat{k}^{2}}{\bar{z}_{-,k}-\hat{\omega}_{2}} \frac{\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{k}(\bar{z}_{-,k})}{2\bar{z}_{-,k}-\hat{\omega}_{12}} - (k\leftrightarrow-k) , \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\hat{\omega}_{1}}\mathcal{J}_{k}(\hat{\omega}_{12},\hat{\omega}_{1}) &= \\ &-\frac{4\hat{M}^{2}\hat{\omega}_{1}\hat{\omega}_{2}}{(\hat{\omega}_{1}^{2}-1)\left(\hat{\omega}_{1}^{2}-\hat{k}^{2}\delta(\omega_{2})^{2}\right)}\frac{2\hat{k}\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{k}(\hat{\omega}_{1})}{\hat{\omega}_{2}^{2}-\hat{k}^{2}\delta(\omega_{1})^{2}} - \frac{4\hat{M}^{2}}{\sqrt{\omega_{12}^{2}-4M^{2}}}\frac{\bar{z}_{+,k}\bar{z}_{-,k}}{(\bar{z}_{+,k}^{2}-1)(\bar{z}_{+,k}-\hat{\omega}_{1})}\frac{\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{k}(\bar{z}_{+,k})}{2\bar{z}_{+,k}-\hat{\omega}_{12}} \\ &+\frac{4\hat{M}^{2}}{\sqrt{\omega_{12}^{2}-4m^{2}}}\frac{\bar{z}_{+,k}\bar{z}_{-,k}}{(\bar{z}_{-,k}^{2}-1)(\bar{z}_{-,k}-\hat{\omega}_{1})}\frac{\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{k}(\bar{z}_{-,k})}{2\bar{z}_{-,k}-\hat{\omega}_{12}} - (k\leftrightarrow-k) , \end{aligned}$$
(A.57)

where the four \overline{z} are (minus) the roots of the D_k polynomial,

$$D_k(\hat{\Omega}_+, \hat{\omega}_{12}) = (\hat{\Omega}_+ + \bar{z}_{+,k})(\hat{\Omega}_+ + \bar{z}_{-,k})(\hat{\Omega}_+ + \bar{z}_{+,-k})(\hat{\Omega}_+ + \bar{z}_{-,-k}), \qquad (A.58)$$

and can be written explicitly as,²⁵

$$\bar{z}_{\pm,k}(\hat{\omega}_{12}) = \frac{\hat{\omega}_{12}}{2} \pm \sqrt{\frac{\hat{\omega}_{12}^2}{4} + \hat{k}^2 + \hat{k}\sqrt{\frac{\hat{\omega}_{12}^2}{4} - \hat{M}^2}}.$$
 (A.59)

Analytic structure. All of the apparent poles in (A.57) introduced by the partial fractioning correspond to spurious singularities with zero residue. To show this requires some care, since the $\bar{z}_{\pm,k}(\hat{\omega}_{12})$ are not analytic functions of ω_1 . In particular, they have branch points at $\hat{\omega}_{12} = \pm 2M$ and at the four complex values $\hat{\omega}_{12} = 2\sqrt{\hat{k}}e^{i\varphi/2}$ where $\cos\varphi = \hat{k}$. However, these non-analyticities appear in pairs exactly analogous to the example (A.7) given above. In more detail, the spurious singularities are:

²⁵Note that if we parameterise $\omega_{12} = 2\sqrt{p^2 + m^2}$, these roots can be written simply as $\bar{z}_{\pm,k} = \Omega_p \pm \Omega_{p+k}$.

(i) at any $\bar{z}(\hat{\omega}_{12}) = \hat{\omega}_2$, which corresponds to $\hat{\omega}_1 = \pm k \delta_k(\omega_2)$. This is spurious, since \bar{z} is an analytic function of $\hat{\omega}_1$ near this point. To see the cancellation explicitly, fix ω_2 in the interval $0 \le \omega_2 < k$ and then expand $\hat{\omega}_1 = -k \delta_k(\omega_2) + \epsilon$. This gives,

$$\bar{z}_{-,k} = \hat{\omega}_2 - \epsilon \,\delta_k(\omega_2) \,\frac{\hat{\omega}_2^2 - \hat{k}^2}{(\hat{k} - \hat{\omega}_2 \delta_k(\omega_2))(k\delta_k(\omega_2) + \hat{\omega}_2)} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)\,,\tag{A.60}$$

so we have a cancellation between the following two terms,

$$\left| -\frac{\hat{k}\,\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{k}(\hat{\omega}_{2})(\omega_{2}-\hat{k}^{2})}{(\hat{\omega}_{1}^{2}-\hat{k}^{2}\delta(\omega_{2})^{2})(\hat{\omega}_{2}^{2}-\hat{k}^{2}\delta(\omega_{1})^{2})} + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\hat{\omega}_{12}^{2}-4\hat{M}^{2}}} \frac{\bar{z}_{-,k}^{2}-\hat{k}^{2}}{\bar{z}_{-,k}-\hat{\omega}_{2}} \frac{\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{k}(\bar{z}_{-,k})}{2\bar{z}_{-,k}-\hat{\omega}_{12}} \right| \Big|_{\hat{\omega}_{1}=-\hat{k}\delta_{k}(\omega_{2})+\epsilon} = \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon^{0}\right),$$
(A.61)

which leaves a remainder that is analytic in ϵ (and hence analytic in $\hat{\omega}_1$).

- (ii) at any $\bar{z}(\hat{\omega}_{12}) = \hat{\omega}_1$, which corresponds to $\hat{\omega}_2 = \pm k \delta_k(\omega_1)$. This is spurious since \bar{z}_k is an analytic function of $\hat{\omega}_1$ near this point, just as (i) above.
- (iii) at $\omega_{12} = \pm 2m$, which corresponds to the roots degenerating into two pairs. Physically, this singularity corresponds to one of the internal edges carrying zero energy, which is why it coincides with the threshold from the one-edge loop diagram. For instance, expanding around $\omega_{12} = +2M + \epsilon$,

$$\bar{z}_{\pm,k}(2m+\epsilon) = \hat{M} \pm 2\sqrt{\hat{M}^2 + \hat{k}^2} - \sqrt{\epsilon} \frac{\hat{k}\sqrt{\hat{M}}}{\sqrt{\hat{M}^2 + \hat{k}^2}} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon),$$
$$\bar{z}_{\pm,-k}(2m+\epsilon) = \hat{M} \pm 2\sqrt{\hat{M}^2 + \hat{k}^2} + \sqrt{\epsilon} \frac{\hat{k}\sqrt{\hat{M}}}{\sqrt{\hat{M}^2 + \hat{k}^2}} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon).$$
(A.62)

The square brackets multiplying $1/\sqrt{\hat{\omega}_{12}^2 - 4\hat{M}^2}$ in (A.57) therefore have an odd power series in $\sqrt{\epsilon}$, so overall the product is an analytic function of ϵ (and hence ω_1).

(iv) at $\bar{z}(\hat{\omega}_{12}) = \hat{\omega}_{12}/2$, which corresponds to $\hat{\omega}_{12} = 2\sqrt{\hat{k}}e^{i\varphi/2}$ with $\cos\varphi = \hat{k}$. At each of these four points in the $\hat{\omega}_1$ plane, all four of the roots degenerate. Physically, this singularity corresponds to both of the internal edges carrying zero energy. But as in (iii) above, expanding in $\epsilon = \hat{\omega}_{12} - 2\sqrt{\hat{k}}e^{i\varphi/2}$ shows that the factor of $1/(2\bar{z} - \hat{\omega}_{12})$ multiplies an odd power series in $\sqrt{\epsilon}$, so overall there is no branch cut in the ω_1 plane.

The only physical singularities in (A.57) therefore arise from each of the $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\omega)$ factors. In particular, we have shown above that $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\hat{\omega}_1)$ has a branch point at $\hat{\omega}_1 = -1$, and so we see that $\mathcal{J}_k(\omega_{12}, \omega_1)$ also has this branch point.²⁶ The only other potential singularity would be when a root $\bar{z}(\hat{\omega}_{12}) = -1$. However, for $0 < \hat{k} < 1$, the only value of ω_1 for which

²⁶We also see that there can be no cancellation between the $\hat{\omega}_1 = -1$ singularities in $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\omega_1)$ and $\mathcal{J}_k(\omega_{12}, \omega_1)$, since the latter branch cut is the integral of the former.

	$\mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}_1)$	$\mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}_{12};\hat{\omega}_1)$	$\mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}_{12};\hat{\omega}_2)$
Finite mass $(0 < \hat{k} < 1)$	-1	-1	
Massless $(\hat{k} \to 1)$	-1	$ -1, -\hat{\omega}_2, -\hat{\omega}_2 - 2$	$\begin{vmatrix} -\hat{\omega}_2, & -\hat{\omega}_2-2 \end{vmatrix}$
Soft limit $(\hat{k} \to 0)$	-1	$-1, -\hat{\omega}_2 - 1$	$-\hat{\omega}_2 - 1$

Table 3. The location of singular points in the complex $\hat{\omega}_1$ plane of the three integrals from which $\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}$ is constructed (given in (A.43)). The branch point at $\hat{\omega}_{12} = -2$ which develops in the massless limit is shown in red to indicate that it cancels out in the full $\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}$. The singularity at $\hat{\omega}_1 = -1$ (i.e. $\omega_1 = -\sqrt{k^2 + 4M^2}$) predicted by the heuristic argument is present in all cases, and in the massless and soft limits there is also the singularity at $\omega_{12} = -2M$ predicted from the simpler one-edge loop.

this can happen is $\hat{\omega}_1 = -\hat{\omega}_2 - 1$, at which one of the roots has a turning point at -1. That is to say, if we expand this particular root near the potentially singular value of ω_1 ,

$$\bar{z}(-1+\epsilon) = -1 - \epsilon^2 \frac{2m^2}{k^2} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3), \qquad (A.63)$$

the expansion has no linear term in ϵ . So if we repeat the method of regions argument above, we find that,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\bar{z}(-1+\epsilon)) = \epsilon \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \epsilon^{2n} \bar{B}_n(k) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \epsilon^{2n} \bar{C}_n(k)$$
(A.64)

and this is, in fact, an analytic function of ϵ (and hence $\hat{\omega}_1$) near $\omega_1 = -\omega_2 - 1$. Consequently, we can conclude from (A.57) that the only singular points in the complex ω_1 plane (at fixed $\{\omega_2, k, m\}$) arise from $\mathcal{J}_k(\omega_{12}, \omega_1)$ at $\hat{\omega}_1 = -1$.

Summary. Altogether, the integral (A.41) for $\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}$ can be written as,

$$\omega_{12}\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left[2\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k + 2\frac{\omega_1\tilde{\mathcal{J}}(\hat{\omega}_2) - \omega_2\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\hat{\omega}_1)}{\omega_1 - \omega_2} - \frac{\omega_{12}}{k}\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\hat{\omega}_1, \hat{\omega}_2) - \frac{\omega_{12}}{k}\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\hat{\omega}_2, \hat{\omega}_1) \right]$$
(A.65)

where $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k$ is a simple logarithmic divergence given in (A.44), $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(B)$ is an elliptic integral given in (A.46), and $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(A; B)$ is an integral of an elliptic integral given in (A.57). The only singular points in the complex ω_1 plane are at $\hat{\omega}_1 = -1$ (and $\hat{\omega}_1 = -\infty$).

A.3.3 Massless limit

In the massless limit, $M \to 0$, we have $\hat{k} \to 1$. In particular, in order to apply the method of regions in section A.3.2, we had to assume that $\epsilon \ll 1 - \hat{k}$. In the massless limit this is no longer possible, and so $\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}$ may contain additional singular points.

Fortunately, in this limit the master integrals in (A.36) both have $\mathcal{G} = 0$ and can be evaluated immediately in terms of polylogarithms,²⁷

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J}_{1}(B) &= \int_{1}^{\hat{\Lambda}} d\hat{q}_{+} \int_{-1}^{+1} d\hat{q}_{-} \frac{1}{B + \hat{q}_{+}} = 2\log\left(\frac{\hat{\Lambda}}{B + 1}\right) \\ \mathcal{J}_{1}(A;B) &= \int_{1}^{\infty} d\hat{q}_{+} \int_{-1}^{+1} d\hat{q}_{-} \frac{1}{(A + \hat{q}_{+} + \hat{q}_{-})(B + \hat{q}_{+})} = \operatorname{Li}_{2}\left(\frac{B - A + 1}{B + 1}\right) - \operatorname{Li}_{2}\left(\frac{B - A - 1}{B + 1}\right) \\ (A.66) \end{aligned}$$

Both have a logarithmic branch point at B = -1, and $\mathcal{J}_1(A; B)$ has further dilogarithmic branch points at A = 0 and A = -2.

In this limit, $\mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}_{12};\hat{\omega}_1)$ retains the singularity at $\hat{\omega}_1 = -1$,

$$\lim_{k \to 1} \mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}_{12}, \hat{\omega}_1) \sim \log^2(\hat{\omega}_1 + 1) \text{ near } \hat{\omega}_1 = -1, \qquad (A.67)$$

identified above for finite masses, but now it also acquires branch points at $\hat{\omega}_1 = -\hat{\omega}_2$ and $\hat{\omega}_1 = -\hat{\omega}_2 - 2$, where the dilogarithms are finite but not smooth. These non-analyticities are due to the $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\bar{z})$ terms in (A.57), since in the massless limit the four roots become,

$$\lim_{k \to 1} \bar{z}(\hat{\omega}_{12}) = \{-1, -1 + \hat{\omega}_{12}, 1 + \hat{\omega}_{12}, 1\}, \qquad (A.68)$$

and are now linear in ω_1 . However, note while $\mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}_{12}, \hat{\omega}_2)$ was previously analytic in ω_1 (at fixed finite mass), now this integral also develops branch points at $\hat{\omega}_1 = -\hat{\omega}_2$ and $\hat{\omega}_1 = -\hat{\omega}_2 - 2$. In particular, the residue of the $\hat{\omega}_1 = -\hat{\omega}_2 - 1$ branch points are equal and opposite, so that overall the sum of $\mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}_{12}; \hat{\omega}_1) + \mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}_{12}; \hat{\omega}_2)$ is actually analytic there. Concretely, the terms which are non-analytic at $\hat{\omega}_1 = -\hat{\omega}_2 - 2$,

$$\mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}_{12};\hat{\omega}_1) + \mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}_{12};\hat{\omega}_2) \supset \operatorname{Li}_2\left(-\frac{\hat{\omega}_1+1}{\hat{\omega}_2+1}\right) + \operatorname{Li}_2\left(-\frac{\hat{\omega}_2+1}{\hat{\omega}_1+1}\right)$$
(A.69)

partially cancel due to the dilogarithm identity,

$$\operatorname{Li}_{2}(z) + \operatorname{Li}_{2}\left(\frac{1}{z}\right) = -\frac{1}{2}\log^{2}(-z) - \frac{\pi^{2}}{6} \text{ for } z > 1.$$
 (A.70)

Altogether, substituting (A.66) into (A.41) and using the identity (A.70), the final result for $\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}$ in this massless limit is,

$$\omega_{12}\psi_{2}^{1\text{-loop}}(\omega_{1},\omega_{2},k) = \frac{1}{8\pi^{2}} \left[\frac{\omega_{2}\log\left(\frac{\omega_{1}+k}{\Lambda}\right) - \omega_{1}\log\left(\frac{\omega_{2}+k}{\Lambda}\right)}{\omega_{1}-\omega_{2}} - \frac{\omega_{12}}{2k} \left(\frac{1}{2}\log^{2}\left(\frac{\omega_{1}+k}{\omega_{2}+k}\right) + \frac{\pi^{2}}{6} + \text{Li}_{2}\left(\frac{k-\omega_{2}}{k+\omega_{1}}\right) + \text{Li}_{2}\left(\frac{k-\omega_{1}}{k+\omega_{2}}\right) \right) \right].$$
(A.71)

²⁷This follows immediately from the indefinite integral,

$$\int \frac{d\hat{q}_{+}d\hat{q}_{-}}{(A+\hat{q}_{+}+\hat{q}_{-})(B+\hat{q}_{+})} = \operatorname{Li}_{2}\left(\frac{B-A-\hat{q}_{-}}{B+\hat{q}_{+}}\right) \,.$$

Finally, note that if we attempt the split (A.42) in the massless limit, we find that both $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(B)$ in (A.43) develop an additional logarithmic IR divergence. These can be regulated by also cutting off the lower limit of the integration, $\int_{1+\epsilon}^{\hat{\Lambda}} d\hat{\Omega}_+$, which gives,

$$\lim_{\hat{k}\to 1} \tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k = \frac{1}{2} \log\left(\frac{\Lambda^2}{2\epsilon}\right),$$
$$\lim_{\hat{k}\to 1} \mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}) = \frac{1}{2} \log\left(\frac{2\epsilon}{(\hat{\omega}+1)^2}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\hat{\omega}).$$
(A.72)

Note that the logarithmic divergence in ϵ cancels, rendering the full $\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}$ finite as $M \to 0$.

A.3.4 Soft limit

The soft limit $\hat{k} \to 0$ is another limiting case in which the master integrals (A.36) become elementary,

$$\mathcal{J}_{0}(\hat{\omega}) = \int_{1}^{\infty} d\Omega_{+} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\hat{\Omega}_{+}(\hat{\Omega}_{+} - 1)}(\Omega_{+} + \omega)}} = \frac{2 \arcsin\left(\sqrt{-\hat{\omega}}\right)}{\sqrt{-\hat{\omega}(1 + \hat{\omega})}}.$$
$$\mathcal{J}_{0}(\hat{\omega}_{12}, \hat{\omega}_{1}) = -\int_{1}^{\infty} \frac{d\hat{\Omega}_{+}}{\hat{\Omega}_{+}} \frac{2\sqrt{\hat{\Omega}_{+}^{2} - 1}}{(\hat{\Omega}_{+} + \hat{\omega}_{12})(\hat{\Omega}_{+} + \hat{\omega}_{1})}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\hat{\omega}_{1}} \left(\frac{\pi}{\hat{\omega}_{12}} + \frac{2\sqrt{1 - \hat{\omega}_{12}^{2}}}{\hat{\omega}_{12}} \arccos(\hat{\omega}_{12}) + \frac{2\sqrt{1 - \hat{\omega}_{1}^{2}}}{\hat{\omega}_{1}} \arccos(\hat{\omega}_{1})\right). \quad (A.73)$$

Again we see that the only branch point in $\mathcal{J}_0(\hat{\omega})$ is at the two-particle threshold $\hat{\omega} = -1$, and it is of the square-root form established by our method of regions analysis above. The $\mathcal{J}_0(\hat{\omega}_{12};\hat{\omega}_1)$ integral, on the other hand, has both a branch point at $\hat{\omega}_1 = -1$ and also an additional one at $\hat{\omega}_{12} = -1$ (the apparent poles at $\hat{\omega}_2 = 0$, $\hat{\omega}_1 = 0$ and $\hat{\omega}_{12} = 0$ are all removable singularities with zero residue). The analogous $\mathcal{J}_0(\hat{\omega}_{12};\hat{\omega}_2)$ also has a branch point at $\hat{\omega}_{12} = -1$. These additional branch points are due to the $\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_k(\bar{z})$ terms in (A.57), since in this limit the roots again become linear in ω_1 ,

$$\lim_{k \to 0} \bar{z}(\hat{\omega}_{12}) = \{\omega_{12}, \omega_{12}, 0, 0\}.$$
 (A.74)

This branch point does not cancel out, but since $\hat{\omega}_{12} = -1$ corresponds to $\omega_{12} = -2m$ in the soft limit we recognise this as the threshold from the simple one-edge diagram.

A.3.5 Amplitude limit

Note that taking $\omega_{12} \to 0$ should recover the one-loop correction to a Minkowski scattering amplitude. Since $\mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}_{12};\hat{\omega}_1)$ and $\mathcal{J}_k(\hat{\omega}_{12};\hat{\omega}_2)$ are both finite in that limit (for any value of the mass), these terms do not contribute to (A.41). This amplitude limit therefore corresponds to setting $(\hat{\omega}_2 + 1)/(\hat{\omega}_2 - 1) = (\hat{\omega}_1 - 1)/(\hat{\omega}_1 + 1)$ in (A.46), and indeed there are various identities which can simplify sums of the form $\tilde{\Pi}(\phi, \frac{\beta}{\alpha}, \frac{1}{\alpha^2}) + \tilde{\Pi}(\phi, \frac{1}{\alpha\beta}, \frac{1}{\alpha^2})$. A simpler route is to return to the original integral,

$$\frac{\omega_1 \mathcal{J}_k(\omega_2) - \omega_2 \mathcal{J}_k(\omega_1)}{\omega_1 - \omega_2} = \int_1^\infty d\hat{\Omega}_+ \,\delta_k(\Omega_+) \frac{\hat{\Omega}_+ + \hat{\omega}_{12}}{(\hat{\Omega}_+ + \hat{\omega}_1)(\hat{\Omega}_+ + \hat{\omega}_2)} \,. \tag{A.75}$$
When $\omega_{12} \to 0$, we can perform this integral simply by changing variables to $y = 1/\delta_k(\Omega_+)$,

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(\mathcal{J}_k(\omega) + \mathcal{J}_k(-\omega)\right) = \int_1^\infty \frac{dy}{y^2} \left[\frac{1}{y^2 - 1} + \frac{2s}{s - y^2(s - 4m^2)}\right],$$
 (A.76)

where $s = \omega_1^2 - k^2$. The first term is responsible for the divergence (note that it is independent of the kinematic variables), while the second term evaluates to,

$$\lim_{\omega_2 \to -\omega_1} \omega_{12} \psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}(\omega_1, \omega_2, k) = \text{div} + \sqrt{\frac{4M^2 - s}{s}} \operatorname{arcsinh}\left(\sqrt{\frac{s}{4M^2}}\right), \quad (A.77)$$

where $s = \omega_1^2 - k^2$. This is the familiar one-loop result²⁸ for a scattering amplitude, with a two-particle threshold at $s = 4M^2$.

In d = 1 dimensions A.3.6

Note that in d = 1 spatial dimensions, only a single integration variables is needed, and often it is most convenient to simply use q_1 , writing (A.20) as

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{dq_1}{2\pi} \mathcal{I}(\Omega_{q_1}, \Omega_{q_1-k}).$$
(A.78)

For instance, for the exchange of two massless edges,

$$\omega_{12}\psi_{2}^{1\text{-loop}} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dp \frac{1}{(\omega_{1} + |p| + |p - k|)(\omega_{2} + |p| + |p - k|)} \left(\frac{1}{\omega_{12} + 2|p|} + \frac{1}{\omega_{12} + 2|p - k|}\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\pi(\omega_{1} - \omega_{2})} \left(\frac{\omega_{2}\log\left(\frac{\omega_{1} + k}{\omega_{1} + \omega_{2}}\right)}{\omega_{2}^{2} - k^{2}} - \frac{\omega_{1}\log\left(\frac{\omega_{2} + k}{\omega_{1} + \omega_{2}}\right)}{\omega_{1}^{2} - k^{2}}\right).$$
(A.79)

Note that $(\mathcal{T},\mathcal{G}) = (1,0)$, since despite having a dependence on both |p| and |p-k| there is only a single integral over a rational function.²⁹

Three internal edges A.4

(

For a one-loop diagram with three vertices, the integrand will depend on the loop momenta through three independent combinations, namely the energies associated with the momenta $(\mathbf{q}_{12}, \mathbf{q}_{23}, \mathbf{q}_{31})$ of the internal lines, where momentum conservation fixes their differences,

$$\mathbf{q}_{12} - \mathbf{q}_{31} = \mathbf{k}_1, \ \mathbf{q}_{23} - \mathbf{q}_{12} = \mathbf{k}_2, \ \mathbf{q}_{31} - \mathbf{q}_{23} = \mathbf{k}_3,$$
 (A.80)

and also sets $\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3 = 0$ (so only two of the three equalities in (A.80) are independent). Given this constraint, the magnitudes of the internal momenta can be viewed as three edge lengths of a tetrahedron, whose triangular base is fixed by the external momenta $(\mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2, \mathbf{k}_3)$. This is shown in figure 9.

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} \frac{dy}{y^2} \, \frac{2s}{s - y^2(s - 4m^2)} = \int_{0}^{1} dx \log\left(\frac{sx(1 - x) + M^2}{4M^2}\right) \, .$$

It would be interesting to explore whether an analogous change of variables could be used to introduce a simple Feynman parametrisation of the loop integrals for general values of ω_{12} . ²⁹Concretely, dividing the integration into regions $\int_{-\infty}^{0} + \int_{0}^{k} + \int_{k}^{\infty}$ produces three separate integrals over

rational functions.

²⁸In fact, by changing variables to $x = s(1 - 1/y^2)$, we can even write this arcsinh in a familiar Feynmanparametrised form,



Figure 9. The one-loop contribution to $\psi_3^{1-\text{loop}}$ with three internal lines is described by six momenta which, due to momentum conservation, form the edges of a tetrahedron.

A.4.1 Generalities

Let us first consider $d \geq 3$ spatial dimensions. As in the two vertex case, it would seem prudent to use the edge lengths (q_{12}, q_{23}, q_{31}) as our integration variables. The domain of integration is then determined by the condition that there exists a tetrahedron with these edge lengths. Clearly each of the four triangular faces of the tetrahedron lead to triangle inequalities between the internal and external momenta, for instance,

$$|q_{12} - q_{31}| < k_1 < q_{12} + q_{31}.$$
(A.81)

However, while (A.81) and its permutations are certainly necessary conditions, they are not sufficient. There is one further condition which must be satisfied: the volume V of the tetrahedron must be positive,

$$288V^{2} = \begin{vmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & k_{1}^{2} & k_{2}^{2} & k_{3}^{2} \\ 1 & k_{1}^{2} & 0 & q_{12}^{2} & q_{31}^{2} \\ 1 & k_{2}^{2} & q_{12}^{2} & 0 & q_{23}^{2} \\ 1 & k_{3}^{2} & q_{31}^{2} & q_{23}^{2} & 0 \end{vmatrix} \ge 0,$$
(A.82)

where this bound is saturated only for degenerate tetrahedra (for which all four faces lie in the same plane). Taken together, (A.82) and (A.81) (together with its permutations) are a necessary and sufficient condition³⁰ for the lengths $\{q_{12}, q_{23}, q_{31}\}$ to form a tetrahedron with triangular base $\{k_1, k_2, k_3\}$ as shown in 9, and they therefore define the domain of loop integration. Note that (A.82) is generally a fourth order polynomial in any single q_{ab} , and so this condition defines a rather involved integration boundary. The only situation in which this nested square root simplifies are the degenerate cases with either $k_3 = 0$ or when $k_1 = k_2 = 0$.

Concretely, we can orient one co-ordinate axis along \mathbf{k}_1 and adopt the same polar parametrisation for \mathbf{q}_{12} and \mathbf{q}_{31} as in the two-vertex case, namely,

$$\mathbf{q}_{12} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{p} \right), \quad \mathbf{q}_{31} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbf{k}_1 - \mathbf{p} \right),$$
 (A.83)

³⁰Note that an equivalent condition is that the areas of the four tetrahedral faces obey $A_1 + A_2 + A_3 > A_4$ for all four distinct permutations of $\{1, 2, 3, 4\}$, which is the direct analogue of the triangle inequalities. The face areas are related to their side lengths $\{a, b, c\}$ by the Cayley-Menger determinant analogous to (A.82), $16A^2 = (a + b + c)(-a + b + c)(a - b + c)(a + b - c).$

with $\mathbf{p} = (q_+ \cos \vartheta, \sqrt{q_+^2 - k_1^2} \sin \vartheta \, \hat{\mathbf{p}}_{d-1})$, where now,

$$q_{+} = q_{12} + q_{31}, \quad k_1 \cos \vartheta = q_{12} - q_{31}, \quad (A.84)$$

and we will often also write $q_{-} = q_{12} - q_{31}$. Momentum conservation then fixes the third internal momentum as,

$$\mathbf{q}_{23} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathbf{p} + \mathbf{k}_1 + 2\mathbf{k}_2 \right) .$$
 (A.85)

If we then adopt the an analogous polar parametrisation of this external momenta,

$$\mathbf{k}_1 + 2\mathbf{k}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} k' \cos \chi \\ k' \sin \chi \hat{\mathbf{k}}_{d-1}' \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (A.86)$$

we see that the only angular component of $\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{d-1}$ on which our integrand can depend is,

$$\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{d-1} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{k}}_{d-1}' = \cos \varphi \,. \tag{A.87}$$

So overall, integrating over the undetermined loop momenta corresponds to integration over $\{q_+, \vartheta, \varphi\}$ and the remaining d-3 angular variables in $\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{d-1}$ on which the integrand does not depend.

In practice, this allows us to write the loop integration as,

$$\int \frac{d^{a}\mathbf{p}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \mathcal{I}(\Omega_{q_{31}}, \Omega_{q_{12}}, \Omega_{q_{23}}) = \frac{S_{d-3}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \int_{k_{1}}^{\infty} dq_{+} \int_{-1}^{+1} \frac{d\cos\vartheta}{2} \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\varphi \, q_{12}^{d-2} q_{31} \mathcal{I}(\Omega_{q_{31}}, \Omega_{q_{12}}, \Omega_{q_{23}}) \Big|_{q_{12} = \frac{1}{2}(q_{+} + k_{1}\cos\vartheta)}, \quad (A.88)$$

$$q_{31} = \frac{1}{2}(q_{+} - k_{1}\cos\vartheta)$$

$$q_{23} = \bar{q}_{23}(q_{+}, \vartheta, \varphi)$$

where,

$$\bar{q}_{23}(q_+,\vartheta,\varphi) = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{q_+^2 + k'^2 - k^2\sin^2\vartheta + 2q_+k'\cos\chi\cos\psi + 2k'\sqrt{q_+^2 - k^2}\sin\chi\sin\vartheta\cos\varphi}.$$
(A.89)

Since $\sin \vartheta = \sqrt{1 - \cos^2 \vartheta}$, (A.89) represents a nested square root: this generally leads to elliptic functions from integrals of the form (A.88).

In lower dimensions, d < 3, we must instead integrate over only degenerate tetrahedra (confined to a plane in d = 2 or a line in d = 1), which can be parameterised by using $\{q_+, \vartheta\}$ or simply $\{q_{12}\}$.

A.4.2 Reducing the complexity

Consider the correction to $\psi_3^{1-\text{loop}}$ from a loop with three internal lines, which is given by, $\omega_{123}\psi_3^{1-\text{loop}} =$

$$\int_{\mathbf{p}} \frac{1}{(\omega_1 + \Omega_{q_{12}} + \Omega_{q_{31}})(\omega_2 + \Omega_{q_{12}} + \Omega_{q_{23}})(\omega_3 + \Omega_{q_{23}} + \Omega_{q_{31}})} \sum_{\text{perm.}}^{6} \frac{1}{(\omega_{123} + 2\Omega_{q_{12}})(\omega_{23} + \Omega_{q_{12}} + \Omega_{q_{31}})}$$
(A.90)

Transforming to the $\{q_+, \vartheta, \varphi\}$ variables described above, a naïve counting of the number of integrals and the number of square roots which cannot be removed from the integrand gives $(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{G}) = (3, 4)$. In more detail, we count \mathcal{G} as follows.

- There is one square root for each of the internal lines $(\Omega_{q_a} = \sqrt{q_a^2 + M_a^2})$ assuming the masses are unequal,
- Changing variables from φ to $\cos \varphi$ introduces a square-root from the $\sqrt{1 \cos^2 \varphi}$ Jacobian,
- There are three square roots inside \bar{q}_{23} (from $\sin \vartheta = \sqrt{1 \cos^2 \vartheta}$, $\sqrt{q_+^2 k^2}$ and the overall square root).
- There is the freedom to perform an Euler substitution in each of the integration variables, which can remove three of these square roots.

It seems that very little is known about special functions with $(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{G}) = (3, 4)$. So rather than analyse this integral any further, we will look for limits which reduce this complexity.

Massless limit. In the massless limit,

$$\omega_{123}\psi_{3}^{1\text{-loop}} = \int_{\mathbf{p}} \frac{1}{(\omega_{1} + q_{12} + q_{31})(\omega_{2} + q_{12} + q_{23})(\omega_{3} + q_{23} + q_{31})} \sum_{\text{perm.}}^{6} \frac{1}{(\omega_{123} + 2q_{12})(\omega_{23} + q_{12} + q_{31})} \cdot$$
(A.91)

Focusing on just one of these permutations, partial fractions can be used to linearise the denominator in one of the internal momenta, say q_{23} . Schematically, this produces integrals of the form,

$$\int_{k}^{\infty} dq_{+} \int_{-1}^{+1} d\cos\vartheta \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\phi \frac{R(q_{+},\cos\vartheta)}{\bar{q}_{23}(q_{+},\vartheta,\varphi) + q_{+} + k_{1}\cos\vartheta + \omega_{2}}$$
$$= \int_{k}^{\infty} dq_{+} \int_{-1}^{+1} d\cos\vartheta R(q_{+},\cos\vartheta) \Pi \left(q_{+} + k_{1}\cos\vartheta, \bar{p}_{23}(q_{+},\vartheta,0), \bar{p}_{23}(q_{+},\vartheta,\pi)\right), \quad (A.92)$$

where R(x, y) represents a rational function of $\{x, y\}$ and $\Pi(x, y, z)$ represents a combination of elliptic integrals whose arguments are rational functions of $\{x, y, z\}$ (note that a rational dependence on the external $\{\omega_a\}$ is implicit in both of these functions). Performing the remaining two integrals will produce special functions with $(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{G}) = (3, 1)$.

Soft limit. Note that if we further take one of the external edges to be soft, e.g. $k_3 \to 0$, then integration variables can be chosen so that the integrand no longer depends on φ . This leads to an integral with $(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{G}) = (2, 0)$, which is the same complexity as the massless $\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}$ integral computed in (A.71) above. We will focus on this limit, in which all three external lines are massless and one external line carries zero spatial momentum, for the remainder of the subsection, since in this case we are able to give closed form expressions for $\psi_3^{1-\text{loop}}$ using (at most) dilogarithms.

A.4.3 Soft limit

Taking the soft limit $k_3 \to 0$ removes the need to integrate over φ , since the tetrahedron of momenta degenerates into a triangle and we can proceed as in the two-edge case of section A.3. Explicitly, there is now only one independent external momenta which we write as $\mathbf{k}_1 = -\mathbf{k}_2 = \mathbf{k}$, and the three internal momenta are now constrained by,

$$\mathbf{q}_{23} = \mathbf{q}_{31}, \ \mathbf{q}_{12} - \mathbf{q}_{31} = \mathbf{k}.$$
 (A.93)

This limit therefore lowers both the transcendentality and the genus of the loop integral, which can be written in terms of $q_{\pm} = q_{12} \pm q_{31}$,

$$\omega_{123}\psi_{3}^{1\text{-loop}} = \int_{\mathbf{p}} \frac{1}{(\omega_{1}+q_{+})(\omega_{2}+q_{+})(\omega_{3}+q_{+}-q_{-})} \left\{ \frac{1}{\omega_{123}+q_{+}+q_{-}} \left(\frac{1}{\omega_{13}+q_{+}} + \frac{1}{\omega_{23}+q_{+}} + \frac{1}{\omega_{12}+q_{+}-q_{-}} \right) + \frac{1}{\omega_{123}+q_{+}-q_{-}} \left(\frac{1}{\omega_{13}+q_{+}} + \frac{1}{\omega_{23}+q_{+}} + \frac{2}{\omega_{12}+q_{+}-q_{-}} \right) \right\}.$$
(A.94)

To express (A.94) compactly, it will be useful to generalise (A.39) to an arbitrary number of factors in the denominator, defining

$$\mathcal{I}(A; B_1, \dots, B_n) = \int_1^\infty d\hat{q}_+ \int_{-1}^{+1} d\hat{q}_- \frac{\hat{q}_+^2 - \hat{q}_-^2}{(\hat{q}_+ + \hat{q}_- + A)\prod_{j=1}^n (\hat{q}_+ + B_j)}.$$
 (A.95)

Using partial fractions, integrals of this kind can be written in terms of the two master integrals (A.36) of section A.3,

$$\mathcal{I}(A; B_1, \dots, B_n) = \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{A(A - 2B_j)}{\prod_{i \neq j} (B_j - B_i)} \mathcal{J}_1(A; B_j) + \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{B_j - A}{\prod_{i \neq j} (B_j - B_i)} \mathcal{J}_1(B_j), \quad (A.97)$$

where in the massless limit the \mathcal{J}_1 are given in (A.66) in terms of logs and dilogs. Note that the apparent poles when two of the B_j coincide are spurious — the only branch points are at each $B_j = -1$ and at A = 0 or A = -2.

In terms of these (A.97) integrals, the three-point coefficient (A.94) is given by,

$$\begin{split} \omega_{123}\psi_{3}^{1\text{-loop}} &= \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{I}\left(\omega_{3};\omega_{1},\omega_{2},\omega_{13},\omega_{3}+\frac{\omega_{12}}{2}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{I}\left(\omega_{123};\omega_{1},\omega_{2},\omega_{13},\omega_{3}+\frac{\omega_{12}}{2}\right) \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{I}\left(\omega_{3};\omega_{1},\omega_{2},\omega_{23},\omega_{3}+\frac{\omega_{12}}{2}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{I}\left(\omega_{123};\omega_{1},\omega_{2},\omega_{23},\omega_{3}+\frac{\omega_{12}}{2}\right) \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{\omega_{12}}\mathcal{I}\left(\omega_{3};\omega_{1},\omega_{2},\omega_{13}\right) - \frac{1}{\omega_{12}}\mathcal{I}\left(\omega_{123};\omega_{1},\omega_{2},\omega_{13}\right) \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{\omega_{12}}\mathcal{I}\left(\omega_{3};\omega_{1},\omega_{2},\omega_{23}\right) - \frac{1}{\omega_{12}}\mathcal{I}\left(\omega_{123};\omega_{1},\omega_{2},\omega_{23}\right) \\ &\quad + \frac{2\mathcal{I}\left(\omega_{3};\omega_{1},\omega_{2}\right)}{\omega_{12}(\omega_{12}-\omega_{3})} + \frac{2\mathcal{I}\left(\omega_{123};\omega_{1},\omega_{2}\right)}{\omega_{3}\omega_{12}} - \frac{2\mathcal{I}\left(\omega_{12};\omega_{1},\omega_{2}\right)}{\omega_{3}(\omega_{12}-\omega_{3})}. \end{split}$$

The apparent poles at $\omega_{12} = 0$, $\omega_1 = 0$ and $\omega_2 = 0$ are all spurious. Only some of the branch points have non-zero residues. In the complex ω_1 plane (at fixed ω_2, ω_3), there are four physical singularities,

- (i) $\hat{\omega}_1 = -1$,
- (ii) $\omega_{12} = 0$,
- (iii) $\hat{\omega}_{13} = -1$,

(iv)
$$\omega_{123} = 0$$
,

which agree with the energy-conservation condition of section 2.3. There are three spurious branch points,

- (v) $\hat{\omega}_{12} = -2$. This singularity is spurious since the only term with a possible branch point there is the $\mathcal{I}(\omega_{12}; \omega_1, \omega_2)$, but this is precisely the $\psi_2^{1-\text{loop}}(\omega_1, \omega_2, k)$ integral analysed above.
- (vi) $\hat{\omega}_{123} = -2$. This branch point occurs in every term separately, but cancels out of the total sum.
- (vii) $\hat{\omega}_3 + \frac{\hat{\omega}_{12}}{2} = -1$. It is only the first line of (A.94) that could contain such a branch point, and when we compare the prefactors in (A.97) (in particular the $1/(B_j B_i)$ product), we find that they are proportional to,

$$\frac{1}{(\omega_3 + \frac{\omega_{12}}{2}) - \omega_{13}} + \frac{1}{(\omega_3 + \frac{\omega_{12}}{2}) - \omega_{23}} = 0, \qquad (A.99)$$

and consequently the branch point at $\omega_3 + \omega_{12}/2$ has zero residue and is spurious.

The complex ω_2 plane is analogous, since (A.98) is symmetric in $\omega_1 \leftrightarrow \omega_2$. In the complex ω_3 plane (at fixed ω_1, ω_2), there are five physical singularities,

- (i) $\omega_3 = 0$,
- (ii) $\hat{\omega}_3 = -2$,
- (iii) $\hat{\omega}_{13} = -1$,
- (iv) $\hat{\omega}_{23} = -1$,
- (v) $\omega_{123} = 0$,

which again agree with the energy-conservation condition of section 2.3. There are two spurious branch points, at $\hat{\omega}_{123} = -2$ and $\hat{\omega}_3 + \frac{\hat{\omega}_{12}}{2} = -1$, which have vanishing residue for the reasons described above.

B Feynman rules for the on- and off-shell wavefunction

In this appendix, for completeness we briefly review the Feynman rules to compute the Minkowski on- and off-shell wavefunction at time t = 0. We never actually use these rules in the paper because the handy recursion relations of [112] already give us the desired results.

- For a desired *n*-point off-shell wavefunction coefficient $\psi_n(\omega_a)$ draw a connected diagram with V vertices, I internal lines, and n external lines going from a vertex to the spatial hypersurface at time t = 0. It is conventional to represent time as running vertically from the infinite past at the bottom to t = 0 at the top.
- The *n* external lines have ingoing spatial momenta \mathbf{k}_a with a = 1, ..., n, which is then conserved at every vertex.
- External lines are associated to bulk-boundary propagators K_{ω_a} satisfying the boundary conditions

$$\lim_{\eta \to \eta_0} K_{\omega_a}(\eta, \eta_0) = 1, \qquad \qquad \lim_{\eta \to -\infty(1-i\epsilon)} K_{\omega_a}(\eta, \eta_0) = 0. \tag{B.1}$$

In the on-shell case (where $\omega_a = \Omega_{k_a}$) the bulk-to-boundary propagators also obeys the equations of motion of the free theory,

$$(\partial_t^2 + k^2 + m^2) K_{\Omega_k}(t) = 0 . (B.2)$$

The appropriate solution for a mode with momentum ${\bf k}$ and mass m is then

On-shell propagator:
$$K_{\Omega_k}(t) = e^{i\Omega_k t}$$
, (B.3)

with $\Omega_k = \sqrt{k^2 + m^2}$. To obtain the off-shell wavefunction coefficient we analytically extend the bulk-to-boundary propagator to be a function of the frequency ω_a :

Off-shell propagator: $K_{\omega_a}(t) = e^{i\omega_a t}$. (B.4)

- The *I* internal lines carry spatial momenta \mathbf{p}_i with i = 1, ..., I, which is fixed by momentum conservation at each vertex (up to running loop momenta). There can be a number *L* of loop momenta that should be integrated over.
- Internal lines are associated with bulk-bulk propagators G_{p_i} satisfying the equations of motion with (minus) a delta source and the boundary conditions:

$$(\partial_t^2 + \mathbf{p}_i^2 + m^2) G_{p_i}(t_1, t_2) = -\delta(t_1 - t_2), \quad \lim_{\eta \to \eta_0} G_{p_i}(\eta, \eta') = 0, \quad \lim_{\eta \to -\infty(1 - i\epsilon)} G_{p_i}(\eta, \eta') = 0.$$
(B.5)

The resulting expression for a propagator connecting vertices at times t_1 and t_2 is

$$G_p(t_1, t_2) = -i \frac{e^{i\Omega_p t_2}}{\Omega_p} \sin(\Omega_p t_1) \theta(t_1 - t_2) + (t_1 \leftrightarrow t_2) .$$
 (B.6)

Notice that for both the on- and off-shell wavefunctions the bulk-bulk propagator G is always on-shell.

• For each vertex at time t_A , with A = 1, ..., V, one should integrate in dt_A over the range

$$-\infty(1-i\epsilon) < t_A \le 0. \tag{B.7}$$

For polynomial interactions such as $\mathcal{H}_{int} = \lambda \Phi^n / (n!)$, one should add a factor $i\lambda$.

C A non-perturbative definition of the off-shell wavefunction

In this appendix we provide a pedagogical discussion and derivation of the non-perturbative definition of wavefunction coefficients given in (2.28). The argument essentially proceeds by analogy with how the off-shell scattering amplitude is defined using the time-ordered Green's function, a connection which we will now briefly review.

Off-shell amplitudes. The starting point for defining an off-shell extension of the scattering amplitude is the (time-ordered) Green's function,

$$\langle \Omega_{\text{out}} | T \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_1}(t_1) \dots \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_n}(t_n) | \Omega_{\text{in}} \rangle,$$
 (C.1)

where $|\Omega_{in}\rangle$ and $|\Omega_{out}\rangle$ are the states in the interacting theory which coincide with the vacuum in the asymptotic past/future. This object can be computed in perturbation theory in the usual way, for instance via a diagrammatic expansion of the corresponding path integral, where each edge corresponds to the Wick contraction,

$$\langle \Omega_{\text{out}} | T \,\hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t) \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}'}(t') | \Omega_{\text{in}} \rangle = G_{\mathbf{k}}^F(t,t') \,\delta_D^{(3)}(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}'), \tag{C.2}$$

where $G_{\mathbf{k}}^{F}(t, t')$ is the Feynman propagator.

This correlator (C.1) is related to an *S*-matrix element by the LSZ reduction procedure, pedagogical accounts of which can be found in most introductory QFT textbooks. There are two steps to this procedure,

(i) Amputate the external legs. This amounts to replacing each $\hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t)$ with its classical equation of motion, $\mathcal{E}\hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t)$, since this replaces the external propagators with δ functions,

$$\mathcal{E}G_{\mathbf{k}}(t,t') = i\left(\partial_t^2 + k^2 + m^2\right)G_{\mathbf{k}}(t,t') = \delta_D^{(1)}(t-t').$$
(C.3)

(ii) Put the external momenta on-shell. This amounts to transforming to the frequency domain and then setting $\omega_a = \pm \sqrt{k_a^2 + m_a^2}$ for each ingoing/outgoing particle.

Concretely, if we write the amputated Green's function in the frequency domain as,

$$\left| \prod_{j=1}^{n} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dt_{j} e^{i\omega_{j}t_{j}} \mathcal{E}_{j} \right| \langle \Omega_{\text{out}} | T \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t_{1}) \dots \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_{n}}(t_{n}) | \Omega_{\text{in}} \rangle = \mathcal{S}_{n} \left(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\} \right) \delta_{D}^{(3)} \left(\mathbf{k}_{1} + \dots + \mathbf{k}_{n} \right),$$
(C.4)

then LSZ reduction corresponds to the statement that S_n becomes an *n*-particle scattering amplitude when each ω is put on-shell.

To illustrate this, consider the simple interaction, $\mathcal{L}_{int} = \frac{\lambda}{4!} \Phi^4$. The corresponding four-point Green's function is,

$$\langle \Omega_{\text{out}} | T \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_1}(t_1) \dots \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_4}(t_4) | \Omega_{\text{in}} \rangle = \left[\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dt \prod_{j=1}^4 G_{\mathbf{k}_j}^F(t-t_j) \right] \, \delta_D^{(d)} \left(\mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{k}_3 + \mathbf{k}_4 \right) \,. \tag{C.5}$$

The amputated Green's function in the time domain is therefore,

$$\left[\prod_{j=1}^{4} \mathcal{E}_{j}\right] \langle \Omega_{\text{out}} | T \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}(t_{1}) \dots \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}(t_{4}) | \Omega_{\text{in}} \rangle = \lambda \left[\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dt \prod_{j=1}^{4} \delta(t-t_{j}) \right] \delta_{D}^{(d)}(\mathbf{k}_{1}+\mathbf{k}_{2}+\mathbf{k}_{3}+\mathbf{k}_{4}) ,$$
(C.6)

and so transforming to frequency space gives,

$$\mathcal{S}_4\left(\{\omega\},\{\mathbf{k}\}\right) = \lambda \left[\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dt \prod_{j=1}^4 e^{i\omega_j t}\right] = \lambda \,\delta_D^{(1)}\left(\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \omega_3 + \omega_4\right)\,. \tag{C.7}$$

The physical (on-shell) S-matrix is then obtained by fixing each of the energies as $\omega_a = \pm \sqrt{k_a^2 + m_a^2}$.

In general, the off-shell S_n can be computed in perturbation theory via a diagrammatic expansion in which internal edges correspond to $G_{\mathbf{k}}^F$ propagators and external edges correspond to factors of $e^{i\omega_a t}$ (which are the amputated propagators written in frequency space). Schematically, each diagram then contributes to S_n via an integral of the form,

$$\mathcal{S}_n(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) = \left[\prod_{v=1}^V \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dt_v e^{i\omega_v t_v}\right] \left[\prod_{\ell=1}^L \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{p}_\ell}{(2\pi)^d}\right] \prod_{i=1}^I G_i^F(\{\mathbf{k}\}, \{\mathbf{p}\}), \qquad (C.8)$$

where ω_a is the total energy flowing into each of the V vertices, and G_i^F are the Feynman propagators for each of the I internal lines, which (once 3-momentum conservation is imposed at each vertex) depend only on the external momenta **k** and L loop momenta **p**.

Off-shell wavefunction coefficients. In section 2.2, we defined the off-shell wavefunction coefficients perturbatively via a very similar set of Feynman rules: they are given by a diagrammatic expansion in which each internal line corresponds to a factor of the bulk-tobulk propagator $G_{\mathbf{k}}$ and each external line corresponds to a factor of $e^{i\omega_a t}$. Schematically, each diagram then contributes to ψ_n an integral of the form,

$$\psi(\{\omega\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}) = \left[\prod_{v=1}^{V} \int_{-\infty}^{0} dt_v e^{i\omega_v t_v}\right] \left[\prod_{\ell=1}^{L} \int \frac{d^3 \mathbf{p}_\ell}{(2\pi)^d}\right] \prod_{i=1}^{I} G_i(\{\mathbf{k}\}, \{\mathbf{p}\}), \quad (C.9)$$

where ω_a is the total energy flowing into each of the V vertices, and G_i are the bulk-to-bulk propagators for each of the I internal lines, which (once 3-momentum conservation is imposed at each vertex) depend only on the external momenta **k** and L loop momenta **p**. Comparing with (C.8), we see that this perturbative definition of ψ_n is almost identical to the perturbative definition of an off-shell scattering amplitude. The only differences are,

- the domain of the time integration is $-\infty < t < 0$ (rather than $-\infty < t < +\infty$),
- the use of bulk-to-bulk propagators (rather than Feynman propagators).

To implement these differences, we consider the modified Green's function,

$$\langle \phi(t=0) = 0 | T \Phi_{\mathbf{k}_1}(t_1) \dots \Phi_{\mathbf{k}_n}(t_n) | \Omega_{\mathrm{in}} \rangle, \qquad (C.10)$$

where each t_a argument is restricted to lie in the range $-\infty < t < 0$. This differs from (C.1) in that $|\Omega_{\text{out}}\rangle$ at $t \to +\infty$ has been replaced by the zero-field eigenstate at $t \to 0$. This effectively changes the Feynman rules, so that in the perturbative expansion of (C.10) each edge corresponds to a factor of,

$$\langle \phi(t=0) = 0 | T \Phi_{\mathbf{k}}(t) \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}'}(t') | \Omega_{\rm in} \rangle = G_{\mathbf{k}}(t,t') \,\delta_D^{(3)}\left(\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{k}'\right) \,, \tag{C.11}$$

where $G_{\mathbf{k}}(t, t')$ is the bulk-to-bulk propagator introduced in the main text (and which differs from G_k^F by a particular boundary term due to the different bra boundary condition). It also changes the range of t over which interaction vertices should be inserted, since now the corresponding path integral is defined using the finite-time action $S_{t=0}[\phi]$ described in section 2.1 above.

These difference aside, we can then proceed by analogy with the usual LSZ procedure and define the amputated Green's function in the frequency domain using (2.28). To illustrate this, consider again the simple interaction, $\mathcal{L}_{int} = \frac{\lambda}{4!} \Phi^4$. The corresponding four-point Green's function is,

$$\langle \phi(0) = 0 | T \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}(t_{1}) \dots \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}(t_{4}) | \Omega_{\mathrm{in}} \rangle = \left[\int_{-\infty}^{0} dt \prod_{j=1}^{4} G_{\mathbf{k}_{j}}(t-t_{j}) \right] \delta_{D}^{(d)} \left(\mathbf{k}_{1} + \mathbf{k}_{2} + \mathbf{k}_{3} + \mathbf{k}_{4}\right) ,$$
(C.12)

and the amputated Green's function is therefore,

$$\left[\prod_{j=1}^{4} \mathcal{E}_{j}\right] \langle \phi(0) = 0 | T \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}(t_{1}) \dots \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}_{4}}(t_{4}) | \Omega_{\mathrm{in}} \rangle = \lambda \left[\int_{-\infty}^{0} dt \prod_{j=1}^{4} \delta(t-t_{j}) \right] \delta_{D}^{(d)} \left(\mathbf{k}_{1} + \mathbf{k}_{2} + \mathbf{k}_{3} + \mathbf{k}_{4}\right),$$
(C.13)

since $G_{\mathbf{k}}(t, t')$ also satisfies (C.3). Transforming to frequency space then gives,

$$\psi_4\left(\{\omega\},\{\mathbf{k}\}\right) = \lambda \left[\int_{-\infty}^0 dt \,\prod_{j=1}^4 e^{i\omega_j t}\right] = \frac{\lambda}{i(\omega_1 + \omega_2 + \omega_3 + \omega_4)}\,,\tag{C.14}$$

which indeed agrees with our perturbative tree-level result in the main text. For general interactions, it is not difficult to show that each diagram produces precisely the integral (C.9) considered in the main text, so in that sense (2.28) is the non-perturbative completion of this diagrammatic series.

Going on-shell. One benefit of the non-perturbative definition (2.28) is that it shows how our ψ_n reduce to the usual wavefunction coefficients in the on-shell limit, $\omega_a \to \Omega_{k_a}$. This follows almost immediately from the following observation:

$$e^{i\Omega_k t} \mathcal{E}\hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t) = \partial_t \left[e^{i\Omega_k t} \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_t \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t) \right] .$$
(C.15)

This allows the time integrals to be performed exactly, each giving boundary contributions at t = 0 and $t = -\infty$. These boundary terms can then be written as,

$$\langle \phi(0) = 0 | \lim_{t \to 0} e^{i\Omega_{k}t} \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{t} \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t) = \langle \phi(0) = 0 | \hat{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}}(0) ,$$
$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} e^{i\Omega_{k}t} \overleftrightarrow{\partial}_{t} \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t) | \Omega_{\mathrm{in}} \rangle \propto \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}} | \Omega_{\mathrm{in}} \rangle = 0 , \qquad (C.16)$$

where $\hat{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t) = \partial_t \hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t)$ is the momentum conjugate to $\Phi(t)$ in the free theory, and we have used the usual decomposition $\hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}(t) \propto e^{-i\Omega_k t} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}} + e^{+i\Omega_k t} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}$ of the field into annihilation and creation operators in the asymptotic past. Performing this rewriting for each of the fields in (2.28) gives,³¹

$$\psi_n\left(\{\Omega_k\}, \{\mathbf{k}\}\right) = \langle \phi(0) = 0 | i \hat{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_1}(0) \dots i \hat{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}_n}(0) | \Omega_{\mathrm{in}} \rangle$$
$$= \frac{\delta}{\delta \phi_{\mathbf{k}_1}} \dots \frac{\delta}{\delta \phi_{\mathbf{k}_n}} \ln \Psi_0[\phi] \Big|_{\phi=0}, \qquad (C.17)$$

where $\Psi_0[\phi] \propto \langle \phi(0) | \Omega_{\rm in} \rangle$ is the usual equal-time wavefunction at t = 0.

In summary, we have shown that the matrix element (2.28) indeed coincides with our perturbative definition of the off-shell wavefunction coefficients, and moreover in the on-shell limit it matches the usual definition of the wavefunction coefficients. Although our analysis in the main text has focused on the analyticity of ψ_n in perturbation theory, the non-perturbative representation (2.28) will be a useful starting point for future investigations of the analytic structure of the wavefunction beyond perturbation theory.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. SCOAP³ supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

References

- R.J. Eden, P.V. Landshoff, D.I. Olive and J.C. Polkinghorne, *The analytic S-matrix*, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge (1966) [INSPIRE].
- [2] A. Martin, Scattering Theory: Unitarity, Analyticity and Crossing, Springer Berlin Heidelberg (1969) [DOI:10.1007/bfb0101043].
- [3] H. Elvang and Y.-T. Huang, Scattering Amplitudes in Gauge Theory and Gravity, Cambridge University Press (2015) [INSPIRE].
- [4] P. Benincasa, New structures in scattering amplitudes: a review, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 29 (2014) 1430005 [arXiv:1312.5583] [INSPIRE].
- C. Cheung, TASI Lectures on Scattering Amplitudes, in Proceedings, Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: Anticipating the Next Discoveries in Particle Physics (TASI 2016): Boulder, CO, U.S.A., R. Essig and I. Low eds., World Scientific (2018), p. 571–623 [DOI:10.1142/9789813233348_0008] [arXiv:1708.03872] [INSPIRE].
- [6] ATLAS collaboration, Observation of a new particle in the search for the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 716 (2012) 1 [arXiv:1207.7214] [INSPIRE].

³¹In writing (C.17) we have assumed that no two \mathbf{k}_a coincide, so that $[\hat{\Phi}_{\mathbf{k}}, \hat{\Pi}_{\mathbf{k}'}] = 0$ for every pair of operators. When two \mathbf{k}_a coincide, there can be additional disconnected contributions to (2.28). In that case, one could have instead used the connected Green's function in (2.28) and arrived at (2.28) for the connected part of the wavefunction coefficient.

- [7] CMS collaboration, Observation of a New Boson at a Mass of 125 GeV with the CMS Experiment at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 716 (2012) 30 [arXiv:1207.7235] [INSPIRE].
- [8] CMS collaboration, Observation of a New Boson with Mass Near 125 GeV in pp Collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ and 8 TeV, JHEP 06 (2013) 081 [arXiv:1303.4571] [INSPIRE].
- [9] I. Brivio and M. Trott, The Standard Model as an Effective Field Theory, Phys. Rept. 793 (2019) 1 [arXiv:1706.08945] [INSPIRE].
- [10] C. Zhang and S.-Y. Zhou, Positivity bounds on vector boson scattering at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 095003 [arXiv:1808.00010] [INSPIRE].
- [11] Q. Bi, C. Zhang and S.-Y. Zhou, Positivity constraints on aQGC: carving out the physical parameter space, JHEP 06 (2019) 137 [arXiv:1902.08977] [INSPIRE].
- [12] G.N. Remmen and N.L. Rodd, Consistency of the Standard Model Effective Field Theory, JHEP 12 (2019) 032 [arXiv:1908.09845] [INSPIRE].
- [13] J. Gu, L.-T. Wang and C. Zhang, Unambiguously Testing Positivity at Lepton Colliders, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129 (2022) 011805 [arXiv:2011.03055] [INSPIRE].
- [14] Q. Bonnefoy, E. Gendy and C. Grojean, Positivity bounds on Minimal Flavor Violation, JHEP 04 (2021) 115 [arXiv:2011.12855] [INSPIRE].
- [15] G.N. Remmen and N.L. Rodd, Flavor Constraints from Unitarity and Analyticity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020) 081601 [Erratum ibid. 127 (2021) 149901] [arXiv:2004.02885] [INSPIRE].
- [16] C. Zhang and S.-Y. Zhou, Convex Geometry Perspective on the (Standard Model) Effective Field Theory Space, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020) 201601 [arXiv:2005.03047] [INSPIRE].
- [17] J. Gu and L.-T. Wang, Sum Rules in the Standard Model Effective Field Theory from Helicity Amplitudes, JHEP 03 (2021) 149 [arXiv:2008.07551] [INSPIRE].
- [18] B. Fuks, Y. Liu, C. Zhang and S.-Y. Zhou, Positivity in electron-positron scattering: testing the axiomatic quantum field theory principles and probing the existence of UV states, Chin. Phys. C 45 (2021) 023108 [arXiv:2009.02212] [INSPIRE].
- K. Yamashita, C. Zhang and S.-Y. Zhou, Elastic positivity vs extremal positivity bounds in SMEFT: a case study in transversal electroweak gauge-boson scatterings, JHEP 01 (2021) 095
 [arXiv:2009.04490] [INSPIRE].
- [20] G.N. Remmen and N.L. Rodd, Signs, spin, SMEFT: Sum rules at dimension six, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 036006 [arXiv:2010.04723] [INSPIRE].
- [21] M. Chala and J. Santiago, Positivity bounds in the standard model effective field theory beyond tree level, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) L111901 [arXiv:2110.01624] [INSPIRE].
- [22] X. Li et al., Moments for positivity: using Drell-Yan data to test positivity bounds and reverse-engineer new physics, JHEP 10 (2022) 107 [arXiv:2204.13121] [INSPIRE].
- [23] T.N. Pham and T.N. Truong, Evaluation of the Derivative Quartic Terms of the Meson Chiral Lagrangian From Forward Dispersion Relation, Phys. Rev. D 31 (1985) 3027 [INSPIRE].
- [24] B. Ananthanarayan, D. Toublan and G. Wanders, Consistency of the chiral pion pion scattering amplitudes with axiomatic constraints, Phys. Rev. D 51 (1995) 1093
 [hep-ph/9410302] [INSPIRE].
- [25] M.R. Pennington and J. Portoles, The Chiral Lagrangian parameters, *l*₁, *l*₂, are determined by the rho resonance, Phys. Lett. B 344 (1995) 399 [hep-ph/9409426] [INSPIRE].

- [26] A. Adams et al., Causality, analyticity and an IR obstruction to UV completion, JHEP 10 (2006) 014 [hep-th/0602178] [INSPIRE].
- [27] A. Nicolis, R. Rattazzi and E. Trincherini, *Energy's and amplitudes' positivity*, JHEP 05 (2010) 095 [Erratum ibid. 11 (2011) 128] [arXiv:0912.4258] [INSPIRE].
- [28] B. Bellazzini, Softness and amplitudes' positivity for spinning particles, JHEP 2017 (2017) 34 [arXiv:1605.06111].
- [29] C. de Rham, S. Melville, A.J. Tolley and S.-Y. Zhou, Positivity bounds for scalar field theories, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 081702 [arXiv:1702.06134] [INSPIRE].
- [30] C. de Rham, S. Melville, A.J. Tolley and S.-Y. Zhou, UV complete me: Positivity Bounds for Particles with Spin, JHEP 03 (2018) 011 [arXiv:1706.02712] [INSPIRE].
- [31] B. Bellazzini et al., Positive moments for scattering amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 036006 [arXiv:2011.00037] [INSPIRE].
- [32] A.J. Tolley, Z.-Y. Wang and S.-Y. Zhou, New positivity bounds from full crossing symmetry, JHEP 05 (2021) 255 [arXiv:2011.02400] [INSPIRE].
- [33] S. Caron-Huot and V. Van Duong, Extremal Effective Field Theories, JHEP 05 (2021) 280 [arXiv:2011.02957] [INSPIRE].
- [34] A. Sinha and A. Zahed, Crossing Symmetric Dispersion Relations in Quantum Field Theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 (2021) 181601 [arXiv:2012.04877] [INSPIRE].
- [35] T. Trott, Causality, unitarity and symmetry in effective field theory, JHEP 07 (2021) 143 [arXiv:2011.10058] [INSPIRE].
- [36] X. Li et al., Positivity in Multifield Effective Field Theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 (2021) 121601 [arXiv:2101.01191] [INSPIRE].
- [37] N. Arkani-Hamed, T.-C. Huang and Y.-T. Huang, *The EFT-Hedron*, *JHEP* 05 (2021) 259 [arXiv:2012.15849] [INSPIRE].
- [38] L.-Y. Chiang et al., Into the EFThedron and UV constraints from IR consistency, JHEP 03 (2022) 063 [arXiv:2105.02862] [INSPIRE].
- [39] L.-Y. Chiang, Y.-T. Huang, L. Rodina and H.-C. Weng, *De-projecting the EFThedron*, arXiv:2204.07140 [D0I:10.48550/arXiv.2204.07140].
- [40] J. Davighi, S. Melville and T. You, Natural selection rules: new positivity bounds for massive spinning particles, JHEP 02 (2022) 167 [arXiv:2108.06334] [INSPIRE].
- [41] J. Henriksson, B. McPeak, F. Russo and A. Vichi, *Rigorous bounds on light-by-light scattering*, JHEP 06 (2022) 158 [arXiv:2107.13009] [INSPIRE].
- [42] K. Häring et al., Bounds on photon scattering, arXiv:2211.05795
 [D0I:10.48550/arXiv.2211.05795].
- [43] H. Chen, A.L. Fitzpatrick and D. Karateev, Nonperturbative bounds on scattering of massive scalar particles in $d \ge 2$, JHEP 12 (2022) 092 [arXiv:2207.12448] [INSPIRE].
- [44] R. Jackiw, Schroedinger picture analysis of boson and fermion quantum field theories, in Conference on Mathematical Quantum Field Theory, Montreal Canada, September (1987) [INSPIRE].
- [45] J. Guven, B. Lieberman and C.T. Hill, Schrödinger Picture Field Theory in Robertson-walker Flat Space-times, Phys. Rev. D 39 (1989) 438 [INSPIRE].

- [46] P. Benincasa, Amplitudes meet Cosmology: A (Scalar) Primer, arXiv:2203.15330
 [D0I:10.1142/S0217751X22300101] [INSPIRE].
- [47] J.M. Maldacena, Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models, JHEP 05 (2003) 013 [astro-ph/0210603] [INSPIRE].
- [48] J.M. Maldacena and G.L. Pimentel, On graviton non-Gaussianities during inflation, JHEP 09 (2011) 045 [arXiv:1104.2846] [INSPIRE].
- [49] S. Raju, New Recursion Relations and a Flat Space Limit for AdS/CFT Correlators, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 126009 [arXiv:1201.6449] [INSPIRE].
- [50] S. Raju, Four Point Functions of the Stress Tensor and Conserved Currents in AdS₄/CFT₃, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 126008 [arXiv:1201.6452] [INSPIRE].
- [51] S. Raju, Recursion Relations for AdS/CFT Correlators, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 126002 [arXiv:1102.4724] [INSPIRE].
- [52] I. Mata, S. Raju and S. Trivedi, CMB from CFT, JHEP 07 (2013) 015 [arXiv:1211.5482] [INSPIRE].
- [53] A. Bzowski, P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, Holographic predictions for cosmological 3-point functions, JHEP 03 (2012) 091 [arXiv:1112.1967] [INSPIRE].
- [54] A. Bzowski, P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, Holography for inflation using conformal perturbation theory, JHEP 04 (2013) 047 [arXiv:1211.4550] [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Bzowski, P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, Implications of conformal invariance in momentum space, JHEP 03 (2014) 111 [arXiv:1304.7760] [INSPIRE].
- [56] A. Ghosh, N. Kundu, S. Raju and S.P. Trivedi, Conformal Invariance and the Four Point Scalar Correlator in Slow-Roll Inflation, JHEP 07 (2014) 011 [arXiv:1401.1426] [INSPIRE].
- [57] D. Anninos, T. Anous, D.Z. Freedman and G. Konstantinidis, Late-time Structure of the Bunch-Davies De Sitter Wavefunction, JCAP 11 (2015) 048 [arXiv:1406.5490] [INSPIRE].
- [58] N. Kundu, A. Shukla and S.P. Trivedi, Constraints from Conformal Symmetry on the Three Point Scalar Correlator in Inflation, JHEP 04 (2015) 061 [arXiv:1410.2606] [INSPIRE].
- [59] N. Kundu, A. Shukla and S.P. Trivedi, Ward Identities for Scale and Special Conformal Transformations in Inflation, JHEP 01 (2016) 046 [arXiv:1507.06017] [INSPIRE].
- [60] N. Arkani-Hamed and J. Maldacena, Cosmological Collider Physics, arXiv:1503.08043 [D0I:10.48550/arXiv.1503.08043].
- [61] A. Shukla, S.P. Trivedi and V. Vishal, Symmetry constraints in inflation, α-vacua, and the three point function, JHEP 12 (2016) 102 [arXiv:1607.08636] [INSPIRE].
- [62] N. Arkani-Hamed, D. Baumann, H. Lee and G.L. Pimentel, The Cosmological Bootstrap: Inflationary Correlators from Symmetries and Singularities, JHEP 04 (2020) 105 [arXiv:1811.00024] [INSPIRE].
- [63] D. Green and E. Pajer, On the Symmetries of Cosmological Perturbations, JCAP 09 (2020)
 032 [arXiv:2004.09587] [INSPIRE].
- [64] E. Pajer, Building a Boostless Bootstrap for the Bispectrum, JCAP 01 (2021) 023
 [arXiv:2010.12818] [INSPIRE].
- [65] D. Baumann et al., The cosmological bootstrap: weight-shifting operators and scalar seeds, JHEP 12 (2020) 204 [arXiv:1910.14051] [INSPIRE].

- [66] N. Arkani-Hamed, P. Benincasa and A. Postnikov, Cosmological Polytopes and the Wavefunction of the Universe, arXiv:1709.02813 [DDI:10.48550/arXiv.1709.02813].
- [67] S. Albayrak and S. Kharel, Towards the higher point holographic momentum space amplitudes, JHEP 02 (2019) 040 [arXiv:1810.12459] [INSPIRE].
- [68] S. Albayrak and S. Kharel, Towards the higher point holographic momentum space amplitudes. Part II. Gravitons, JHEP 12 (2019) 135 [arXiv:1908.01835] [INSPIRE].
- [69] H. Goodhew, S. Jazayeri and E. Pajer, The Cosmological Optical Theorem, JCAP 04 (2021) 021 [arXiv:2009.02898] [INSPIRE].
- [70] S. Céspedes, A.-C. Davis and S. Melville, On the time evolution of cosmological correlators, JHEP 02 (2021) 012 [arXiv:2009.07874] [INSPIRE].
- [71] D. Baumann et al., The Cosmological Bootstrap: Spinning Correlators from Symmetries and Factorization, SciPost Phys. 11 (2021) 071 [arXiv:2005.04234] [INSPIRE].
- S. Melville and E. Pajer, Cosmological Cutting Rules, JHEP 05 (2021) 249
 [arXiv:2103.09832] [INSPIRE].
- [73] S. Jazayeri, E. Pajer and D. Stefanyszyn, From locality and unitarity to cosmological correlators, JHEP 10 (2021) 065 [arXiv:2103.08649] [INSPIRE].
- [74] H. Goodhew, S. Jazayeri, M.H. Gordon Lee and E. Pajer, Cutting cosmological correlators, JCAP 08 (2021) 003 [arXiv:2104.06587] [INSPIRE].
- [75] D. Baumann et al., Linking the singularities of cosmological correlators, JHEP 09 (2022) 010 [arXiv:2106.05294] [INSPIRE].
- [76] J. Bonifacio, E. Pajer and D.-G. Wang, From amplitudes to contact cosmological correlators, JHEP 10 (2021) 001 [arXiv:2106.15468] [INSPIRE].
- [77] H. Goodhew, Rational wavefunctions in de Sitter spacetime, JCAP 03 (2023) 036
 [arXiv:2210.09977] [INSPIRE].
- [78] G. Cabass, S. Jazayeri, E. Pajer and D. Stefanyszyn, Parity violation in the scalar trispectrum: no-go theorems and yes-go examples, JHEP 02 (2023) 021 [arXiv:2210.02907]
 [INSPIRE].
- [79] J. Bonifacio et al., The graviton four-point function in de Sitter space, arXiv:2212.07370
 [D0I:10.48550/arXiv.2212.07370].
- [80] A. Bzowski, P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, Conformal n-point functions in momentum space, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 131602 [arXiv:1910.10162] [INSPIRE].
- [81] M. Baumgart and R. Sundrum, De Sitter Diagrammar and the Resummation of Time, JHEP 07 (2020) 119 [arXiv:1912.09502] [INSPIRE].
- [82] V. Gorbenko and L. Senatore, $\lambda \phi^4$ in dS, arXiv:1911.00022 [D0I:10.48550/arXiv.1911.00022].
- [83] M. Mirbabayi, Markovian dynamics in de Sitter, JCAP 09 (2021) 038 [arXiv:2010.06604]
 [INSPIRE].
- [84] T. Cohen and D. Green, Soft de Sitter Effective Theory, JHEP 12 (2020) 041 [arXiv:2007.03693] [INSPIRE].
- [85] D. Green and R.A. Porto, Signals of a Quantum Universe, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 251302 [arXiv:2001.09149] [INSPIRE].

- [86] D. Ghosh, A.H. Singh and F. Ullah, Probing the initial state of inflation: analytical structure of cosmological correlators, JCAP 04 (2023) 007 [arXiv:2207.06430] [INSPIRE].
- [87] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, From AdS to dS exchanges: Spectral representation, Mellin amplitudes, and crossing, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) L081902 [arXiv:2007.09993] [INSPIRE].
- [88] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, On the consistency of (partially-)massless matter couplings in de Sitter space, JHEP 10 (2021) 156 [arXiv:2106.00366] [INSPIRE].
- [89] S. Albayrak, S. Kharel and D. Meltzer, On duality of color and kinematics in (A)dS momentum space, JHEP 03 (2021) 249 [arXiv:2012.10460] [INSPIRE].
- [90] S. Albayrak, C. Chowdhury and S. Kharel, Study of momentum space scalar amplitudes in AdS spacetime, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 124043 [arXiv:2001.06777] [INSPIRE].
- [91] C. Armstrong, A.E. Lipstein and J. Mei, Color/kinematics duality in AdS₄, JHEP 02 (2021) 194 [arXiv:2012.02059] [INSPIRE].
- [92] D. Meltzer, The inflationary wavefunction from analyticity and factorization, JCAP 12 (2021) 018 [arXiv:2107.10266] [INSPIRE].
- [93] M. Hogervorst, J. Penedones and K.S. Vaziri, Towards the non-perturbative cosmological bootstrap, JHEP 02 (2023) 162 [arXiv:2107.13871] [INSPIRE].
- [94] L. Di Pietro, V. Gorbenko and S. Komatsu, Analyticity and unitarity for cosmological correlators, JHEP 03 (2022) 023 [arXiv:2108.01695] [INSPIRE].
- [95] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, From dS to AdS and back, JHEP 12 (2021) 074 [arXiv:2109.02725] [INSPIRE].
- [96] A. Premkumar, Regulating Loops in dS, arXiv:2110.12504
 [D0I:10.48550/arXiv.2110.12504].
- [97] A. Bzowski, P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, A handbook of holographic 4-point functions, JHEP 12 (2022) 039 [arXiv:2207.02872] [INSPIRE].
- [98] B. Pethybridge and V. Schaub, Tensors and spinors in de Sitter space, JHEP 06 (2022) 123
 [arXiv:2111.14899] [INSPIRE].
- [99] D. Green, Y. Huang and C.-H. Shen, Inflationary Adler conditions, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 043534 [arXiv:2208.14544] [INSPIRE].
- [100] G.L. Pimentel and D.-G. Wang, Boostless cosmological collider bootstrap, JHEP 10 (2022) 177 [arXiv:2205.00013] [INSPIRE].
- [101] S. Jazayeri and S. Renaux-Petel, Cosmological bootstrap in slow motion, JHEP 12 (2022) 137 [arXiv:2205.10340] [INSPIRE].
- [102] C. Armstrong et al., Effective field theories and cosmological scattering equations, JHEP 08 (2022) 054 [arXiv:2204.08931] [INSPIRE].
- [103] C. Armstrong et al., New recursion relations for tree-level correlators in anti-de Sitter spacetime, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) L121701 [arXiv:2209.02709].
- [104] C. Armstrong, A. Lipstein and J. Mei, Enhanced soft limits in de Sitter space, JHEP 12 (2022) 064 [arXiv:2210.02285] [INSPIRE].
- [105] M. Mirbabayi and F. Riccardi, Probing de Sitter from the horizon, JHEP 04 (2023) 053 [arXiv:2211.11672] [INSPIRE].

- [106] R.D.L. Kronig, On the theory of dispersion of x'rays, J. Opt. Soc. Am. (1917–1983) 12 (1926) 547.
- [107] H.A. Kramers, The Law of Dispersion and Bohr's Theory of Spectra, Nature 113 (1924) 673
 [INSPIRE].
- [108] M. Gell-Mann, M.L. Goldberger and W.E. Thirring, Use of causality conditions in quantum theory, Phys. Rev. 95 (1954) 1612 [INSPIRE].
- [109] H.J. Bremermann, R. Oehme and J.G. Taylor, Proof of Dispersion Relations in Quantized Field Theories, Phys. Rev. 109 (1958) 2178.
- [110] K. Hepp, On the analyticity properties of the scattering amplitude in relativistic quantum field theory, Helv. Phys. Acta 37 (1964) 639.
- [111] J. Bros, H. Epstein and V. Glaser, Some rigorous analyticity properties of the four-point function in momentum space, Nuovo Cim. 31 (1964) 1265.
- [112] P. Benincasa, Cosmological Polytopes and the Wavefuncton of the Universe for Light States, arXiv:1909.02517 [D0I:10.48550/arXiv.1909.02517].
- [113] M.F. Paulos et al., The S-matrix bootstrap II: two dimensional amplitudes, JHEP 11 (2017) 143 [arXiv:1607.06110] [INSPIRE].
- [114] M.F. Paulos et al., The S-matrix bootstrap. Part III: higher dimensional amplitudes, JHEP 12 (2019) 040 [arXiv:1708.06765] [INSPIRE].
- [115] M. Correia, A. Sever and A. Zhiboedov, An analytical toolkit for the S-matrix bootstrap, JHEP 03 (2021) 013 [arXiv:2006.08221] [INSPIRE].
- [116] A. Hillman and E. Pajer, A differential representation of cosmological wavefunctions, JHEP 04 (2022) 012 [arXiv:2112.01619] [INSPIRE].
- [117] R.E. Cutkosky, Singularities and discontinuities of Feynman amplitudes, J. Math. Phys. 1 (1960) 429 [INSPIRE].
- [118] M.J.G. Veltman, Diagrammatica: The Path to Feynman rules, Cambridge University Press (2012) [INSPIRE].
- [119] G. Hooft and M. Veltman, Diagrammar, in Particle Interactions at Very High Energies, D. Speiser, F. Halzen and J. Weyers, J. eds, Springer US (1974), p. 177–322 [D0I:10.1007/978-1-4684-2826-1_5].
- [120] M.D. Schwartz, Quantum Field Theory and the Standard Model, Cambridge University Press (2014) [INSPIRE].
- [121] S. Albayrak, P. Benincasa and C. Duaso Pueyo, to appear.
- [122] S. Melville and G.L. Pimentel, A de sitter s-matrix for the masses, to appear.
- [123] R. Zwicky, A brief Introduction to Dispersion Relations and Analyticity, in the proceedings of the Quantum Field Theory at the Limits: from Strong Fields to Heavy Quarks, Dubna Russia, July 18-30 (2016), p. 93-120 [DOI:10.3204/DESY-PROC-2016-04/Zwicky] [arXiv:1610.06090] [INSPIRE].
- [124] A. Zhiboedov, Notes on the analytic S-matrix, in the proceeding of GGI Lectures 2022 Firenze Italy, Jan 10–18 (2022).
- [125] N. Arkani-Hamed and P. Benincasa, On the Emergence of Lorentz Invariance and Unitarity from the Scattering Facet of Cosmological Polytopes, arXiv:1811.01125 [INSPIRE].

- [126] T. Kinoshita, Mass singularities of Feynman amplitudes, J. Math. Phys. 3 (1962) 650
 [INSPIRE].
- [127] T.D. Lee and M. Nauenberg, Degenerate Systems and Mass Singularities, Phys. Rev. 133 (1964) B1549.
- T. Grall and S. Melville, Inflation in motion: unitarity constraints in effective field theories with (spontaneously) broken Lorentz symmetry, JCAP 09 (2020) 017 [arXiv:2005.02366]
 [INSPIRE].
- [129] J. Kristiano and J. Yokoyama, Perturbative region on non-Gaussian parameter space in single-field inflation, JCAP 07 (2022) 007 [arXiv:2204.05202] [INSPIRE].
- [130] Z.-Z. Xianyu and H. Zhang, Bootstrapping one-loop inflation correlators with the spectral decomposition, JHEP 04 (2023) 103 [arXiv:2211.03810] [INSPIRE].
- [131] A. Premkumar, Loop effects in de Sitter spacetime, Ph.D. thesis, University of California, San Diego, U.S.A (2022) [INSPIRE].
- [132] S. Melville and J. Noller, Positivity in the Sky: Constraining dark energy and modified gravity from the UV, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 021502 [Erratum ibid. 102 (2020) 049902]
 [arXiv:1904.05874] [INSPIRE].
- [133] S. Kim, T. Noumi, K. Takeuchi and S. Zhou, Heavy Spinning Particles from Signs of Primordial Non-Gaussianities: Beyond the Positivity Bounds, JHEP 12 (2019) 107 [arXiv:1906.11840] [INSPIRE].
- [134] G. Ye and Y.-S. Piao, Positivity in the effective field theory of cosmological perturbations, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 421 [arXiv:1908.08644] [INSPIRE].
- [135] T. Grall and S. Melville, Positivity bounds without boosts: New constraints on low energy effective field theories from the UV, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) L121301 [arXiv:2102.05683]
 [INSPIRE].
- [136] K. Aoki, S. Mukohyama and R. Namba, Positivity vs. Lorentz-violation: an explicit example, JCAP 10 (2021) 079 [arXiv:2107.01755] [INSPIRE].
- [137] C. de Rham, S. Melville and J. Noller, Positivity bounds on dark energy: when matter matters, JCAP 08 (2021) 018 [arXiv:2103.06855] [INSPIRE].
- [138] A.-C. Davis and S. Melville, Scalar fields near compact objects: resummation versus UV completion, JCAP 11 (2021) 012 [arXiv:2107.00010] [INSPIRE].
- [139] S. Melville and J. Noller, Positivity bounds from multiple vacua and their cosmological consequences, JCAP 06 (2022) 031 [arXiv:2202.01222] [INSPIRE].
- [140] M. Freytsis, S. Kumar, G.N. Remmen and N.L. Rodd, Multifield Positivity Bounds for Inflation, arXiv:2210.10791 [INSPIRE].
- [141] P. Creminelli, O. Janssen and L. Senatore, Positivity bounds on effective field theories with spontaneously broken Lorentz invariance, JHEP 09 (2022) 201 [arXiv:2207.14224]
 [INSPIRE].
- [142] L. Hui et al., Soft theorems for boosts and other time symmetries, JHEP 02 (2023) 123
 [arXiv:2210.16276] [INSPIRE].
- [143] A. Martin, Selected topics on analyticity in potential scattering, Nuovo Cim. 21 (1961) 157.
- [144] J.M. Henn, Multiloop integrals in dimensional regularization made simple, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 251601 [arXiv:1304.1806] [INSPIRE].